



SYMLABS VIRTUAL DIRECTORY SERVER User's Reference Manual v.6.0

Copyright 2011

www.symlabs.com

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server[™] is a trademark of Symlabs. DirectoryScript[®] is a registered trademark of Symlabs. DirectoryScript Proxy[™] is a trademark of Symlabs.

Throughout this manual any use of "DirectoryScript" or "DirectoryScript Proxy" or "Symlabs Virtual Directory Server" in any context refers to the corresponding trademarked term.

Other trademarks are property of their respective owners.

While care has been taken in preparation of this book, neither author(s) nor the publisher make express or implied warranty of any kind or assume any responsibility for errors or omissions. No Liability is assumed for incidental or consequential damages in connection with or arising out of the use or inability to use the information, examples, scripts, or programs contained herein.

Publisher

	Symlabs, Inc.		Sym	labs S.A.	Symlabs España S.L.
	One Magnificient Mile)	Rua	da Assuncao 42-10	Avenida Tres
	980 North Michigan A	ve, Suite 1400	1100) Lisboa	Local 6 y 8
	Chicago, IL 60611		POR	TUGAL	28022 Madrid
	USA				SPAIN
Cont	act				
	www.symlabs.com				
	symlabs@symlabs.co	om	gene	eral information	
	bugs@symlabs.com		bug i	reports and feature requests	
	security@symlabs.co	m	repo	rt security related bugs	
Team	1				
	Antonio Navarro	Anastasia Sote	lsek	Rowan Puttergill	
	Emilio Fernandez	Miguel Gomez		Pablo Sanchez	
	Fernando Garcia	Guillermo Lore	nzo	Javier Alonso	

Copyright © 2003-2010 by Symlabs, Inc.

Raul Baz

All Rights Reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form, or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without prior written consent of the publisher. Published simultaneously in United States of America, Portugal, and Spain.

Contents

1	GEN	NERAL INFO	1
	1.1	Who Should Read This Manual	1
	1.2	Conventions Used In This Manual	1
	1.3	Contact Symlabs	2
2	INTE	RODUCTION	3
	2.1	What is Symlabs Virtual Directory Server?	3
		2.1.1 What can you do with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server?	3
	2.2	What is DSGUI?	4
	2.3	How DSGUI works	4
		2.3.1 Local configurations	5
		2.3.2 Remote instance by copying configuration files	5
		2.3.3 Remote instances with the Remote Administration Tool	6
3	FIRS	ST STEPS	8
	3.1	Starting DSGUI	8
		3.1.1 Linux / Solaris / AIX	8
		3.1.2 Windows	8
	3.2	DSGUI main window	8
		3.2.1 The Menu	9
		3.2.2 The Toolbar	12
		3.2.3 The Configuration Selector	13
		3.2.4 The Navigator	13
		3.2.5 The Configuration Panel	14
		3.2.6 The Message Output Area	15
	3.3	Preferences	16
		3.3.1 Environment	16
		3.3.2 Warning	18
		3.3.3 Recent Config	18

		3.3.4	Editing	18
		3.3.5	Running	19
		3.3.6	LDAP Browser Preferences	20
		3.3.7	Admin Server Preferences	22
	3.4	LDAP	Browser	24
		3.4.1	Starting the LDAP Browser	24
		3.4.2	The Internal LDAP Browser	25
	3.5	Gener	ic Attribute Editor	27
		3.5.1	Adding new Attributes or Values	28
		3.5.2	Removing Attributes or Values	28
		3.5.3	Inserting Attributes or Values	29
	001			00
4			RATIONS	30
	4.1			30
		4.1.1	Configuration storage in the Filesystem	31
		4.1.2		31
		4.1.3	Opening a Configuration in DSGUI from the Command Line	32
	4.2		I Parameters	33
		4.2.1	Debug Level for automatic servergroups	33
		4.2.2	Global Paramaters	33
		4.2.3	Running Parameters	35
		4.2.4	SASL	36
		4.2.5	Supervisors	36
	4.3	Health	n Monitoring	38
		4.3.1	How Health Monitoring works	38
		4.3.2	The LDAP Health Monitoring Configuration Panel	38
		4.3.3	The HTTP Health Monitoring Configuration Panel	40
	4.4	The A	dministration Port	41
		4.4.1	Graceful shutdown	42
		4.4.2	Statistics	42
		4.4.3	Controlling Log Levels for live instances	43
		4.4.4	The Administration Port configuration panel	43

_				
5	INPU			45
	5.1		ng a Listener	46
	5.2	Listen	er Configuration	46
		5.2.1	Main Listener Properties	46
		5.2.2	Canonicalization	49
		5.2.3	SSL Parameters	50
		5.2.4	SASL Parameters	52
		5.2.5	SPNEGO Parameters	53
		5.2.6	Stages attached to this Listener	53
		5.2.7	Virtual Tree	55
	5.3	How T	o Use Virtual Trees	56
		5.3.1	Building a tree on a listener	57
		5.3.2	Mount Point Roots	58
		5.3.3	Mount Points and Virtual Entries inside of existing Mount Points	58
		5.3.4	How searches below the root base are treated	58
		5.3.5	How to handle searches on the Root DSE	58
		5.3.6	Dealing with BIND requests	59
		5.3.7	Virtual Tree Sample	59
6		IPUT		62
0	6.1		is a servergroup	62
	6.2		se servergroups	63
	-	-		63
	6.3			
	6.4			64 65
			LDAP and LDAPS Server Groups	65 05
		6.4.2	HTTP and HTTPS Server Groups	65
		6.4.3	List of Servers	66
		6.4.4	SSL Parameters	66
		6.4.5	SASL	68
		6.4.6	Reliability / Performance	69
		6.4.7	Connection Pooling	73
		6.4.8	Session Server Affinity	75
		6.4.9	Health Check	77
		6.4.10	Relational Database Access	77
		6.4.11	ODBC Datasource Sample	84
	6.5	Manua	al Servergroups	85
		6.5.1	Servers tab	85
		6.5.2	Failover and Load Balancing for LDAP and HTTP Server Groups	86
		6.5.3	Parameters for SSL-based Server Groups	87

7	PRC	OCESSING	89
	7.1	Stage Model	89
		7.1.1 Stages	90
		7.1.2 Condition Model	91
	7.2	Types of stages	92
		7.2.1 Automatic Stages	92
		7.2.2 Manual Stages	95
8	PLU	JGINS AND SAMPLES	101
	8.1	Plugin Protocols and Groupings	101
	8.2	Plugin Documentation and Help	102
	8.3	Managing Extensions	103
		8.3.1 Extensions and RAS	104
	8.4	Samples	105
		8.4.1 Sample Data	106
		8.4.2 Working with Samples	107
		8.4.3 Complex Scenario	107
9	RUN	NNING	109
	9.1	How to Start / Stop an Instance	109
		9.1.1 How configurations are started	109
		9.1.2 How configurations are stopped	109
		9.1.3 Running a Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Instance as a Windows Service	110
	9.2	Logging	111
		9.2.1 How logging works	111
		9.2.2 Controlling log levels on-the fly	112
		9.2.3 Managing logging	112
10	REN	MOTE ADMINISTRATION SERVER (RAS)	114
	10.1	1 Overview	114
		10.1.1 Purpose Of RAS	114
		10.1.2 What You Can Do With RAS	115
		10.1.3 How RAS Works	115
	10.2	2 Operation (start / stop)	116
		10.2.1 Using the command line	116
		10.2.2 Using the GUI	116
	10.3	3 Configuration	121
		10.3.1 Main Configuration File	121

10.3.2 Listener SSL Certificates
10.3.3 WRAS Web Pages
10.4 Users & Roles
10.4.1 users.ldif 125
10.4.2 roles.ldif 125
10.5 Auditing
10.6 Log
10.7 DSGUI Interface
10.7.1 How it works
10.7.2 How to configure the GUI to work with a remote administration server
10.7.3 Operation IDs
10.8 Web Remote Administration Server (WRAS)
10.8.1 How it works
10.8.2 Operation IDs
10.8.3 Main Page
10.8.4 Instance Page
10.8.5 Log Display

List of Figures

2.1	DSGUI in a local environment.	5
2.2	DSGUI in a remote environment	6
2.3	Managing remote instances using the Remote Administration facility	7
3.1	DSGUI Main Window	9
3.2	The Menu	9
3.3	The Toolbar	12
3.4	The Configuration Selector	13
3.5	The Navigator	13
3.6	A Generic Entry within the configuration	14
3.7	The Configuration Panel	15
3.8	Message Output Area	15
3.9	Preferences Window	16
3.10	Environment Preferences	18
3.11	Warnings Preferences	19
3.12	Recent Configs Preferences	19
3.13	Running Preferences	20
3.14	LDAP Browser Preferences	21
3.15	RAS Servers List	22
3.16	Remote Admin Selector	22
3.17	LDAP Server Selector Panel	25
3.18	The Internal LDAP Browser	26
3.19	Generic Attribute Editor in View Mode	27
3.20	Generic Attribute Editor in Edit Mode	28
4.1	Configuration Selector	32
4.2	Global Parameters Panel - Global properties	33
4.3	Running Parameters	35
4.4	SASL Parameters	36

LIST OF FIGURES

Symlabs IDENTITY MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS

4.5	Supervisor Parameters	36
4.6	The LDAP Health Monitor Configuration Panel	39
4.7	The HTTP Health Monitor Configuration Panel	40
4.8	The Administration Port Configuration Panel	44
5.1	Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Input	45
5.2	Main Listener Properties	47
5.3	Canonicalization Options	50
5.4	Listener SSL options	50
5.5	Listener SASL Options	52
5.6	Stages attached to this Listener for a Default ServerGroup	53
5.7	Stages attached to this Listener for a Virtual Tree	54
5.8	Virtual Tree Properties	55
5.9	A virtual tree can be constructed to represent an organizational unity.	56
5.10	A virtual tree is attached to a listener and includes a Virtual Entry as well as a number of Mount Points.	57
6.1	Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Output	63
6.2	List of servers configuration tab	66
6.3	SSL Certificates configuration tab	66
6.4	SASL configuration tab	68
6.5	The Servers configuration tab when SASL has been enabled	69
6.6	Reliability / Performance configuration tab	69
6.7	Load Balancing algorithms	71
6.8	Failover algorithms	71
6.9	Multisite algorithm	72
6.10	Connection Pool options	73
6.11	Servergroup specific Session Server Affinity options	76
6.12	LDAP/S Servergroup specific Health Check options	77
6.13	HTTP/S Servergroup specific Health Check options	77
6.14	Database Access Configuration Wizard	78
6.15	Database connection information	79
6.16	Defining a destination mountpoint	79
6.17	Mapping a table	80
6.18	Setting an RDN for the table	80
6.19	Configuration verification	80
6.20	Database Access Configuration	81
6.21	LDAP Info for a Relational Database	82

6.22	List of servers configuration	86
6.23	Fail-over / Load Balancing options	86
6.24	SSL Parameters for a manual servergroup	87
7.1	Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Processing	90
7.2	The Plugin Selector	93
7.3	The condition selector	94
7.4	Debug Level Configuration	95
7.5	The Hook Selector	96
7.6	The Hook Configuration Panel	97
7.7	The Condition Editor	99
7.8	Conditions in the configuration navigator	99
7.9	DirectoryScript Editor Window	100
8.1	The DSGUI Extension Manager	103
9.1	A configuration instance has been added to Windows Services.	111
9.2	Managing logging in the Message Output Area	113
10.1	The RAS Monitor in the System Tray	117
10.2	The RAS Monitor Menu	118
10.3	The RAS Monitor icon changes as the status changes to stopped.	118
10.4	The General Configuration panel for RAS Administration.	119
10.5	The Auth Configuration panel for RAS Administration.	120
10.6	The Debug Configuration panel for RAS Administration.	121
10.7	The Audit Configuration panel for RAS Administration.	122
10.8	Instances can be managed using the WRAS Interface	133
10.9	Each instance has its own WRAS page where logs can be viewed and configuration files can be edited	134
10.1	Œditing a configuration file in the WRAS editor	135
10.1	1Viewing log files in the WRAS	136

List of Tables

6.1	Database connection Strings	81
6.2	Simple Database mapping example	84
7.1	Condition Model Samples	91
7.2	Fields used to define a condition	94
7.3	LDAP Hooks	96
7.4	HTTP Hooks	97
7.5	Fields used in a condition	98

Chapter 1

GENERAL INFO

1.1 Who Should Read This Manual

The target audience of this manual includes Symlabs Virtual Directory Server administrators and anyone wanting to learn how to use the graphical user interface (GUI) of the product.

1.2 Conventions Used In This Manual

The following typographical conventions are used throughout this manual to indicate:

Italic is used in text when referring to variables and function names that are contained in the example routines or standard libraries. If a function name is followed by a number in parentheses, this refers the reader to that section in the relevant on-line Unix manual pages. When referring to Unix manuals we use the System V and Solaris convention. The BSD convention is similar in major section numbering. Section 1 refers to user commands, section 1m (section 8 for BSD) refers to system administration commands (i.e., /sbin), section 2 refers to system calls, and section 3 refers to API calls. For example, more information on *printf(3c)* can be found by typing

man printf

at the shell command prompt and referring to section 3c. Italics are also used when referring to the names of directives or the DirectoryScript executables themselves.

<u>Underlined</u> is used generally throughout for emphasis, and also to highlight significant new terms when they first appear in the text

Bold is used to refer to reserved words in the language. Reserved words are keywords in the DirectoryScript language and cannot be used as variable names or function names.

Constant width is used in the text and in examples to show any literal code. It is also used to show commands and their required command-line switches. Data values in code examples are represented by constant width in quotes (""), which are not part of the value.

Whenever C or C language is mentioned in this book, we mean ANSI C.

We will use the abbreviation DS Proxy / DS-Proxy to represent DirectoryScript Proxy and Symlabs Virtual Directory Server respectively. While these acronyms are not trademarked in their own right, note that our use of them does not relinquish any of our rights to the trademarked terms they represent.

1.3 Contact Symlabs

Should issues or questions arise that are not addressed in the manuals or the other references, we would like to hear about them. If you do not have a local Symlabs representative, please send your enquiries to us by email. The contact section of our website will help you to qualify your request and will provide the most appropriate address to contact us at. The website also offers a convenient form that allows you to input your question directly online.

If you purchased a support contract, you will have received instructions for contacting the support channel.

If you have found a bug within Symlabs Virtual Directory Server's GUI, please report it to bugs@symlabs.com. If you have found a security vulnerability, please report it to security@symlabs.com.

Chapter 2

INTRODUCTION

2.1 What is Symlabs Virtual Directory Server?

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server is a powerful tool to customize your identity infrastructure and to integrate it with your overall architecture. Symlabs Virtual Directory Server was designed to overcome the limitations of identity data repositories and identity consuming applications by creating a highly versatile layer between them. Symlabs Virtual Directory Server functions as an LDAP proxy, as well as providing a virtual directory facility. In addition to its extensive support for the LDAP protocol, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server offers support for a number of other protocols as well, making it a valuable tool for developers and administrators alike.

For a complete description of all the features of the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server engine, please read the Administration and Developer guides.

2.1.1 What can you do with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server?

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server is an open platform that allows you to customize and program a wide variety of actions. As a result, the number of things you can do with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server is virtually endless. The following is not a complete list, but it will give you an idea of how Symlabs Virtual Directory Server is currently being used:

- Mapping of attributes, values and suffixes
- Integrating multiple directories
- Joining of directory and identity data
- Access control
- · Validating data before it gets written to the Directory
- Operation target routing (i.e. route read requests to replicas, route write requests to master servers)
- Data distribution / Partitioning
- Creating virtual directories that span multiple data sources
- Enforcing referential integrity
- Triggering external actions

- Integrating directories with web services (XML / SOAP)
- Integrating or enabling single-sign-on architectures
- Operation load balancing
- Failover
- Extended operation filtering
- Filter processing
- Backend monitoring / health checking
- And many more

2.2 What is DSGUI?

DSGUI is a graphical configuration utility for Symlabs Virtual Directory Server that simplifies the creation and management of configurations for Symlabs Virtual Directory Server engine. The application has been developed in Java to ensure cross-platform compatibility.

It was developed as a tool to assist administrators and developers with the creation and configuration of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server instances. The program effectively provides an intuitive graphical user interface to the configuration files that Symlabs Virtual Directory Server uses, allowing end users to configure, start and test configurations with a few click and drag operations.

DSGUI can be used to manage configurations both locally and remotely. In order to better facilitate the remote management of configurations across multiple instance on several servers, DSGUI has been designed to interface with a specially developed **Remote Administration Server** that comes bundled with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server.

DSGUI also contains a simple LDAP browser that provides an easy way to view and modify data on LDAP directory servers.

Although the use of DSGUI is recommended, especially for beginners, it is completely optional. As Symlabs Virtual Directory Server is capable of reading configuration files directly and makes no distinction between those created using DSGUI and those created manually, the option of directly editing configuration files is still valid. Certainly, we recommend that even if you intend to manually edit your configuration, you start out by setting up a basic configuration with DSGUI and then manually edit the resulting configuration files, as this will reduce the likelihood of errors appearing within your configuration.

2.3 How DSGUI works

DSGUI creates and manages the configuration files that are used by the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server core engine. It also has the capability to start and stop local instances of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server for testing purposes.

As already mentioned, DSGUI can interface with configuration files both locally and remotely. Remote configurations can now be created and managed using the *Remote Administration Server* component that comes bundled with version 4 and above of the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server suite of products. The Remote Administration Server, or RAS, is a stand-alone server that can listen to requests made by DSGUI and will interface appropriately with the configuration files on the remote filesystem, so that a user is capable of editing configurations remotely. Naturally, due to the nature of the configuration files and the way that Symlabs Virtual Directory Server interfaces with them, it is also possible to edit configurations locally and then copy them across to remote servers as required.

Thus, DSGUI can effectively be used in three ways to manage instances of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server: locally, locally to copy remotely, and remotely using the Remote Administration Server. A brief summary of these three modes of operation follows:

2.3.1 Local configurations

Local configurations can be easily managed and configured within the GUI. Furthermore, configurations can be loaded into an instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server within DSGUI by just making use of the Start / Stop buttons. Once a configuration has been started within DSGUI, its output will be presented in the DSGUI logging window, allowing you to monitor a local instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server with ease.



Figure 2.1: DSGUI in a local environment.

2.3.2 Remote instance by copying configuration files

Equally, it is possible to make use of DSGUI on a local computer, to create and configure an instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server that you ultimately wish to run on a remote system. Once the configuration has been created and you have finished editing it, you are able to manually copy all of the configuration files to the remote system on which you intend to run Symlabs Virtual Directory Server.

Of course, once the files have been copied across, you will not be able to use DSGUI to start the instance that you have configured. As a result, you will need to make use of the facilities available on the remote system

(manual start, init scripts, service manager, etc.) to launch the service. Furthermore, output from the running instance will obviously not be returned to DSGUI, so if you require any form of logging, you will need to add this functionality into the configuration that you create.

While this method is feasible, it naturally becomes difficult to manage across many servers and is prone to a variety of errors that can be time-consuming to troubleshoot. As a result, we recommend that where possible, remote instances are managed using the Remote Administration Server.



Figure 2.2: DSGUI in a remote environment.

2.3.3 Remote instances with the Remote Administration Tool

Finally, DSGUI is capable of interfacing with the Remote Administration Server, or RAS, to provide a Remote Administration Tool. In order to make use of this facility, the Remote Administration Server will need to be setup and started on each of the remote servers for which you will run an instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. Also, DSGUI will need to be configured to access the Remote Administration Server for each of the systems that you wish manage. Once this has been done, configurations can be created and edited within DSGUI as if they were local. Furthermore, remote instances of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server can be started from within DSGUI using the Start/Stop buttons, and output from a running instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server can be viewed within the DSGUI logging window.

It is also notable that the Remote Administration Server provides a basic web-based interface that will allow you to perform simple administration tasks (including directly editing configuration files) through the use of a web browser as client.





Figure 2.3: Managing remote instances using the Remote Administration facility

Chapter 3

FIRST STEPS

3.1 Starting DSGUI

3.1.1 Linux / Solaris / AIX

In order to start the Graphical User Interface of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server run "bin/dsgui" from /opt/ds/vds/std/ directory with the following command:

bin/dsgui

In order for DSGUI to run with its complete functionality it is important that you change into the /opt/ds/vds/std/ directory first, as DSGUI will not be able to find the dsproxy binary if the GUI has been loaded from a different path.

3.1.2 Windows

You can launch DSGUI using the "Symlabs Virtual Directory Server" shortcut in your Start Menu (under Symlabs > VDS > RX.X.X). You can also run dsgui.bat in the root of the installation directory to launch DSGUI.

3.2 DSGUI main window

When you open the DSGUI application, you will notice that the application window is divided into several parts:

- The Menu
- The Toolbar
- The Configuration Selector
- The Navigator
- The Configuration Panel
- The Message Output Area

Each of these parts will now be discussed in a fair amount of detail to ensure that there is no confusion, as they will be referred to frequently throughout this manual.





Figure 3.1: DSGUI Main Window

3.2.1 The Menu

<u>File Entry Extras Process Help</u>

Figure 3.2: The Menu

The menu section follows the standard File Menu format familiar to most GUI users. Each of the menu options relates directly to the different types of actions that can be performed within DSGUI. As with most menu systems of this type, certain options will appear greyed out until they are relevant or available for use. For instance, if no configuration has been loaded or created, the Save Config and Close Config options are not available as they are not relevant at this point.

Many of the core functions available in the File Menu are also available on the Toolbar (see below), which can be used as a shortcut to invoke some of the more frequently used options. The Menu is organized into several sections as subsections that give access to the different commands:

- File
 - New

- * New Local Config: Creates a new configuration on the local server.
- * **New Remote Config**: Creates a new configuration in a remote server using the remote administration.
- Open
 - * **Open Local Config**: Opens an existing configuration from the local server.
 - * **Open Remote Config**: Opens an existing configuration stored in a remote server through the remote administration tool.
- Recent Configurations: Lists the five most recent configurations that you have opened in DSGUI.
- Close Configuration: Closes currently selected configuration.
- Close All Configurations: Closes all open configurations.
- Save: Saves recent changes in the selected configuration.
- Save As
 - * Save Config Locally As: Saves current configuration on the local server with a different name.
 - * **Save Config Remotely As**: Saves current configuration on a remote server using the remote administration tool with a different name.
- Remove Configuration: Deletes the current configuration from the local or remote server. This option is only available if the configuration instance is not running. When clicked, a confirmation prompt will be shown before the operation is completed. It is important to note that this option will delete the configuration directory from the filesystem, removing any logs and scripts in the process.
- Export Configuration: Creates a zipped archive of all configuration files, scripts and log files, and saves locally to the file system. This zip file can be unzipped in the configuration directory for any server system, or can be imported using the Import Configuration option. Note that it is possible to exclude passwords and log files from an exported configuration, to help ensure that your infrastructure is kept secure.
- Import Configuration: Imports a zipped archive of a configuration folder and installs it locally. It is
 important to note that if the instance will be run on a remote system, the configuration file will need
 to be opened, and then Saved Remotely.
- Preferences: Opens Preferences dialog (Preferences 3.3)
- Evaluation
 - * Check Evaluation Information: Presents a dialog displaying the information stored in the evaluation.key file (if any).
 - * **Update Evaluation Information**: Allows you to install an evaluation key to update your evaluation version information.
- Quit: Exits DSGUI
- Entry: Context based menu depending on the selected node (equivalent to right clicking on an entry).
 - New Listener / Stage / Servergroup / Database Connection: Creates a new node in the configuration tree.
 - Move Up: Moves selected tree item up in the structure.
 - Move Down: Moves selected tree item down in the structure.
 - Delete : Deletes selected item from the configuration tree.



- New Generic Entry: Adds a new custom entry to the selected manual stage within the configuration tree (useful for custom configuration options).
- Launch LDAP browser: Launch LDAP browser to the selected listener or servergroup.
- New Virtual Entry: Add a new virtual entry for a virtual tree within a listener.
- New Virtual Mount Point: Add a virtual mount point root for a virtual tree within a listener.
- Rename Node: Allows you to rename a node within a virtual tree attached to a listener
- Add Hooks: Add a hook to a listener or manual processing stage.
- New Condition: Add a condition to a Hook within a manual processing stage.
- Add Plugin: Adds a plugin to an automatic processing stage.
- Extras
 - Show LDIF: Opens a new window with the configuration LDIF file corresponding to the currently selected configuration.
 - LDAP Browser: Opens the built-in LDAP browser.
 - Manage DSGUI Extensions: Allows you to import, enable and disable plugins or extensions (see Plugins8.3).
- Process: Process related commands
 - **Run**: Starts an instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server using the currently selected configuration.
 - Restart: Stops and restarts an instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server using the currently selected configuration.
 - **Graceful Shutdown**: Sends a "graceful shutdown" signal (see Graceful shutdown 4.4.1) to the instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server using the currently selected configuration.
 - Forceful Stop: Kills the currently running process without checking if all processing has been completed.
 - Hide / Show Log Window: Hides (if shown) or shows (if hidden) the log window of the currently selected configuration.
- Help
 - About: Shows product / version number details.
 - Help Contents: Opens the HTML based User Manual at the front page. Note that a PDF version of this manual is available within the docs folder at the root of your installation.
 - Help: Opens the HTML based User Manual at the page relevant to the selected element in the Navigation tree.
 - Getting Started: Opens the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Getting Started Guide in an HTML browser. Note that a PDF version of this manual is available within the docs folder at the root of your installation.





Figure 3.3: The Toolbar

3.2.2 The Toolbar

The toolbar allows you to quickly access commonly used commands. Each icon is assigned to a function using commonly used pictograms. As with the File Menu, if a command is not available it is greyed out. Hovering the mouse over any of the buttons in the toolbar will provide a small blue popup text description of the button's functionality. The options available from the toolbar (from the left to the right) are:

New Local Config Create a new configuration in the local server.

New Config Selector Displays a menu that allows you to create a new local or a remote configuration.

Open Local Config Opens a configuration file from the local server.

Open Config Selector Displays a menu that allows you to open an existing local or remote configuration.

Save Save the current configuration with the same name in the same place (local or remote server).

Save As Save the configuration file under a new name in the local server.

Save Config As Selector Displays a menu that allows you to save the current configuration locally or remotely with a new name.

Close Close the selected configuration.

Show LDIF Show the configuration file for the current instance.

Preferences Opens the preferences dialog (Preferences 3.3).

LDAP Browser Opens an LDAP Browser Window. You can have several of these open at the same time.

- Hide / Show Log Window Hides (if shown) or shows (if hidden) the log window of the currently selected configuration.
- Run Starts the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server server process, with the selected configuration.
- **Restart** Provides the option to restart a running instance of a configuration (useful if you have made a few changes and have saved them).
- **Stop** If 'Graceful Shutdown' is enabled, a graceful shutdown request will be submitted. Otherwise, this button will simply kill the currently running server process. If you wish to choose which method to use, you can use the Stop selector.
- **Stop selector** Displays a menu that allows you to select the method for stopping the current running server instance. You can stop it just by killing it (Forceful Stop) or by sending a "Graceful Shutdown" signal to it (if Administration port is enabled).

3.2.3 The Configuration Selector



Figure 3.4: The Configuration Selector

An instance of DSGUI can handle several different configurations at the same time. Each opened configuration will have it's own tab in this section, labelled with the configuration name as well as the configuration location (name@host), and can be selected by clicking on the tab.

All the menu actions unless otherwise specified apply to the currently selected configuration. The selected configuration will be indicated by highlighting its tab in light blue, while the rest of the tabs will be white.

3.2.4 The Navigator



Figure 3.5: The Navigator

Under the Configuration Selector, the window is split into two parts. The part on the left is the Navigator. It is arranged as a hierarchical tree viewer. When you click on any node in the tree, the panel on the right is updated with a configuration panel that allows you to set preferences for the node that you have selected.

Select items by clicking on them with the main (usually the left) mouse button. When you select items, you will usually see the configuration panel area change to display the properties for the currently selected item.

Nodes that have child nodes within the configuration tree can be collapsed, so that these subnodes are not displayed. Usually, when a configuration opens, only the primary nodes of the configuration are visible. To view subnodes, expand the configuration tree at the primary node that you wish to view, by clicking on the expansion icon to the left of the node icon / name, or double-click on the node name.

Clicking with the secondary (usually the right) mouse button on an item will make a small context menu pop up from which you can select several actions related to the item that you have selected. Often, this menu will allow you to add additional items, move items up or down, delete items, etc. Most commands in this menu are self-explanatory.

Items within the navigator that may require additional configuration, such as processing Stages that are not attached to a configured Listener, are usually highlighted in red as a visual cue that although the entry exists within the configuration it may not function correctly within a running instance.

The "New Generic Entry" Pop-up Menu Item

When you right-click Symlabs Virtual Directory Server at the top of the navigator and bring up the pop-up context menu, you will be presented with a menu item that will allow you to create a "New Generic Entry". This will create a *generic item* within your configuration. Note that you will also be provided with the New Generic Entry option, when right clicking on a manual stage. This allows you to store configuration entries that are specific to a stage, together with that stage within the configuration.

Generic Entries are used to create a "data holding" item that can be accessed by processing scripts at runtime and are generally used to store configuration options specific to running scripts.¹

Since the actual configuration file is in LDIF format, the "New Generic Entry" allows you to create a generic LDIF entry at that part within the config file. In order to create the entry, you will need to specify a Relative DN for it. For instance, you may assign a New Generic Entry with the RDN of "ou=CustomEntry".

— 🌼 Global Parameters — 🕂 Health Monitoring	Edit OK Cancel Help	
-	Attribute Type	Value(s)
— 💥 Administration	ou	CustomEntries
🗢 😽 Input	objectclass	OrganizationalUnit
🖕 🔘 Processing		-
- L Output		top
ou=CustomEntries		

Figure 3.6: A Generic Entry within the configuration

Once a new entry has been created, you will be able to assign any number of attributes, along with their respective values, for the new entry. For many users, this facility is not required, however, you may want to do this in order to create a special configuration entry that only your custom-written scriptlet understands. This entry will be available for use by your scriptlets by selecting it within the Param field when creating a condition entry within a manual processing Stage.

This is an advanced topic, and although we will touch on it briefly within this manual, you should also refer to the *Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Developer's Reference Manual* and the *Virtual Directory Server Scripting Guide* for further information.

3.2.5 The Configuration Panel

The *Configuration Panel* can be found in the area of the window on the right hand side of the application. This area is used to display the available settings or configuration options for the item that has been selected from the configuration tree within the Navigator.

Configuration Panels allow you to view and change properties of the currently selected item. Whenever you have made changes to the configuration options in this area of the screen, you will need to click the "OK" button before you select another node in the configuration tree. If you fail to do this, DSGUI will ask you whether you want to save your changes to the current item before moving on to the newly selected item. By clicking the "Cancel" button, you can undo the latest changes and restore the item's properties to the ones that were set when you initially selected the item in the Navigator.

Note that these changes are not saved to disk, they are only saved in memory. In order to save the changes to disk, you will need to save the entire configuration by selecting the Save Config button from the Toolbar, or selecting the Save Config option within the File Menu. If you attempt to run the instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server without having saved your changes, DSGUI will give you the option of actually saving the

¹This is covered in more detail within the *Virtual Directory Server Scripting Guide* which details how Generic Entries can be used in conjunction with your custom scripts.





Figure 3.7: The Configuration Panel

configuration before you run the instance. If you choose not to save the configuration, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will still run the instance, but with the last saved configuration. It is important to note that if DSGUI is closed for some reason without your saving the configuration to disk, all of your changes will be lost.

3.2.6 The Message Output Area

		RegEx Highli	ght 🔇 🖇
<pre>ideg/STOUT legs/STDERR imexer [20090114105956] Starting log showing from now. ***** [2009011410018] Starting Remote Directory Extender, showing logs from now. ****** [20090114110018] Starting Remote Directory Extender, showing logs from now. ****** [20090114110112]: L_INF0: PTR(6:)Acae37e0): EEsupervisor (35): Servergroups and servers structure created. Enabling Health Cr [20090114110112]: L_INF0: PTR(6:)Acae37e0): EEsupervisor (340): Health Check is disabled. [20090114110112]: L_INF0: PTR(6:)Acae37e0): EEsupervisor (340): Connection pools opened. ****** [20090114110113] Starting Remote Directory Extender, showing logs from the start. ****** [20090114110113] Log reading Stopped (Logging has been cancelled) [20090114110112]: L_INF0: PTR(6:)Acae37e0): EEsupervisor (340): Servergroups and servers structure created. Enabling Health Cr [20090114110113] Starting Remote Directory Extender, showing logs from the start. ****** [20090114110112]: L_INF0: PTR(6:)Acae37e0): ESupervisor (340): Servergroups and servers structure created. Enabling Health Cr [20090114110112]: L_INF0: PTR(6:)Acae37e0): ESupervisor (340): Servergroups and servers structure created. Enabling Health Cr [20090114110112]: L_INF0: PTR(6:)Acae37e0): ESupervisor (340): Servergroups and servers structure created. Enabling Health Cr [20090114110112]: L_INF0: PTR(6:)Acae37e0): ESUpervisor (340): Servergroups and servers structure created. Enabling Health Cr [20090114110112]: L_INF0: PTR(6:)Acae37e0): ESUpervisor (340): Servergroups and servers structure created. Enabling Health Cr [20090114110112]: L_INF0: PTR(6:)Acae37e0): ESUpervisor (340): Servergroups and servers structure created. Enabling Health Cr [20090114110112]: L_INF0: PTR(6:)Acae37e0): ESUpervisor (340): Servergroups and servers structure created. Enabling Health Cr [20090114110112]: L_INF0: PTR(6:)Acae37e0): ESUpervisor (340): Servergroups and servers structure created. Enabling Health Cr [20090114110112]: L_INF0: PTR(6:)Acae37e0): ESUPERVISOR(ACAE): Servergroups and servers structure cre</pre>			
Iogs/STDOUT Iogs/STDERR ******* [20090114105956] Starting Tom now. ******* [20090114110018] Starting Remote Directory Extender, showing Togs from now. ******* [20090114110018] Starting Remote Directory Extender, showing Togs from now. ******* [20090114110018] Log reading Stopped (Logging has been cancelled) [20090114110112] LLNF0: PTR(6:0xaea37e0): ESupervisor [20090114110112] LLNF0: PTR(6:0xaea37e0): ESupervisor [20090114110112] LLNF0: PTR(6:0xaea37e0): ESupervisor (448): Connection pools opened. ****** ******* [20090114110113] L_NF0: PTR(6:0xaea37e0): ****** [20090114110113] Log reading Stopped (Logging has been cancelled)			
[20090114110112 [20090114110112 [20090114110112	21: L_INFO: PTR(6:0xaea37e0): BEsupervisor (335): Servergroups and servers structure 21: L_INFO: PTR(6:0xaea37e0): BEsupervisor (340): Health Check is disabled. 21: L_INFO: PTR(6:0xaea37e0): BEsupervisor (448): Connection pools opened.	created. Enabling H	Heal th Cr ≡
[20090114110112 [20090114110112 [20090114110112	2]: L_INFO: PTR(6:0xaea37e0): BEsupervisor (335): Servergroups and servers structure 2]: L_INFO: PTR(6:0xaea37e0): BEsupervisor (340): Health Check is disabled.	: created. Enabling H	Heal th Cr

Figure 3.8: Message Output Area

The Message Output Area is located in the lower part of the DSGUI window, and automatically pops up each time you start a configuration. The Message Output Area will display a tabbed set of logging windows, displaying output from both STDOUT and STDERR. Additionally, it is possible to display the content of any logging file that the configuration is generating by opening the file in a separate tab.

When a local configuration is started, the output (both STDOUT and STDERR exits) of the running process will be collected and displayed in this area.

The log data displayed in the Message Output area is read directly from the log files stored for the configuration. For remote instances, DSGUI automatically begins a dialog with the Remote Administration Server, when the instance is started, in order to keep the logging information updated. Note that if you have a lot of logging

options enabled, this can generate a large amount of network traffic between DSGUI and the remote instance of dsproxy.

You can find a more detailed explanation on how DSGUI handles logging in the section titled Logging 9.2.

3.3 Preferences

The preferences browser allows you to configure all of the default settings that influence the behavior of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. When you start DSGUI for the first time, all preferences will be set to their default values. When you make changes to the preferences, you can then save them so that they will be remembered for each subsequent restart of DSGUI. The preferences are stored in a file called .dsgui-VDS-X.X.ldif within your home directory in Unix environments (e.g. /home/johndoe/.dsgui-VDS-X.X.ldif) or in your %USER-PROFILE% directory within Windows environments (e.g. C:\Documents and Settings\John Doe\.dsgui-VDS-X.X.ldif).

When you select "Preferences" from the "File" Menu or click on the "Preferences" button in the toolbar, the preferences window will be opened. This window is divided into several sections.



Figure 3.9: Preferences Window

On the left side, a tree contains all of the different sections available for editing within the preferences file. Sections can be selected by clicking on them within the tree. Once a section has been selected, the configuration panel on the right hand side will display all of the parameters that can be set for the selected section.

Remember to save your preferences if you change them. You can save your preferences at any time by selecting the *Save* entry from the *File* menu in the preferences editor.

3.3.1 Environment

Within the environment section, you can define the following items:

- Save preferences on dsgui exit This checkbox can be used to ensure that preferences are always saved when you exit DSGUI. This is particularly useful if you are likely to define new LDAP Browser Connection information, or if you are likely to define new Remote Administration Server connections.
- **Preferences File** Full path to the preferences file that will be loaded each time you start DSGUI. This file is used to store all of the preference options that are set for DSGUI. As already mentioned, the preference file is stored within your home directory in Unix environments or in %USERPROFILE% directory in Windows environments. This field is not editable and is only displayed for informational purposes.

Configurations Directory Path to where local configurations will be stored.

- **CA Store** Path to the CA (Certification Authorities) certificates store file that will be used in communications with remote administration instances running on remote servers. By default the JRE CA store, that is bundled with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, is used. However, this can be changed to match your own running requirements.
- **CA Store Password** Password to use for the CA Store files. The default password is "changeit" and should be changed to something more secure if you plan on setting up your own CA infrastructure.

Use Custom Help Browser Use an alternate web browser to view the help files for the product.

How to set up certificates for communication with Remote Administration Server instances

By default, DSGUI will use the CA (Certification Authorities) certificates file of the JRE that is being used to run DSGUI, typically the one that comes bundled with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. The CA file of the JRE (cacerts) includes a standard set of CA certificates, however, it is possible to choose an alternative CA file to secure communication with remote Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Administration Servers. DSGUI will automatically store the CA certificates of any of the servers you instruct it to connect to.

A "Test Certificates File" button on the panel will allow you to ensure that your CA Store is correctly configured and will give you the option to use the default JRE CA store (or to use a new empty one). If the CA Store is correctly configured, the button will list all of the certificates within the store. The following actions are initiated when the button is pressed:

- **Password Checking** The CA Store Password is checked. If the passwords do not match you will be informed and processing will be aborted. You will need to enter the correct password for the store into the CA Store Password field. If you do not know the password, you will need to create a new CA Store by specifying a new CA Store Path before clicking on the "Test Certificates File" button again.
- Store Checking If the file, that is specified in the CA Store field, does not exist you will be asked if you want to copy JRE's cacerts certificates to this new store file. If you confirm, please bear in mind that the password that is currently specified in the CA Store Password field will be used for the new CA Store. If you do not want to copy the CA certificates (the most secure option) DSGUI will start with an empty CA store, until you add certs from the Remote Administration Servers that you choose to use.
- List Store Contents Finally, if the store is not empty, and the password to the store is correct, the list of available CA certificates will be shown.

Once you are satisfied with your store, you can use the "Test Certificates File" button to check your certificates, as described above. If you need help setting up certificates for communication with Remote Administrator instances please contact Symlabs.

To connect to a Remote Administration Server, you will need to add the configuration for each Administration Server to DSGUI, either using File->Preferences->Admin Server Preferences-> Add, or by trying to create or access a remote instance using "New Administration Server" in the "Server Selection" dialog.

See (Admin Server Preferences 3.3.7) Frequently Used Remote Administration Instances for information about adding Remote Administration Servers to DSGUI.

File

5 y	
 /	IDENTITY MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS
Save Preferences on	exit

9	Preferences	Environment Preferences		-
	- 📔 Environment - 📔 Warning - 📔 RecentConfig	OK Cancel Help	∠ Save Preferences on ex	dit
	— 📗 Editing	Preferences File	/home/rowan/.dsgui-VDS-6.0.ldif	
	— 📕 Running — 📔 LDAP Browser Preferences	Configurations Dir	confs	1
	Admin Server Preferences	CA Store	/opt/ds/vds/R6.0.0/jre/lib/security/cacerts	1
		CA Store Pass word	******	1
		again	•••••	
		SASL Library SASL Prefix	/usr/lib/libgssapi_krb5.so	on exit
	Use Custom Help Browse	· 🗆 [
			Test Server Certificates File	

Figure 3.10: Environment Preferences

Specifying a custom web browser for the Help Manual

By default, clicking on any Help button in DSGUI will open your default web browser to a locally hosted URL, which makes use of a set of GET variables to determine which page to show within the Help system. The Help pages require JavaScript to be enabled within your browser. If you wish to use an alternate web browser to display help pages, you can change the browser here in the Environment Preferences.

Use Custom Help Browser This checkbox will allow you to specify the path to an alternate browser, which will be invoked when a Help button is clicked. In the field following the checkbox, you should provide the full path to the web browser application that you intend to use. In general, you should follow the browser path with a quoted "%u". This will cause the browser to be invoked with the full URL to the help page required, and this URL will be quoted to ensure that it opens to the correct destination. Some browsers may not require this additional option.

3.3.2 Warning

The Warning preferences node allows you to disable particular warning messages that will be displayed in the DSGUI application where a configuration entry may not be created in the expected manner. By default, all warning messages are enabled, however this may become irritating if there is some reason for you to create a configuration which does not conform to the usual approach. In these cases, you are able to disable the warning message when it appears.

The table in this panel displays the warning messages that you are able to enable or disable. The column on the right will display 'yes' for enabled messages, and 'no' for disabled messages. You can change these settings at any time and save your preferences.

3.3.3 Recent Config

The Recent Config preferences node allows you to view the paths to recently opened configurations and to clear Recent Configurations from DSGUI's history.

3.3.4 Editing

The preferences in the *Editing* section define the settings for editing DirectoryScript programs with an editor when configuring a manual stage.

o- Preferences	-Warning Preferences	
- 📔 Environment - 📔 Warning	OK Cancel Help	
— 🎽 RecentConfig	Warning	Show
– 📔 Editing – 📔 Running – 📔 LDAP Browser Preferences	You have several relational database servergroups mounted on the same branch. Destination of requests sent to that branch will be undetermined unless especified by a script.	yes
🛏 🎽 Admin Server Preferences	You have an HTTP Automatic Server Group with multiple servers. Consider enabling HTTP Health Monitoring.	yes
	You have an Automatic ServerGroup with multiple servers. Consider enabling LDAP Health Monitoring.	yes
	There are stages that are not being used in any listeners, and therefore not active.	yes
	There are listeners that have Virtual Tree configured, but they do not canonicalize the DNs.	yes
	There are listeners that do not have default server group or Virtual Tree defined.	yes
	There are ServerGroups that have SASL enabled but the connection pooling is not using SASL, this might be a configuration mistake. Please Check the configuration.	yes
	There are Listeners that have a default ServerGroup configured	
	Restore All Warnings	





Figure 3.12: Recent Configs Preferences

While Symlabs has included its own internal editor to edit scripts, we have provided an option here to allow more advanced users to choose a preferred external editor. You will need to specify the path to the application that you wish to use if you decide to make use of this option. It is important to note, that when using an external editor, new functions will not be automatically generated when you open a file. When using an external editor, the editor must be capable of being called from the command line with a filename or filepath as the only argument.

Further options are available here if you choose to make use of the internal editor. These include a font selector (which allows you to choose the font type and font size) and the option to choose the number of spaces that will be used for each tab stop.

3.3.5 Running

The Running preferences contain the parameters used by DSGUI to start the dsproxy program, which is the actual Symlabs Virtual Directory Server proxy server process. You can run dsproxy by either clicking the respective icon on the main DSGUI toolbar, or by selecting Run from the Process menu. Except for the last two options on this panel, the options specify the Default parameters that will be used to fill the field in the "Global Parameters" section of each new configuration created with this specific copy of DSGUI. After these settings have been applied to a new configuration, the configuration will make use of its own store "running" options specified within the Global Parameters section of the configuration. In this way, these preferences serve only to provide a default template for future configurations of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server.



P- Preferences Environment	Running Preferences	
Warning RecentConfig Gitting Ming DDAP Browser Preferences Admin Server Preferences	Default Options Default STDOUT Redirection Default STDERR Redirection Delete logs on start Size of Log Buffers (KB) Remote Status Check Interval (ms)	-afr 3 -SI.//include -C//etc/conf.ds -I/ek logs/STDOUT logs/STDERR 2048 5000

Figure 3.13: Running Preferences

The Running Preferences configuration panel contains the following options:

- **Default Options** It stores the list of parameters that will be passed to the dsproxy process on startup. For a complete description of the possible parameters accepted by Symlabs Virtual Directory Server engine please refer to the *Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Administration Manual*.
- **Default STDOUT Redirection** Path, relative to the configuration directory, where STDOUT output of the running process will be sent to.
- **Default STDERR Redirection** Path, relative to the configuration directory, where STDERR output of the running process will be sent to.
- **Delete logs on start** Defines if the running process should delete both STDOUT and STDERR outputs each time it is restarted.
- Size of Log Buffers (KB) Maximum size of data "chunk" that will be exchanged between DSGUI and a Remote Administration instance when reading the contents of log files.
- **Remote Status Check Interval (ms)** Amount of time between successive status check requests sent by DS-GUI to the Remote Administration server when managing a remote instance.

3.3.6 LDAP Browser Preferences

DSGUI is capable of integrating with any external LDAP Browser that you choose to make use of. By default, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server is packaged with the standalone Symlabs LDAP Browser, however using the options provided here, you may change the browser to any external browser that you prefer. If no external browser is configured, DSGUI will fallback to a very simple internal browser, which does not support any write functionality and has limited search capabilities.

- **External Browser** This field expects the path to the external browser application that you wish to use as your LDAP Browser. By default, the path to the startup script for the Symlabs LDAP Browser should be specified here, however you may change this to point to any other browser of your preference. Note that if this field is left empty, DSGUI will fallback to its own internal browser which has very limited functionality.
- **Open Args** When the LDAP Browser is opened, you are able to use this field to specify command line arguments that should be passed to the browser when it is opened, if your browser supports this facility. In

most cases, you will more than likely leave this field blank as you will only require the browser to open in its default state. Note that if you wish to specify parameters here, you can use the key below these fields to determine what variables are available to you to pass on to the browser.

Connection Args At particular points in DSGUI, such as when a listener or output node is selected and a destination address and port is specified, when you click on the LDAP Browser menu or toolbar option, the browser can be configured to actually open a connection to the expected location. If your browser supports command line arguments to initiate a connection, you are able to specify these within this field. Where these fields are populated by DSGUI, the appropriate command line argument will be passed to the browser when it is opened. The settings that are presented in this field by default apply to the Symlabs LDAP Browser. Note that if you wish to specify parameters here, you can use the key below these fields to determine what variables are available to you to pass on to the browser.

File	
Preferences Environment Warning RecentConfig Editing Running	Frequently used LDAP Servers OK Cancel Help External Browser /opt/ds/vds/R5.4.9/bin/ldapbrowser
Admin Server Preferences	Open Args

Figure 3.14: LDAP Browser Preferences

Frequently Used Servers

Note that the settings in this section will only apply if you have not specified a path to any external LDAP Browser (including the Symlabs LDAP Browser). In this case, a low-level and very simplistic browser with limited functionality will become available, and the following settings will apply to this internal browser.

Within this section you can configure a "shortlist" of frequently accessed LDAP directory servers. This list will then be available from the combo box in the server selector. Instead of having to enter the same values over and over again, it makes sense to create shortcuts for LDAP servers that you intend to access frequently.

In order to create a new entry, click the "Add" button. The *LDAP Server Selector* window will pop up and will allow you to define the settings for a new server. More information on the LDAP Server Selector can be found in the section titled, LDAP Server Selector3.4.2.

You can also delete entries from the shortlist by selecting them and clicking the Delete button. In order to modify a server's definition, select the server and click the Edit button.

Sometimes it is convenient to copy an existing definition and subsequently edit it instead of entering all parameters from scratch. For this purpose you can use the Duplicate button that will create a copy of the currently selected entry. Once this is done, you can then select the new entry and click the Edit button in order to rename the copied entry and to modify the the copied parameters as you require.

3.3.7 Admin Server Preferences

Frequently Used Remote Administration Instances

This panel allows you to configure a "shortlist" of frequently accessed Remote Administration Server (RAS) instances. The instances configured here will then be available each time you wish to connect to a remote server using DSGUI. Using the Remote Administration Server will allow you to connect to remote instances of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server to perform a variety of operations, including opening and editing a configuration, as well as starting a configuration remotely. In an environment where you are likely to have multiple systems running Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, it is worthwhile specifying the RAS details required to connect to them within this panel, in order to save yourself from repeatedly entering the connection information.

File	
Preferences Environment Warning Editing Editing DDAP Browser Preferences Admin Server Preferences	Administration Servers Preferences 0K Cancel Help Frequently used Administration Servers TestingEnv Production1 Production2

Figure 3.15: RAS Servers List

In order to create a new entry, click the "Add" button. The *Remote Admin Selector* will appear and will prompt you to provide the details that define the settings for this server. You will be required to enter the following fields:

Name	Production1	
Hostname	192.168.0.210	
Port	9443	
User	demanager	
Pass word	*****	Show Pass word
OK Can	Test	

Figure 3.16: Remote Admin Selector

Name A name to identify the RAS configuration (optional).

Hostname Remote host where the RAS is installed.

Port Port on which the remote administration server is listening (default 9443).

User Credentials for connecting to the Remote Administration Server (default demanager).

Password Password for the credentials.

You can also delete entries by selecting them and clicking the Delete button. In order to modify a server's definition, select the server and click the Edit button.

Sometimes it is convenient to copy an existing definition and subsequently edit it instead of entering all of the parameters from scratch. For this purpose, you can use the Duplicate button, which will create a copy of the currently selected entry. Once this is done, you can select the new entry and click the Edit button in order to rename the copied entry and modify the parameters to meet your requirements.

In order to work with a remote administration instance you must press the Test button at least once to properly configure and test the communication channel. When you press Test the following actions will take place:

- Check RAS configuration If the needed fields have not been completed or contain invalid information the process will be aborted.
- Check existence of server certificate in CA store If the newly configured RAS provides a certificate not present in the trusted CA store it will be added to it.
- **Connect to RAS** A connection to the RAS will be opened and a list of the roots provided by the server will be displayed.

Remember that if you do not test the configuration of each new RAS (or if you change the CA certificates) the certificate provided by the RAS may not be trusted and the connection will fail until it has been tested. If you need further help with certificates contact Symlabs.

3.4 LDAP Browser

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server is packaged to include the **Symlabs LDAP Browser**, a freely available LDAP Browser developed by Symlabs. This feature-rich standalone browser provides a range of powerful features, including:

- LDAP v2 and V3 support
- SSL support to connect to LDAPS systems
- An intuitive LDAP Tree Browser
- The ability to create, delete and modify entries within an LDAP Tree
- Browse the schema of an LDAP server
- View the Root DSE for an LDAP server
- Perform advanced search queries, and save frequent searches
- Create bookmarks to particular entries within a tree
- Open multiple simultaneous connections and switch between them using tabs
- Export LDIF data for entries within any branch
- Support for command-line switches to open the browser with particular connection parameters
- Integration with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server

As a standalone browser, the Symlabs LDAP Browser includes its own thorough documentation, which can be found within the /doc folder at the root of your installation. Please refer to the **Symlabs LDAP Browser User Manual** for any further help with this browser.

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server is designed to be able to work with any external browser of your choosing. While we recommend that you use Symlabs LDAP Browser, due to its ability to integrate with DSGUI, you may wish to change the browser that is initiated by DSGUI to suit your own requirements. You may do this by setting the path to an alternate browser in the LDAP Browser Preferences3.3.6.

DSGUI also includes a very simple built-in read-only LDAP Browser. If no path is specified for an LDAP Browser within the LDAP Browser preferences, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will drop back to using the internal LDAP Browser. This internal browser will be discussed in more detail shortly.

3.4.1 Starting the LDAP Browser

You can start the configured LDAP browser by either selecting the LDAP Browser from the Extras Menu in the main DSGUI window, or by clicking on the LDAP browser icon on the toolbar.

If you have selected either a Listener or Output node within your configuration, and this node has an IP address, port number or BIND credentials specified, and your browser supports command line parameters, the browser will open a connection to the specified parameters automatically. This functionality is controlled by specifying the appropriate parameters within the LDAP Browser Preferences3.3.6.

3.4.2 The Internal LDAP Browser

If you have not specified a path to an external LDAP Browser in the LDAP Browser Preferences, DSGUI will automatically fallback to using a very simple internal browser. This browser has very limited functionality and only supports read-only operations. If DSGUI is configured to use the internal browser and you click on the LDAP Browser button in the toolbar, or the LDAP Browser option in the Extras Menu, the LDAP Server Selector window will open. You can use the LDAP Server Selector to either select a pre-configured server or to provide the details for the server that you wish to connect to.

LDAP Server Selector

The Server selector allows you to select a predefined server configuration shortcut, or enter the details required to connect to a server. If you plan on connecting to a specific server frequently, you should either configure the details of the server in the *Preferences*, or opt to save the details for the server when you are prompted. Server details that have been saved within the DSGUI *Preferences*, or from previous sessions, will be available for easy selection using the combo box shortlist in the LDAP Server selector. Alternatively, you can input new parameters, or change parameters from a previously selected shortcut.

Server Shortcut Combobox	
Server Connection Properties	
local	
localhost	
389	
dc=tamuz,dc=symlabs,dc=com	
cn=admin,dc=tamuz,dc=symlabs,dc=com	
****** Show Pass wor	
Suffixes_ Test_	

Select a server from the list, or enter a new one below

Figure 3.17: LDAP Server Selector Panel

If you select a server shortcut from the combo-box, the properties for the server will be populated in the fieldentry boxes on the Server Connection Properties panel. Otherwise you will need to fill out these details from scratch. The parameters are as follows:

Name A shortcut name for the server. If you are not working with shortcuts, or do not intend to save the server details that you are working with, you can leave this field blank.

Hostname The host name or IP address of the server.

Port The port number on which the server listens. For LDAP, this is usually 389, unless you have a different set-up.
- **Root Suffix** The root of the Directory Server, or the tree on which you want the browser to work on. You can fetch a list of trees that are contained by the LDAP server by clicking on the **Suffixes...** button below.
- **Bind DN** The distinguished name that should be used to authenticate the LDAP Browser to the LDAP server that you are connecting to.
- **Password** The password that LDAP Browser should use when authenticating.

There are also two buttons available that can assist you while filling in the Server Connection Properties, as well as making sure you can actually connect to your server:

Suffixes When you click the Suffixes button, the LDAP Server Selector will connect to the server and fetch a list of suffixes (trees) that this

server contains. To do this, you will need to specify at least the host name and the port. If your LDAP server is configured to require authentication to list the contained suffixes, you may also need to enter a Bind DN and a password before this will work. When the LDAP Server Selector has connected to the server and fetched the contained suffixes, you will be presented with a dialog in which you can select one of the contained trees. By clicking on the "OK" button in the list of contained trees, the selected tree will then be taken into the "Root Suffix" field.

Test As the name implies, the Test button will test connectivity to the server, and therefore check whether all of your parameters work to properly start the LDAP Browser. Testing will connect to the hostname and port specified, attempt to BIND either anonymously or using the credentials provided, and finally read the Root Suffix that has been specified. If any error is returned while carrying out these steps, you will be informed about the error and can then take appropriate action.

The Internal Browser Window

The internal LDAP browser is a separate window that will load outside of the main DSGUI window. It consists of a split panel with two sides: the *Navigator* on the left side and the *Entry Viewer* on the right side.

Window Entry Help			
🜪 📔 local	ou=People		
⊶ 📄 Schema γ- 📔 dc=tamuz	Edit OK Cancel Help		
🔶 📄 cn=admin	Attribute Type	Value(s)	
⊶ 📄 ou=People	objectClass	organizationalUnit	
		top	
Navigator	Ε	ntry Viewer	

Figure 3.18: The Internal LDAP Browser

You can use the *Navigator* to browse through your LDAP trees. Nodes will expand and contract as their handles are clicked. When you select a node, the Entry Viewer/Editor will display the node's contents, as long as you have the appropriate permission. Regular LDAP entries will be displayed as attribute/value pairs on the Entry Viewer. There are several special nodes that may need some explanation:

- **The root entry of the tree** This node represents the server object that you have configured and connected to. When you select it with the left mouse button, a blank panel will load in the Entry Viewer, as there are naturally no entries associated directly with the server node. However, clicking on this node with the secondary mouse button (usually the right button) will display a pop-up menu which will provide you with options to reconfigure the connection properties, to reconnect, or to refresh the entire tree in the LDAP Browser.
- Schema This node represents the schema of your LDAP server. The node will expand into Attributes, Object Classes, Matching Rules and Syntaxes.
- Attributes This node will expand to reveal a list of all defined attributes in the schema. Each Attribute, when selected will display the following parameters in the Entry Viewer: Name, Description, a list of aliases and the "obsolete" and "single-value" flag.
- **Object Classes** All object classes defined in the schema can be found under this node. The Entry Viewer for object classes will display a list of required attributes and a list of optional attributes.
- **Matching Rules** All Matching Rules defined in the schema are under this node. The Entry Viewer for these nodes will display the name, OID, description and the "obsolete" flag.
- **Syntaxes** All Syntaxes defined in the schema are visible under this node. The Entry Viewer for these nodes will display the name, OID and description.

Finally, the Root Suffix that you have connected to with the LDAP Browser will be displayed as an expandable node, from which you can view all of the child entries for that suffix.

You are able to refresh each of these nodes (as well as all child nodes) by clicking with the secondary (usually the right) mouse button on the node in the Navigator.

3.5 Generic Attribute Editor

You can use the *Generic Attribute Editor* to edit arbitrary entries in your configuration. It is a special editor for attribute-value pairs that are commonly used in LDAP Directory entries and LDIF files. The editor supports the editing of multi-value attributes.

id=JEastwood Edit OK Cancel Helj	p
Attribute Type	Value(s)
givenName	John
sn	Eastwood
telephoneNumber	555657256
mail	jeastwood@growingcorp.org
facsimileTelephoneNumber	555657257
objectClass	inetorgperson
	organizationalPerson
	person
	top
cn	John Eastwood
userPassword	<pre>{SSHA}/J0IN8e8SPgmldgt8gEl2la2fDFWcxBjjiyIMg==</pre>

Figure 3.19: Generic Attribute Editor in View Mode

When you view an entry, you will see the generic attribute editor in *view mode*. To start editing, click the Edit button. The editor will then change its appearance to make it easy for you to make changes. Once you are

finished, you can confirm your changes by clicking the OK button, or to abort them by pressing the Cancel button.

Edit OK Cancel He	lp l			
Attribute Type	Value(s)			
givenName	John			
sn	Eastwood			
telephoneNumber	555657256			
mail	jeastwood@growingcorp.org			
facsimileTelephoneNumber	555657257			
objectClass	inetorgperson			
	organizationalPerson			
	person			
	top			
cn	John Eastwood			
userPassword	(SSHA)/J0IN8e8SPqmldqt8qEl2la2fDFWc×BjjiylMg==			

Figure 3.20: Generic Attribute Editor in Edit Mode

When editing an entry, you will see a table consisting of two columns: *Attribute* and *Values*. The right column entitled *Attribute* contains the attribute name (or Attribute Type in LDAP nomenclature).

3.5.1 Adding new Attributes or Values

One of the *Generic Attribute Editor*'s main features is to facilitate the adding of new attributes or values. In *edit mode*, a blank cell will be displayed below the last value of every attribute, and below the last attribute in the table. The empty cells in the *Values* column can be used to add additional values to an attribute. The empty cell at the end of the *Attribute* column can be used to add new attributes.

When you have finished editing an entry, press the OK button and your changes will be saved. In some cases, when you are adding new entries, it is necessary to add the objectclass attribute and to set it to at least one value. If you forget to do this, you will be asked for a value for the objectclass attribute as soon when you finalize your edits by pressing the OK button.

3.5.2 Removing Attributes or Values

To delete a value, click with the secondary (usually right) mouse button on the cell containing the value and select the option to delete from the pop-up context menu that appears. You are able to delete values one by one.

You are able to delete whole attributes from the table in a similar manner, by right clicking on the cell containing the attribute type and then selecting the delete option from the context menu. Note, however, that when deleting an attribute all associated values are naturally deleted as well.



3.5.3 Inserting Attributes or Values

Within the context menu, that appears when you right click on any attribute or value, there are also the options to *Insert Before* and *Insert After*. You can use these options to add a new row either before or after the current one that you are editing. You will then be able to add a new value or attribute by editing the new blank row that will have been created.

Chapter 4

CONFIGURATIONS

4.1 Creating Configurations

Configurations are created or modified using the Menu buttons or shortcuts provided within the GUI. To create a new configuration, you can click on the New Config button in the shortcut menu, or you can click on File, New and then select the appropriate type of configuration (e.g. Local or Remote). To open an existing configuration for editing, click on the Open Config button in the shortcut menu, or click on File, Open and then select the appropriate type of configuration (e.g. Local or Remote). When multiple configurations have been loaded, a tabbed menu appears along the top of the panels, allowing you to switch between the different configurations. Each configuration will load in the navigation panel on the left of the GUI as a 'configuration tree' with a collection of nodes. The nodes on the tree represent the different sections that comprise the complete configuration for any instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. You can navigate to the different sections by clicking on the appropriate node in the configuration tree, which will load the configuration panel in the frame on the right of the GUI.

There are six nodes in the configuration tree. Many of the default settings for a new instance of the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will be sufficient to create a fully functioning configuration, however you may want to revisit some of the optional settings to provide further services. The first three nodes in the configuration tree represent core and optional features. An initial configuration does not require any settings in these nodes to be modified. The next three nodes will require modification in order to create a functional configuration of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server.

The first three nodes of the configuration could be grouped together to cover general configuration requirements, all of which are covered in this chapter. These are:

- **Global Parameters** This includes global settings that will affect the entire instance of the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server and which will affect the overall performance of the service. Changes to this node should be made with a clear understanding of the repercussions to the service.
- **Health Checking** While the settings for this component are considered to be optional, this is an important component when making use of the load-balancing and failover services provided by Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. Health checking is responsible for checking the availability of the servers defined within the configuration.
- Administration As an optional node of the configuration tree, the Administration Port currently provides facilities for graceful shutdown and basic statistics indicating the health and performance of an instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. Additionally, the Administration port can be used to change logging levels for various components while an instance is running. This node is under active development and more features are likely to appear in this part of the configuration in future versions of the product.

The following three nodes in the configuration tree could be grouped together to describe the functional configuration requirements, in that each of these sections will require settings for the instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server to function. Each of these sections will be described in their own chapters as their settings are required in order to provide a working configuration.

- **Input** Within the Input node, you are able to configure the settings which allow external applications to interact with an instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. From this node you can configure the port and protocol settings that external applications will make use of to connect to Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. The following chapter, (INPUT 5), will provide a detailed explanation on how this done.
- **Processing** This section of the configuration is used to define various functionalities that this instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will implement. Within this node of the configuration tree, you are able to define the different elements (plugins, stages and hooks) that will allow your client applications to interact with your data repositories. This is a complex section and is discussed in detail in the PROCESSING 7 chapter.
- **Output** This final node on the configuration tree deals with the definition of the different data repositories that the instance being created will make use of. A full explanation on this node is given in the OUTPUT 6 chapter.

Each configuration is stored directly within the filesystem and the GUI interacts directly with the file-based configuration. Configuration changes can be made directly to the individual files themselves for greater control over the final setup. Although we recommend that you make use of the GUI to create or edit a configuration, the next section will discuss briefly how the configurations are stored in the filesystem to provide more clarity on what is actually taking place in the GUI.

4.1.1 Configuration storage in the Filesystem

Since version 4.0, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server configurations are mapped into folders or directories that contain all the necessary files (configuration and scripts) to make the configuration work.

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will take care of the creation of the directory structure whenever a new configuration is created, or an existing configuration is saved with a different name or copied from another server.

A configuration directory has the following elements:

- Main configuration file (main.ldif). This is the file that is passed to the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server binary whenever the configuration is loaded.
- Custom scripts directory (local). This directory is used to store the source files of all custom functionalities used by the Processing section of the configuration. If for some reason the configuration uses a source file that is not in this directory, the source file will NOT be moved if the GUI is used to move the configuration to a different server.
- Log directory (logs). This directory is used to store the logging output files generated by the configuration. All logging scripts should be configured to generate their output to this directory.

4.1.2 Configuration selector

Every operation affecting a configuration (creation, saving, saving with a different name and opening) is handled using the "Configuration Selector" panel.

In the image, it should be clear that there are three sections to the configuration selector:





Figure 4.1: Configuration Selector

- The source selector. As several different configuration directories can be defined for each instance (configurations or samples), this "drop-down" selector allows you to quickly choose from the available existing configuration directories.
- The file tree. The filesystem information for the selected configuration directory is shown here. There are three different filesystem elements in the list: files (indicated with an icon that resembles a piece of paper), normal directories (indicated with an icon that resembles a folder) and complete configuration directories (indicated with an icon of a grey cylinder). The file tree is used to select among the different elements within the selected source.
- The command section. This section includes the configuration name and the command buttons. The line will show the currently selected item in the file tree, and can also be used to specify a name when creating a new configuration. The two buttons below the line are used to issue a Configuration Selector command, such as creating a new configuration or opening a selected one.

4.1.3 Opening a Configuration in DSGUI from the Command Line

DSGUI supports a few command-line options that may make it easier to work with in some environments. With regard to configurations, DSGUI can be opened with one or more specified configurations loaded. This is achieved using the **openConf** command line switch, used in the following way:

bin/dsgui -openConf myconfig@localhost -openConf production@server1.mydomain.com

This example will open DSGUI with two configurations loaded and ready to work with. The first configuration is hosted locally on the same system as the DSGUI application, while the second configuration will open a RAS connection to a remote system (server1.mydomain.com) and will open a configuration named 'production' hosted at this location. In order to open a configuration from the command-line, you need to know the configuration name beforehand. If you specify a configuration name that does not exist, you will be presented with an error message once DSGUI has opened. In order to open a remote configuration, you must ensure that RAS is enabled on the remote system before you attempt to connect to it. Please see How to configure the RAS 10.3 for more information.

4.2 Global Parameters

The Global Parameters configuration panel allows you to set several parameters that affect the operation of the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server instance for which the configuration will apply. These parameters define how the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server application will interact with the system that it runs on, and its general operational behavior. These settings can be changed to tweak the overall performance of the application, and for debugging purposes.

WARNING: Before changing these parameters, make sure you understand their meaning exactly. Misconfiguration of global parameters can have wide-ranging and potentially adverse effects on the manner in which Symlabs Virtual Directory Server operates.

Global Parameters	
OK Cancel Help	
Debug Level for automatic Server G	roups
Critical Warning Info	Trace Processing PDU Debug Dump
Global Properties Running Para	
Poll Timeout	10
Max. Simultaneous Connections	5000
Max. PDU Length (Kb)	1024
Number of CPUs	1
Writer Threads	1
Reader Threads	
Consumer Threads	3
	<u> </u>
Define Default FE Timeout	30 Seconds
Tcp No-Delay	
Activate Watchdog	
Misconfiguration of global p	these parameters, make sure you understand their meaning exactly. parameters can have wide-ranging and potentially adverse effects mlabs Virtual Directory Server operates.

Figure 4.2: Global Parameters Panel - Global properties

The Global Parameters Panel is separated into four distinct sections.

4.2.1 Debug Level for automatic servergroups

This 'slider' option allows you to specify the level of verbosity that the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will generate as logging output when it handles the initial setup of your configuration. The log output specifically relates to the initialization process of the automatic servergroups (creation of connection pools, creation of health checking infrastructure, etc.) and with the process of routing PDUs on to back-end servers.

The level of detail returned in the logs can be controlled by moving the slider from left to right to increase verbosity, or from right to left to decrease verbosity. Please also see the section on Debug Logs 4.4.3 for live instances.

Debugging options are usually turned off in production environments, as the amount of printing that a process must go through can impact on the overall performance of the application.

4.2.2 Global Paramaters

Poll Timeout Symlabs Virtual Directory Server uses the *epoll(4)* I/O event notification facility, provided on UNIX systems, to check many file descriptors at once for input and output. The value that you specify here

will be passed directly to the timeout parameter of the epoll_wait system call. See the manual page for epoll by typing man epoll on your UNIX system. In general, if you set this number lower, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server may do more iterations of *epoll_wait*, which under certain circumstances, will improve the responsiveness of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server to a single synchronous client, however as a trade-off more system CPU time will be used. Note that since this option makes use of a UNIX facility, changing this option will have no effect on an instance installed on Windows.

- Max. Simultaneous Connections Regardless of the maximum open file descriptors limit that is set by the operating system, this is the maximum number of connections that Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will accept. So the maximun number of simultaneous connections will be limited by the lowest of these two parameters.
- **Max. PDU Length (Kb)** Specifies the maximum size of a PDU that will be accepted by the proxy. The lowest possible value is 4Kb, and the default value is 1024Kb.
- **Number of CPUs** The number of CPUs available on the system where the configuration will run. This value is used to calculate the appropriate thread limits for the values specified below.
- **Writer Threads** The number of writer threads, responsible for all write operations (such as writing a PDU to an outgoing stream). The default value should be sufficient in most use cases, however if this value needs to be adjusted, it should be a power of two. This value should only be adjusted on multi-processor systems, and should ideally be equivalent to the number of processors available divided by 4. i.e. for 8 processors, you might change this value to 2. Setting this value outside of the recommended values will prompt a warning, but will nevertheless store the value that you have set.
- **Reader Threads** The number of reader threads, responsible for handling all read operations (such as reading an incoming PDU to memory). The default value for this field should be sufficient for most use cases, however if this value needs to be adjusted, it should be a power of two. The general rule is that this value should not exceed a number higher than half the number of processors available on the system. i.e. for 8 processors, the value should not exceed 4. Setting this value outside of the recommended values will prompt a warning, but will nevertheless store the value that you have set. This option will not appear within DSGUI on a Windows system, due to a performance requirement that results in a slightly different approach to threading.
- **Consumer Threads** The number of consumer threads (by reader thread). Consumer threads are used to handle processing on the data held for any PDU and will read the entire PDU for processing, releasing the file descriptor for use by another consumer thread. This setting is per reader thread, thus the actual number of consumer threads will be equivalent to this value multiplied by the number of reader threads that are running. The default number of consumer threads should be sufficient in most use cases, but where an adjustment is required, on Linux and Unix systems it should not be set to below 2 and should generally not be greater than 8 times the number of processors within the system. On Windows systems this value may be set up to 10 times the number of processors. Setting this value outside of the recommended values will prompt a warning, but will nevertheless store the value that you have set.
- Define Default FE Timeout This checkbox will enable a default timeout value for frontend connections. This will allow the proxy to drop an idle connection on the client facing side after a specified period. To the right of this checkbox the value in seconds can be defined after which an idle frontend connection will be dropped (if the Define Default FE Timeout option is checked).
- **Tcp No-Delay** This selector will enable or disable Tcp No-Delay functionality for the selected configuration. The Tcp No-Delay option may improve network latency. Network packets are sent immediately after the application submits them. This may decrease the latency for each packet, but often does so at the expense of efficiency. When this option is disabled, the default state, Nagle's algorithm is employed to reduce the number of actual packets being sent over the network, reducing network load and potential congestion issues.

Activate Watchdog This selector will enable or disable the watchdog functionality for the selected configuration. The watchdog option **only** works in **Unix** environments (Solaris, Linux, AIX, etc.), and it tells the engine to start a second process called the "watchdog" that will monitor the status of the running instance and restart it automatically if it is detected to no longer be active. In Windows environments this functionality is automatically implemented.

sym**labs**

4.2.3 Running Parameters

-Global Parameters						
OK Cancel Help						
Debug Level for automatic Serve	er Groups ———					
▽						
	_ 1					Apply Now
Critical Warning Info	Trace	Processing	PDU	Debug	Dump	
Global Properties Running F	arameters S	ASL Supervi	isors			
Lock Windows Service Details					Load fro	om Preferences
DE Options	-rg 1024 –afr 3	-Sl//include -	C//etc/	:onf.ds -1/	ek//etc/	evaluation.key
Construction of Description of the second	L ISTROUT					
Standard Output Redirection	logs/STDOUT					-
Standard Error Redirection	logs/STDOUT					
						-
Standard Error Redirection	logs/STDERR					

Figure 4.3: Running Parameters

The Running Parameters override runtime options for Symlabs Virtual Directory Server by specifying the various switches required to launch the process. In general, you will run an instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server using the default values that are specified in Symlabs Virtual Directory Server's Preferences. You can change these settings for all instances of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server by editing the fields under the Running node within the application Preferences (Running Preferences 3.3.5). Or you can change the settings for a single instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server by editing the fields within this part of the panel.

- Lock Windows Service Details This setting will only apply to instances running on a Microsoft Windows platform. Each time an instance is started on Windows, it is registered as a service and the runtime parameters are stored as a registry key entry. When the instance is stopped, the service is removed. If you wish to lock the service (so that it is not removed), in order to manage starting the instance at boot time, you can check this box. However, it is important to be aware that if this box is checked, any changes to the run-time parameters will not be effective until the service is removed and re-registered.
- Load **Preferences** As these settings are modifiable and the settings specified here may not conform to the default values that you have set to run all instances of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, this button has been provided to conveniently copy the values stored in your default preferences to all of the fields in this part of the panel.
- **DE Options** Optional parameters to pass to the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server binary when launching the application. For a full list of available parameters please refer to (*Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Administrator's Reference Manual*)
- **Standard Output/Error Redirection** A file selector to specify the name of the file and the place (usually the path to the log sub-directory of the configuration directory) where the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server binary will send its STDOUT / STDERR output. These logs are displayed in The Message Output Area 3.2.6, when an instance is started within DSGUI.
- **Delete Logs on start** Defines if the configuration will delete both STDOUT and STDERR outputs every time it is restarted or will just append information to existing files.

4.2.4 SASL

Global Parameters						
OK Cancel Help						
Debug Level for automatic S	erver Groups					
□						
Colored Wenning	l l	l Bussessins	BDU	Delaure	L.	Apply Now
Critical Warning I	Info Trace	Processing	PDU	Debug	Dump	
Global Properties Runnie	ng Parameters S	ASL Supervi	sors			
Use Default SASL Values	v					
SASL Library	/usr/lib/libgssapi_k					
SASL Prefix						

Figure 4.4: SASL Parameters

The following options are available to control SASL behaviour within Symlabs Virtual Directory Server.

- **Use Default SASL Values** Enabling this checkbox will cause the proxy engine to use the default SASL values expected for your operating system and the corresponding SASL library. In the case of a Windows system, gssapi32.dll should be within the system path. In the case of a Linux system, the MIT Kerberos library should be installed, and libgssapi_krb5.so should be available within the system path. Enabling this option will prevent you from being able to specify the path to the SASL library, or from specifying a particular SASL Prefix.
- **SASL Library** The path to the SASL library that should be used to provide Kerberos support via GSSAPI. This option will provide the default path for the expected installation of the SASL/GSSAPI library. It should only be changed if you are using an alternative SASL library or the one that you are using is not available within the system path for some reason. For Windows systems, this should point to gssapi32.dll; while for Linux systems this should point to the libgssapi_krb5.so library installed with MIT Kerberos. While it is possible to use an alternate Kerberos implementation with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, Symlabs highly recommends that you use the default supported libraries where possible.
- **SASL Prefix** By default this setting should be empty. It should only be changed if an alternate SASL Library has been used and the particular GSSAPI implementation uses prefixes within its function names.

4.2.5 Supervisors

Global Parameters OK Cancel Help Debug Level for automatic Server Groups							
Files	Function		Parameters	Number			
//bemgr/BEman_super.ds	BEsupervisor	0	u=conf,o=dsproxy	1			
	LITT DD Commencies of		u=conf.o=dsproxy	1			
//bemgr/BEman_http.ds	HTTPBEsupervisor	0	ru=com,o=usproxy	1			

Figure 4.5: Supervisor Parameters

This panel allows you to configure as many supervisor scripts for your configuration as you need. Supervisors are a fairly advanced topic that you will probably not require unless you are implementing your own back-end management algorithm or custom health-checking system.

Supervisors are the feature that will allow you to activate daemons within the engine. A daemon in this context is a script that is automatically invoked when you start a configuration, thus allowing you to create any functionality that does not need a PDU to trigger it. There are a few rules that you should be aware of if you want to implement your own supervisor:

- The supervisor process uses one of the consumer threads and never releases it. So you must make sure that you have a working thread for each defined supervisor, as well as the ones that you need for your "normal" processing.
- Exiting from a supervisor function (either with a return or with an exit call) will make the whole configuration that you are running to exit, so as a general rule your supervisor function must be an infinite loop that never finishes.
- Instances created using the GUI will automatically create a supervisor invoking the "BEsupervisor" function. This supervisor controls the pools and health-checking facilities for automatic servergroups, so it must not be removed. The addition of an HTTP ServerGroup will automatically create a supervisor that invokes the "HTTPBEsupervisor" function, responsible for managing the health-checking and server session affinity options related to HTTP servergroups.

The supervisor function can launch subrequests to any and all back-ends and server groups defined just like a normal scriptlet. The most common uses for supervisors are:

- Implementing your own health-checking and monitoring system
- Implementing long slow background processes that should not affect the overall running of the system
- Opening connections pools with manual servergroups that are using "sg" load balancing algorithms

You can define as many supervisor functions as you want by adding rows to the table that you see when you select the Supervisor tab. The meaning of the different fields is:

File Path to file name holding the supervisor function that will be invoked at startup. Note that it would usually be best to provide the full path to the file, and that it is generally a good idea to store configuration specific scripts within the 'local' folder inside the configuration directory.

Function Name of the function that will be invoked as a daemon on start-up of your configuration.

- **Parameters** As with any other script, supervisor scripts can also be provisioned with an external parameter. This field configures the value of that parameter.
- **Number** In some situations, you would need to start several identical instances of the same supervisor script (each one using a different working thread). This parameter specifies the number of times that this supervisor script should be invoked. In most situations it will keep the default value of 1.

The Edit button can be used to open an editor to edit the supervisor script that you have attached here.

4.3 Health Monitoring

Health checking is an important feature of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server and you will need to enable it if you make use of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server's load-balancing or fail-over options for your server groups. In other words, any solution that makes use of more than one server within a ServerGroup, should really have Health Monitoring enabled.

The principle behind the health checking component is simple. Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will periodically check each server in the group by sending simple requests to it. If Symlabs Virtual Directory Server notices that a server loses availability, or comes online again, the *server status* will change accordingly. Symlabs Virtual Directory Server makes use of this state information to decide where to send each next request.

4.3.1 How Health Monitoring works

Health Monitoring works by periodically triggering a *health check cycle* in Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. This is done automatically by the BE Manager supervisor scripts that are installed within your configuration by the DSGUI application, and the cycle is run every few seconds. The parameter that controls how often this happens can be set in the Health Monitoring Configuration Panel for each configuration of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server.

When Symlabs Virtual Directory Server decides to start a *health check cycle*, a health check on all servers is initiated. This is done by sending a number of requests to each server. The health check is run against each server independently and in parallel to all of the other running health checks. In other words, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server does not wait for a health check to complete on one server before health-checking other servers.

The regular operation for a health check is:

- 1. Send request to server
- 2. Wait for response up to the timeout
- 3. Repeat this process a configured amount of times

If at the end of this health check the server has not responded to any of the requests, the server is considered to be **down**. If a server that was previously considered down responds to any of the requests during the health check, the server's state is changed to **up**. Note that as the health check consists of several requests to the server, only a single response to any of these queries during one *health check cycle* is required to set the status of the server to **up**. *All* requests must fail for a server to change to **down** status.

The reason for sending several requests within one health-check iteration is that it is possible that a server is just slow to respond, or that there is a very transitory failure in the network that may cause a server to appear down for a small amount of time, but does not necessarily imply the complete failure of a server.

Health Monitoring is currently available for LDAP/S and HTTP/S Automatic ServerGroups. The Health Monitoring configuration is separated into two tabs according to the differences between these two protocols.

4.3.2 The LDAP Health Monitoring Configuration Panel

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server allows you to configure several parameters related to LDAP Health Monitoring. These fall into the following categories:

- 1. Global health checking service settings
- 2. Operational parameters for each health checking instance

Health Monitor C	onfiguratio	n						
OK Cancel	Help							
Enable Healt Interval (sec Cycles until	onds)	30						
Debug Level	-	·	_ 1					Apply Now
– Operation for	arning Health Che		Trace	Processing	PDU	Debug	Dump	
⊖ BIND		SEARCH						
Timeout		20						
Number of	Iterations	3						
-Health-Checki	ng Paramet	ters						
Search DN								
Filter	(objectclas:	S =*')						

Figure 4.6: The LDAP Health Monitor Configuration Panel

Global health checking service settings

The following parameters can be configured in this section:

- **Enable Health Checking** This controls the presence of the health checking service within an instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. Health checking should only be disabled for testing purposes or for very simple backend configurations that do not use any automatic servergroup facilities (like connection pooling, fail-over or load balancing algorithms, etc.).
- **Interval (seconds)** Number of seconds of delay between the end of a health check cycle and the beginning of the next.
- **Cycles until pool refresh** Symlabs Virtual Directory Server includes a sanity method for connection pools accessing a set of load-balanced servers. To keep the connections properly balanced among the different servers, a random connection of the pool is closed and reopened in a safe way periodically. This parameter controls the amount of time between the resetting of these connections, expressed as the number of health check cycles that must been completed between each pool refresh.

Configuring operational parameters for each health checking instance

The next section in this configuration panel includes debugging parameters to allow you to troubleshoot health checking operations. Debugging should generally be disabled on production servers.

Debug Level If you want to turn on debugging of health-checking, you may specify the debug level here by shifting the slider to determine the verbosity of the logging output. The level of detail provided is increased by moving the slider from left to right. Please also see the section on Debug Logs 4.4.3 for live instances.

The next section in the configuration panel contains the following operational parameters, which relate to the settings for each health check instance:

Operation for Health-Check Can be BIND or SEARCH. This determines the type of operation that is sent to each back-end servergroup for health checking unless otherwise stated in each servergroup's Health Check configuration tab. See ServerGroup Health Check 6.4.9.

- **Timeout** The maximum time in seconds that Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will wait for one health check request to be answered. Once this timeout has been exceeded and no response has been received from the back-end, the operation is considered to have failed. By default this is 20.
- **Number of iterations** How many times within a health check operation the request should be repeated. By default this is 3.

The final section in the configuration panel will change depending on whether you have selected BIND or SEARCH as the health check operation that will be used. If you have chosen to use BIND as the type of operation to be used, you will be required to provide authorization information for the BIND request to take place. If you have chosen to use SEARCH as the type of operation to be used, you will be required to provide the Search DN and Filter to use to perform the search request. These settings can be overridden for individual servergroups by specifying these parameters within each servergroup's Health Check configuration tab. See ServerGroup Health Check 6.4.9 for more information.

For BIND requests Specify the Bind DN and the password.

For SEARCH requests Specify the Search DN and the Filter. By default, each SEARCH request is anonymous and of scope 0 (Base).

4.3.3 The HTTP Health Monitoring Configuration Panel

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server allows you to configure several parameters related to HTTP Health Monitoring. These fall into the following categories:

- 1. Global health checking service settings
- 2. Operational parameters for each health checking instance

on						
Info	Trace	Processing	PDU	Debug	Dump	Apply Now
ck						
🔾 HEAD						
20						
3						
ters						
	Info ck	Info Trace ck HEAD 3	Info Trace Processing ck HEAD 3	Info Trace Processing PDU ck HEAD 3	Info Trace Processing PDU Debug ck O HEAD 3	Info Trace Processing PDU Debug Dump ck O HEAD 3

Figure 4.7: The HTTP Health Monitor Configuration Panel

Global health checking service settings

The following parameters can be configured in this section:

- **Enable Health Checking** This controls the presence of the health checking service within an instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. Health checking should only be disabled for testing purposes or for very simple backend configurations that do not use any automatic servergroup facilities (like connection pooling, fail-over or load balancing algorithms, etc.).
- **Interval (seconds)** Number of seconds of delay between the end of a health check cycle and the beginning of the next.

Configuring operational parameters for each health checking instance

The next section in this configuration panel includes debugging parameters to allow you to troubleshoot health checking operations. Debugging should generally be disabled on production servers.

Debug Level If you want to turn on debugging of health-checking, you may specify the debug level here by shifting the slider to determine the verbosity of the logging output. The level of detail provided is increased by moving the slider from left to right. Please also see the section on Debug Logs 4.4.3 for live instances.

The next section in the configuration panel contains the following operational parameters, which relate to the settings for each health check instance:

- **Operation for Health-Check** Can be GET or HEAD. This determines the type of operation that is sent to each back-end servergroup for health checking unless otherwise stated in each servergroup's Health Check configuration tab. See ServerGroup Health Check 6.4.9. Note that using the HEAD operation makes more sense to keep down network traffic overheads.
- **Timeout** The maximum time in seconds that Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will wait for one health check request to be answered. Once this timeout has been exceeded and no response has been received from the back-end, the operation is considered to have failed. By default this is 20.
- **Number of iterations** How many times within a health check operation the request should be repeated. By default this is 3.

The final section in the configuration panel requires that you provide the URL that should be used to query the HTTP server. This URL will be queried using the Operation type that is specified for the health monitor. As long as the Health Monitoring process receives a response code of 200, the server will be considered to be 'up'.

4.4 The Administration Port

The administration port is an optional feature of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server that provides an alternative port and infrastructure capable of accepting LDAP requests that will provide an administrator with the ability to change the behavior of a running instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. In order to do this, the administrator will need to connect to the port using a set of predefined credentials.

Currently, the administration port is used to perform a graceful shutdown of a running instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, as well as to provide the facility to display some basic running statistics. The administration port is also capable of accepting requests to change the log-levels on the fly. This part of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server is under active development, and future releases are likely to have new functionality provided by this port.

4.4.1 Graceful shutdown

Graceful shutdown is a process used for sending a shutdown signal to a running instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, that will try to resolve all pending requests before killing the running process.

The graceful shutdown process is triggered by sending an LDAP_ADD request with the credentials configured in the admin port to a virtual entry with *cn=gracefulshutdown* as DN. The ADD operation can have an additional attribute called *shutdowntime* with a value that will control the maximum number of seconds that the running instance will wait for all requests to be processed before terminating. If the *shutdowntime* attribute is not included in the ADD request, the predefined configuration value will be used. If a *shutdowntime* value has not been defined in the configuration and this attribute has not been passed to the running Symlabs Virtual Directory Server in the ADD request, a default value of 240 seconds (4 minutes) will be used.

When a graceful shutdown request is received by a running instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, all of the listeners attached to that instance are closed, so that no new requests are accepted by it. The graceful shutdown process then starts checking periodically for the number of pending requests that the process has not yet sent a response to. It will do this until the number of pending responses reaches 0, or until the maximum number of seconds defined by the shutdowntime variable have passed. At this point the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server process is terminated.

The graceful shutdown can be initiated manually by sending an LDAP request as explained above, but as an alternative, DSGUI is also capable of triggering a graceful shutdown process using the Menu as explained in (The Toolbar 3.2.2)

As the administration port provides a facility to remotely terminate the service provided by an instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, it is recommended that for production environments you change the credentials used to access this facility. This can be done by editing the Bind DN and Password fields in the Administration Port panel for the configuration, as described below.

4.4.2 Statistics

The administration port offers a simple method for getting some basic statistics from a running instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. These statistics can be viewed from within the DSGUI, or can be accessed directly using LDAP requests.

By sending an LDAP_SEARCH request, with the appropriate credentials, to the administration port using *cn=stats* as base with the scope set to 'base' (filter, attribute lists etc. are ignored) a collection of statistics will be returned as a single LDAP entry. The statistics are collected using the *dsconfig_query_shuffler* dsproxy API function (See Symlabs Virtual Directory Server developer manual for details), and offer the following fields:

Active Listeners Number of listeners accepting requests

Open Frontends Number of open clients to listener connections

Open Backends Number of connections opened between Symlabs Virtual Directory Server and backend data repositories

Backends with outstanding requests Number of backend connections that are waiting for responses from data repositories

Outstanding requests Number of requests across the whole instance that are waiting for responses from Backends.

These statistics can also be viewed directly from within the DSGUI, by viewing the Administration Port configuration panel for the running instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. This offers a convenient way of viewing the statistics for a running instance by simply clicking on the "Statistics" button.

Note that it is possible to obtain additional statistical information through the Administration Port by making use of particular plugins, like the LDAP Statistics Generator (LDAPStats) plugin.

4.4.3 Controlling Log Levels for live instances

As of version 5 of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, it is possible to change the verbosity of log output while an instance is running. This is achieved by sending a MODIFY request to the administration port, which will update the log level in the global hash for the service that requires a change in log verbosity. In order for this facility to work, the administration port naturally needs to be enabled and running alongside the instance.

All log level settings for the various components that make up a configuration provide a 'slider' which allows you to set the verbosity of the logging output. Options range from 'Critical' on the left, through to 'Dump' on the right of the slider. Critical messages will always show in the logs, however the logging output for any component can be increased gradually by moving the slider toward the right.

On the right of each log-level slider is an 'Apply Now' button. This button will generally be greyed out. If the administration port is enabled and the instance is running, and you make a change to the log level for any component in the configuration, the 'Apply Now' button will become available. Clicking on this button will send a MODIFY request to the administration port to update the log level for that component within the configuration. The change to the configuration will be instantly affected on the running instance, allowing you to alter the debug level while an instance is running to improve your ability to debug any possible problems with a particular configuration.

4.4.4 The Administration Port configuration panel

The Administration Port configuration panel is used to set the parameters that control the administration port, and also to view statistical information directly.

The following fields can be configured:

- **Enable / Disable Admin Port** This check box controls whether the instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will provide the Administration Port functionality at all.
- **Debug Level** If you want to enable debugging of admin port functionality, you may specify the debug level here by changing the position of the slider to increase log verbosity. Please also see the section on Debug Logs 4.4.3 for live instances.
- **Bind DN** In this field, you are able to set the credentials to be used when connecting to the admin port to issue commands or get data.
- **Port** This value is the TCP Port that you wish the Administration Port to be available on. It must not be in use by any other application.
- **Password** Password to validate the admin port user credentials.
- **Enable** / **Disable Graceful shutdown** This setting determines whether the graceful shutdown functionality will be available on this instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server.
- **Maximum wait (seconds)** This is used to set the *shutdowntime* variable (explained in previous section) if a gracefulshutdown request does not specify a value.

ldministration		ion						
OK Cance	Help							
Administratio	on Paramete	rs						
🖌 Enable Ad	ministration	n Listener						
Bind DN	cn=DEadmi	n						
Port	9990							
Pass word								Show Password
Debug Level								
Critical	Warning	Info	Trace	Processing	PDU	Debug	Dur	Apply New
Graceful Shut	tdown							
	aceful Shuto n wait (secor							
On the fly de		l change						
Administratio	-							
	on statistics							
Statistics								

Figure 4.8: The Administration Port Configuration Panel

- **On-the-fly debug level change** This check box controls whether or not it is possible to change debug levels for configuration components while the instance is running. If enabled, changes to debug levels in DSGUI can be applied to a running instance directly through the admin port to effect an immediate change.
- **Statistics button** This button will trigger a statistic collection query to the running instance and will present the results in the text area beneath it.

Chapter 5

INPUT

The Input section of a configuration defines how Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will interact with the client applications that connect and then send requests to it. For this purpose, input channels are created in Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. These input channels are called **listeners**.

Input



Figure 5.1: Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Input

A *listener* is an entity that listens on a port and accepts connections, also called sessions. A listener is therefore the "front door" through which client requests arrive.

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server supports multiple types of listeners based on various protocols. At least one listener needs to be active for Symlabs Virtual Directory Server to be used by client applications. Multiple listeners, either using the same or different protocols, can be active as long as they are on different ports and/or IP addresses.

Listeners also define what kind of processing is performed on incoming requests. Once a Processing Stage has been defined in the Processing node of the configuration, it can be attached to a particular listener so that requests that come in on this port undergo some form of processing directly by Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. Creating Processing Stages is discussed more thoroughly in the PROCESSING 7 chapter.

For each listener, a default server group can be assigned to process requests if a processing stage script attached to the listener does not set a destination for these requests or simply to route traffic to a destination if no processing is to be performed on requests coming into the listener.

As an alternative to providing a default server group, a "virtual tree" can be constructed and attached to a listener. This virtual tree will be presented to any client that connects to the listener. The virtual tree can contain virtual mount points, onto which a DN in a defined servergroup can be mounted or attached. This provides the possibility of constructing a single virtual tree that is comprised of nodes from a variety of backend servergroups, to present a single unified view of the data. This facility is discussed at length in this chapter, particularly in the section How To Use Virtual Trees 5.3.

5.1 Creating a Listener

In order for your Symlabs Virtual Directory Server configuration to do anything useful, you will need to create at least one *listener*. To do this, select the node called *Input* in the tree navigator and do either one of the following:

- Click on the *New Listener* button in the configuration panel
- Right-click on the Input node in the tree Navigator
- Select New Listener from the Entry menu

You will then be asked for the name of your new listener, and a listener node will be created in the tree. Once you have done this, select your new listener node in the Navigator to configure it.

5.2 Listener Configuration

Each listener must be configured with a unique name. This name is set when the listener is created, but can be changed within the configuration panel. If you attempt to create a listener with an existing name, a warning dialog will pop up and you will be prevented from creating the listener.

The listener configuration panel is split into several parts indicated using tabs. The first tab is used to define the main configuration of listener-specific parameters. The second (optional) tab is used for the definition of the SSL parameters that the listener will use for listeners using a TLS (LDAPS and HTTPS) layer. The third tab (optional) will allow you to enable SASL/GSSAPI support on the listener interface. The fourth tab allows you to list processing stages that packets can be routed to before going out to a server group. And finally, a fifth tab is used to configure options specific to the use of virtual trees.

5.2.1 Main Listener Properties

In the first tab, entitled "Main Listener Properties", you will need to set the properties that describe the listener, such as the protocol, the port, and a number of other options that control the listener's behavior.

Protocol

Select the protocol that the listener should support from the combo box. Some protocols will disable some of the other required configuration parameters in this panel, as they will no longer be relevant. For instance, for protocols not using TLS, such as 'LDAP' or 'HTTP', the options on the SSL tab will be greyed out as they are not relevant to these protocols.

Main Listener Proper	ties Canonicalization SSL SASL Attached Stages Virtual Tree
Connection Propertie	s
Protocol	Idap 🗸
Listen Port	3890
Listen Address	
Client Address	
Client Mask	0.0 💌
TCP Back Log	100
FE Timeout	
Use Default FE T	imeout
O Use FE Timeout	of O Seconds
-Routing Information-	
Default Server Gro	up sg0neCorp 🗸 Clear
O Virtual Tree	New Virtual Entry Root New Virtual Mount Point Root

SVMLABS

Figure 5.2: Main Listener Properties

Listen port

This configures the TCP/UDP port that this listener will use to receive protocol requests from clients. As the name implies, a listener will "listen" on the port that you specify here for traffic coming from client applications. A valid port number must be entered here. Port numbers can in theory be between 1-65534, however there are some limitations, depending on your operating system. Many port numbers may already be reserved for other applications that actively use them. For example, if you already have an LDAP server running on your system, this server will probably be already running on port 389. If you specify "389" here as well, there will be a conflict, and the application started last (which may be, in this case, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server) will not work as expected. On UNIX systems Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will not be allowed to open the port, and the instance will just fail to start. On Windows systems, however, the instance will seem to start normally, but requests sent to the conflicting port will be accepted by the application that is already bound and listening on the specified port. As a result, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will not receive anything until the fist application "frees" the port or stops running.

Another limitation, on UNIX systems, is that only the super-user (root) is allowed to listen on ports below 1024. If you are starting Symlabs Virtual Directory Server as a non-root user, you will have to use ports higher than 1024 or the instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will not run.

Finally, if you are going to create multiple listeners in an instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, they will either need the port number to be different in each case, or the Listen Address will need to be specified as a differing IP address for each listener.

An important thing to note here, is that if you have multiple configurations open and listeners have been set up for each configuration using the same port numbers, you will only be able to run one configuration at a time, as the ports will conflict.

Listen Address

By default, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server listens on the port specified in the Listen Port Field on all IP addresses used for your system. If your system has multiple IP addresses, any of these IP addresses can be used to connect to the listening port.

On some systems, this is not desirable. If you want to listen only on a specific IP address, you can specify this address in this field, and Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will only listen on the IP address entered here. If you want to selectively listen on some IP addresses, but not on others, you will need to create multiple listeners - each of them listening to the same port but on a different IP address.

This parameter is optional. If you leave this field blank, or enter "0.0.0.0" in this field, the behavior will be for Symlabs Virtual Directory Server to listen on all IP addresses for this port.

Client Address / Mask

By default, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will accept all client connections arriving on the listener port and address. However, if needed, the range of IP addresses from which incoming requests will be accepted can be filtered using these two configuration parameters.

These parameters work as any other IP address / mask combination, so if for example you want to accept only queries that arrive from IP addresses between 192.168.1.0 and 192.168.1.255 you should have 192.168.1.1 configured as the Client Address and 255.255.255.0 as the Client Mask.

These two parameters are optional, so if you leave them blank, the listener will accept incoming requests from everywhere.

TCP Back Log

The "TCP Back Log" parameter is only used for connection-type protocols that make use of TCP (Transmission Control Protocol), which is the underlying protocol for LDAP, HTTP, SIP, including their SSL-enabled versions. Other protocols such as Radius and SNMP are connection-less, in that they do not require a client to "connect" per se, but instead just send and receive packets without requiring a connection to be maintained. These connection-less protocols are based on UDP (User Datagram Protocol), which like TCP is part of the TCP / IP protocol suite used in the Internet. This parameter is optional. If you do not fill it out, the system defaults for the TCP Back Log will apply. This parameter, as described above, only has a meaning for connection-type protocols (LDAP, LDAPS, HTTP, HTTPS, SIP, etc). If you are not using a connection-type protocol, the parameter will be ignored.

The backlog parameter defines the maximum length that the queue of still unanswered (pending) connections may grow to. If a connection request arrives while the queue is full, the client may receive an error. Since Symlabs Virtual Directory Server is typically very efficient accepting new connections, this is usually not a parameter to be overly worried about. However, if you find that occasionally clients send a very high number of new connection requests in bursts, you may want to set this value higher than its default of 100. Be aware that increasing the value for this parameter will make Symlabs Virtual Directory Server somewhat more susceptible to denial-of-service type attacks.

FE Timeout

If "Use Default FE Timeout" is selected, this will cause the Listener to make use of the Default FE Timeout options specified in the Global Parameters for the configuration. If these are disabled in the Global Parameters, no timeout will be applied to the Listener.

By selecting the "Use FE Timeout of" option, you are able to specify the period after which an idle frontend connection will be dropped, this is controlled by providing a value in the Seconds field.

Routing Information

In this section you will be able to choose how traffic should be routed by default (i.e. where no processing directive specifies an alternative routing option). There are two options here, and they are mutually exclusive. You may either route traffic to a default servergroup, or you may route it to a predefined "virtual tree". Note that for the second option to work, you will need to define at least a Virtual Tree Root Node.

Default Servergroup This parameter specifies which back-end server group should be the default for traffic coming from this listener. Note that it is possible for processing that happens in the stages to override the back-end for any request, so this setting only specifies a default back-end to be used **if** nothing else is specified by special stage processing attached to the listener.

sym**labs**

In order to make a valid selection here, you will need to have at least one server group defined under the Output node of the configuration. Remember that server groups contain at least one or more servers that are assumed to be equivalent. You can read more about server groups in the OUTPUT 6 chapter.

Virtual Tree Symlabs Virtual Directory Server supports the ability to define a virtual tree for any listener. This allows you to design a completely virtual directory that will be presented to any client connecting to the listener. This facility allows you to completely abstract the data stored in any backend servergroups so that a client is only aware of the directory information that you have set out to present. In general this facility would only be used for listeners that have been configured for the LDAP/S protocol. Although it might be possible to use a Virtual Tree with an alternate protocol such as HTTP (if building an HTTP to LDAP bridge) if you perform the appropriate processing in a stage before the Virtual Tree is implemented (see the section Attached Stages 5.2.6). However, the complexity of such a solution would be an advanced topic and may require support from Symlabs.

In order to use this facility, you will need to create a Virtual Root for your tree and then construct virtual nodes as you require. Finally, if you wish to include data stored within external repositories, you will need to create virtual mountpoints, that can be used to import the data into your virtual tree. The 'New Virtual Root' button can be used to start constructing your virtual tree. The 'New Virtual Mount Point Root' button can be used to create a virtual root that maps directly onto a DN within a particular ServerGroup.

Please see the section How To Use Virtual Trees 5.3 for more information.

5.2.2 Canonicalization

This tab is only meaningful when the LDAP or LDAPS protocol is defined for this listener. Otherwise, this section will be inactive and unused. It is possible for Symlabs Virtual Directory Server to canonicalize entries coming into Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. Canonicalization basically means:

- 1. Trimming spurious whitespaces (i.e. removing whitespaces between DN elements and the commas separating them)
- 2. Converting attribute names into lowercase

Canonicalization can be very helpful when processing entries. The LDAP model specifies that all LDAP attribute names are to be treated in a case-insensitive way. Well-behaved LDAP clients will have no problem with canonicalization, although there are a few LDAP clients out there who, contrary to the standard, will not recognize LDAP attributes in a case-insensitive way. If problems arise with your client applications that point to this type of behavior, you may want to disable canonicalization or alternatively you can select the check-box which allows you to 'Canonicalize DN only for processing stages'. If this option is checked, the DN in each PDU will only be canonicalized as it moves through the processing engine, and will be converted back to its original form before it is sent either to the ServerGroup or client that it is destined for. While the PDU moves through the processing engine, the original DN will be stored within the PDU hash for use later.

Canonicalization of Attribute Names

Several check boxes exist in this section to allow you to switch on canonicalization of attribute names for certain requests, and optionally in search filters or distinguished names (DNs).

Remember that canonicalization of attribute names is considered safe by the data model, however there may be applications that are not prepared for this.



Main Listener Properties Canonicalization SSL SASL	Attached Stages Virtual Tree
Canonicalization (convert to lower case, strip extra spaces) —	
Canonicalize DN only for Processing Stages 🖌	
Attribute Names	Attribute Values
Add/Modify Requests Filters	Compare Values
Search Responses 🔽 DNs	Filters
Search Requests New RDN	🖌 DNs
Compare Requests Clear All	New RDN Clear All

Figure 5.3: Canonicalization Options

Canonicalization of Attribute Values

Canonicalization of attribute values is **not necessarily** safe, because the LDAP data model mandates case insensitivity only for attribute names (aka "attribute types"), and not for attribute values. However, under certain circumstances you may want to enable canonicalization for attribute values in search filters and distinguished names (DNs) as well. The left side of the canonicalization panel allows you to configure this.

Clear Canonicalization Button

By clicking on the "Clear Canonicalization" Button you will remove all selected canonicalization options.

5.2.3 SSL Parameters

Please also refer to the *Symlabs Virtual Directory Server and LDAP Proxy SSL Guide* for more information on configuring TLS/SSL. This guide will help to provide you with a better understanding of TLS/SSL and the options that are available to you.

				Virtual Tree	
					Select
					Select
SSLv2/v3/TL	א 🔾 ד איז איז	1 🔾 SSLv3	only 🔘 SSLv2 o	only	
🖲 none	🔵 fail	🔵 presei	nt		
					● \$SLv2/v3/TLS ○ TLSv1 ○ SSLv3 only ○ SSLv2 only ● none ○ fail ○ present

Figure 5.4: Listener SSL options

This tab is used to define all parameters regarding SSL, should you have selected a protocol that uses SSL-type encryption, such as LDAPS or HTTPS. The following parameters can be configured for SSL:

SSL Certificate

The SSL certificate path only needs to be filled in if you have selected an SSL-type protocol (i.e. LDAPS, HTTPS, etc.). For configuring SSL-type protocols, you must select a file that contains both the certificate and the private key concatenated into one file. Both must be in PEM format (i.e. base64 encoded). The private key must not be encrypted as there will not be any opportunity to supply a password when the server starts. You should use file system permissions to protect the privacy of the private key. If your private key is encrypted, you can remove the encryption using the following UNIX commands:

openssl rsa -in key.pem -out keyout.pem chmod a-w key.pem chmod -r ...

If you do not have a certificate you should obtain one from a certificate authority. Ask them to supply it in format suitable for Apache or OpenSSL (i.e. the PEM format). If, for some reason, it is supplied to you in some other format, you may be able to convert it to the correct format using OpenSSL. Please read the *openssl* manual pages for details.

For testing purposes, you can also generate your own self signed certificate, on UNIX systems, with the following commands:

```
openssl req -new -x509 -nodes -keyout pkey.pem -out cert.pem cat cert.pem pkey.pem >certpkey.pem
```

lf Windows OpenSSL does you user, the Project link are а provide а (http://www.openssl.org/related/binaries.html) to a binary installer of the openssl software for Windows. You may find that you are able to use this software to perform the tasks mentioned above on a Windows based operating system.

There is a small information icon to the right of the text area that displays a new window with a partial text description of the certificate information (Subject, Issuer, Validity Times and Usage). This information might be useful for troubleshooting SSL related issues.

CA Certificate

The path to the CA (certification authorities) certificates file that will be used to validated certificated presented to the listener. This should also be in PEM format.

There is a small information icon to the right of the text area that displays a new window with a partial text description of the certificate information (Subject, Issuer, Validity Times and Usage). This information might be useful to troubleshoot SSL related issues. For the CA certificate, the area contains the information for the certificates of each of the certificate authorities that are contained in the CA file.

Supported Ciphers

Since Symlabs Virtual Directory Server uses OpenSSL, you can use this parameter to specify a list of specific ciphers that OpenSSL should use. In order to find out about the ciphers supported by OpenSSL, you can type the following command:

openssl ciphers -v

By default, this field is empty. You need only use it if you need to specifically restrict the ciphers used.

SSL Version

By default, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will allow connections to use SSL version 2 and 3, and TLS version 1. You can override this behavior by specifying the allowed SSL or TLS versions using the radio buttons.

Client certificate validation

Controls the behavior of the listener regarding the client certificate. There are four different possible values for this field:

none No client certificate is requested, and mutual/bilateral authentication is disabled.

- fail The client certificated is requested. If the client presents a certificate, the certificate is validated. If the certificate is not valid, the errors are logged and the connection is terminated.
- **present** The client certificate is requested. If the client does not present a certificate, or the certificate is not valid, the connection will be terminated, and the reason logged.

5.2.4 SASL Parameters

It is important that you are aware that in order for the SASL interface to work, you should have the appropriate Kerberos libraries installed and properly configured. For Windows systems, we recommend that you also install MIT's Kerberos for Windows. For Linux systems, you must install MIT's Kerberos Libraries and tools, to ensure that your system is capable of using Kerberos. Please also refer to the *Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Guide to SASL, GSSAPI and Kerberos*, for more information on configuring SASL. This guide will help to provide you with a better understanding of SASL, GSSAPI and Kerberos, and the options that are available to you.

When a SASL bind is completed, one important parameter is obtained. It is the Client Name, which is the Principal that sent the operation as client. This information is stored in the BIND_DN entry of subsequent pdus to allow access control.

Figure 5.5: Listener SASL Options

This tab is used to define all parameters to configure SASL/GSSAPI support on a Listener interface. Options presented here include:

- **SASL Mechanism** This will be used in future to choose a different SASL Mechanism such as DIGEST-MD5. Currently only GSSAPI is supported
- **Confidentiality Mode** with this setting it is possible to specify the mode in which the confidentiality of the communication will be handled. there are three values to choose from:
 - negotiate: either integrity or privacy will be accepted. this is the default setting.
 - integrity: only integrity will be offered and accepted.
 - privacy: only privacy will be offered and accepted.

Acquire client delegated credentials With this option selected, whenever an incoming SASL connection is processed, VDS will try to obtain delegated SASL credentials sent by the client. These credentials are stored in the session and can be used later to open a SASL connection to the backend (provided the Enable client delegation option is active)

5.2.5 SPNEGO Parameters

The SPNEGO Parameters are to HTTP what the SASL Parameters are to LDAP: The place where a listener can be configured to support SPNEGO(Negotiate)/GSSAPI/Kerberos communication. However the Kerberos support at HTTP listeners is simpler, since it is used just as an authentication method, while in LDAP it is also used to cipher the operations.

This support for Kerberos authentication in an Active Directory environment is often referred to as "Integrated Windows Authentication" (IWA).

As before, it is important that you are aware that in order for the Kerberos interface to work, you should have the appropriate Kerberos libraries installed and properly configured. For Windows systems, we recommend that you also install MIT's Kerberos for Windows. For Linux systems, you must install MIT's Kerberos Libraries and tools, to ensure that your system is capable of using Kerberos. Please also refer to the *Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Guide to SASL, GSSAPI and Kerberos*, for more information on configuring Kerberos. This guide will help to provide you with a better understanding of SASL, GSSAPI and Kerberos, and the options that are available to you.

An important difference is that while in LDAP the Kerberos support is an extended capability of the listener, in the sense that it can still receive and process simple LDAP operations, in HTTP when Kerberos is activated it will be required and if the authentication is not successful, the operation will be rejected.

This tab will be used to define all parameters to configure SPNEGO/Kerberos support on a HTTP Listener interface.

When a SPNEGO authentication is completed, one important parameter is obtained. It is the Client Name, which is the Principal that sent the operation as client. This information is stored in the CLNAME entry of the pdu to allow access control.

5.2.6 Stages attached to this Listener

By selecting the tab called "Attached stages" you are able to attach different processing stages that you have defined to the current listener. The layout of this tab will depend on which Routing option you have selected for the listener. If you have selected to make use of a Default ServerGroup you will see a table of stages that will be processed for each and every packet received by this listener. Packets will be processed by stages in the order that they were received, and the stages will be applied in the order that they are listed. Note that once a stage has been attached to a listener, all packets received by the listener will be passed on to the stage to be processed. If there are particular packets that you do not want processed, you will need to filter these using the condition options within each attached processing plugin or hook.

Main Listener Properties	Canonicalization	SSL SASL	Attached Stages	Virtual Tree			
le Stages Pipeline							
Stage							
Logging							
<double-click define="" to=""></double-click>							





If you have selected to make use of Virtual Trees, this tab will display two separate tables. These tables allow you to define where processing takes place on either side of the virtual tree. That is to say, you can either select to attach a processing stage that occurs on the client-side of the virtual tree; or you can attach a processing stage that occurs on the server-side of the virtual tree. The rules for these tables are essentially the same in that each processing stage is handled sequentially (unless a processing directive or filter determines that some other action should take place). When designing your solution and in determining how processing should be ordered, it may be useful to think of the Virtual Tree as a processing stage in itself. You can then visualize at which stage the processing to create the virtual tree would take place in relation to other processing stages that you may define. For example, if you have a processing stage that logs incoming requests, you are likely to place this stage *before* the Virtual Tree. On the other hand, if you have created a processing stage which performs some form of attribute mapping for requests to a particular ServerGroup you would most likely place this stage *after* the Virtual Tree.

Main Listener Properties Canonicalization SSL	SASL Attached Stages Virtual Tree			
🥘 Pre Virtual Tree Stages	Post Virtual Tree Stages			
Stage	Stage			
Logging	<double-click define="" to=""></double-click>			
<double-click define="" to=""></double-click>				
	1			

Figure 5.7: Stages attached to this Listener for a Virtual Tree

In order to attach a processing stages to a listener, you need to have created the stage in the processing section of the configuration already. If you have not done this yet, create new processing stages following the instructions in the PROCESSING 7 chapter, and then revisit this configuration panel later to attach them to your listener.

By default, any tables in this tab will be empty as no stages have been attached to the listener. The tables that you see will only have one field entitled "double-click to define". By double-clicking into the field, a combo-box will pop up allowing you to select the stage that you want to attach. As soon as you've attached a stage, this will be reflected in the table.

The option to attach a new stage is always available at the bottom of the table. If you have incorrectly selected a stage, you can change it by double-clicking on it and selecting a different one from the list.

Processing stages that have not been attached to any listener within a configuration will be highlighted in red under the Processing section of the configuration within the configuration Navigator. This sould help to quickly identify any pieces of configured functionality that will be inactive within a running configuration.

Deleting a stage from the list

If you want to delete a stage, click the right mouse button over it. A pop-up menu will appear. Select "Delete Stage". The stage is then deleted from the table. Keep in mind that this will **not** delete the actual stage itself - it will merely detach the stage from your listener.

Inserting a stage in the middle

If you want to attach a stage at a particular point in the table, you can use the pop-up menu to insert a blank field before or after a specific stage. Right click on a stage in the list, and then select "Insert Before" or "Insert After" from the pop-up menu. Once you have done this, an empty stage will appear as specified. You can double click on this row in the table to select the appropriate stage to be used here.

Main Lister	er Properties	Canonicalizat	ion SSL	SASL Attached	Stages Vii	rtual Tree	
Debug Leve	el						
Critical	Warning	Info	Trace	Processing	PDU	Debug	Dump
Options —							
Skip pd	lu with destinat	ion 🖌 🦉	Store frontend	credentials 🔽	Propaga	te controls 🛛 🖌	
Pass word \	alidation						
Pas s wo	ord attribute for	virtual entries					
Hide pa	ass word on resp	oonses	~				
Entry Excep	otions						
	Entry DN	/ Credentials			Server G	roup	
Administrat	tor			ActiveDirectory			
Branch Exco	eptions						
	Bra	anch DN			Server G	roup	

SVMLABS

Figure 5.8: Virtual Tree Properties

5.2.7 Virtual Tree

The Virtual Tree tab can be used to set the debug level for the Virtual Tree functionality, and to define exceptions where the virtual tree functionality will not be used if it is enabled.

The following parameters can be configured in this section:

Debug Level can be set for this plugin by dragging the slider to the level of verbosity that you require.

- Skip PDU with destination for PDUs that have a _SERVERGROUP_, _DATASOURCE_ or _BACKEND_ type magic key defined in the PDU hash, usually due to some previous processing by a scriptlet. If this option is not checked, the PDU will be processed by the virtual tree and if the destination is not resolved, the PDU will not be delivered to the intended servergroup and an error will be returned.
- Store frontend credentials will allow the virtual tree to store credentials used to connect to the frontend for a BIND request. While Virtual Trees support BIND operations, the credentials that are stored for a session can either be the credentials used to authenticate against a backend, or the credentials that are used to connect to the virtual tree (by the client application). This is particularly useful when defining ACL rules, as you may wish to control access using the virtual DN that is used to perform a BIND via the virtual tree.
- **Password attribute for virtual entries** allows you to define which attribute should be used to validate a BIND request for an entry within a virtual tree. This attribute applies to all entries within the virtual tree, so you can only select one attribute across the tree to store the password.
- **Hide password on responses** will prevent the specified password attribute from being returned in the results for any search request.
- **Entry Exceptions** are defined by providing the credential DN or entry DN and the ServerGroup to which the request should be forwarded. You may need this if particular credentials (such as your administrator credentials) are stored outside of the tree offered by your server. Moreover, it is recommended that at minimum, you provide an entry here for searches on empty bases. To do this, simply leave the Base DN field empty and provide a default ServerGroup to forward the request to. This means that queries on the rootDSE will be forwarded to a particular ServerGroup and will be handled by that ServerGroup. Alternatively, you could resolve searches on an empty base by making use of a processing stage invoked

before the virtual tree and including processing functionality to handle rootDSE searches, such as the RootDSE Plugin.

Branch Exceptions are defined by providing the branch DN and the ServerGroup that should be used to forward the requests that match this suffix. For example, if you still want requests to go to your original tree structure you will need to create at exception for your original domain name.

5.3 How To Use Virtual Trees

While Symlabs Virtual Directory Server supports the ability to define a virtual tree for any listener, it is not compulsory to make use of this facility when defining a configuration. In fact, a large number of configurations will not use this facility and will simply make use of the routing capabilities built into the core engine and defined within customized scripts within the processing layer to handle how requests and responses move through the system. However, Virtual Trees can significantly reduce frustration when attempting to create a solution that presents a virtual view of data stored across a multitude of repositories.

The facility is essentially provided by a built-in plugin that functions in such a way as to allow you to completely abstract the data stored in any backend servergroups so that a client is only aware of the directory information that you set out to present. Technically, it is possible to create a working configuration that only makes use of a listener and a virtual tree, and does not present any data stored within a directory in a ServerGroup. However the functionality of such a configuration would be exceedingly limited and would serve little purpose. In most cases, the plugin will be configured to present a virtual tree structure that can be used to mount data structures stored within different directories.



Figure 5.9: A virtual tree can be constructed to represent an organizational unity.

In the figure presented here, the virtual tree is constructed to represent an organizational unity. Directory trees stored on different servergroups can then be 'mounted' onto nodes within the virtual tree. In this example, the virtual node ou=org1,o=unitedorg maps onto ou=People,o=org1 in ServerGroup1, ou=org2,o=unitedorg maps onto ou=People,o=org2 in ServerGroup2 etc.

This facility is commonly used in environments where discrete entities or organizations may work together in some form of federation or unity. While each organization or entity may control their own servers and core data, all members of the federation or unity may want to access a central point that contains information for all members. In earlier versions of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, this was easily achieved using the Attach Trees plugin; however, this resulted in each attached tree appearing as a subsidiary of a Default ServerGroup. Using Virtual Trees you can now create a new virtual tree that all ServerGroup entities can belong to equally, effectively creating a new virtual directory containing entries populated from one or more directories.

5.3.1 Building a tree on a listener

In order to define a virtual tree for a listener within the DSGUI configurator, go to the Main Listener Properties tab within the Listener configuration panel and select the 'Virtual Tree' option in the Routing Information box, then click on the 'New Virtual Root' button. Alternatively, you can right click on the listener entry in the navigator tree and select the option to create a 'New Virtual Root', but you will need to ensure that the Routing Information option is set to use a Virtual Tree. A dialog box will appear which will allow you to specify the root DN for your virtual tree. Once you have entered this detail, the root DN will be listed within the navigator tree beneath the specified listener. You will need to edit this entry to provide basic ObjectClass attribute values, the Naming Attribute for the RDN pair, and any other attributes that may be specific to the schema that your client applications may expect.

Once a Virtual Root has been defined in your configuration, you can add a new virtual entry by right clicking on the virtual root that you have created and selecting the option to create a 'New Virtual Entry'. For each virtual entry that you create you will need to also define an attribute for the Naming Attribute of the RDN and the ObjectClass.



Figure 5.10: A virtual tree is attached to a listener and includes a Virtual Entry as well as a number of Mount Points.

Using these tools, you will be able to create an LDAP tree within which you will be able to present particular data stored within your backend repositories. Additionally, you can create static entries within your virtual tree as you require.

It may be useful to note, at this point, that canonicalization is automatically applied to all virtual tree nodes, so that all requests are automatically converted to lower case, essentially rendering the Virtual Tree as case-insensitive.

Once you have set up your backend servergroups, you will be able to create "Mount Points" within your tree. Each Mount Point must map onto an available DN within a predefined ServerGroup. To create a mount point, simply right click on a virtual entry and select the option to create a 'New mount point'. You will need to specify an RDN for your mount point. Once you have created a mount point, you will need to specify the ServerGroup that should be used for the mapping, and the DN that should be queried within that ServerGroup.

As incoming LDAP requests are intercepted by the listener, they are decoded and the DN for each request is read directly from the PDU. If a search request contains a mount point, a subquery is generated to retrieve the

data from the appropriate DN on the appropriate ServerGroup. These responses are then manipulated so that they appear to conform to the structure of the virtual tree. The responses are finally returned to the client.

5.3.2 Mount Point Roots

An alternate approach to building a Virtual Tree can be taken by creating a Mount Point Root. This approach allows you to build a Virtual Tree structure using one of your backend servers as the core of the virtual tree. A Mount Point Root can be created in a similar way to a Virtual Root, with the difference that it allows you to specify the backend server and base DN that will be used to create the virtual tree. Once configured, any query on the Virtual Tree will be transformed into a query within the DIT structure on the backend server. The advantage is that you can quickly add other Mount Points and Virtual Entries to the Virtual Tree, allowing you to easily integrate data from other backend servers or branches within the directory. You are also able to use plugins within processing stages, either in front of the virtual tree, or behind it, to further manipulate how data is presented and how requests and responses are handled.

This approach is similar to specifying a Default Server Group and then using a set of processing stages to achieve the functionality that you require. Certainly building a virtual tree around a Mount Point Root is no different to creating a Listener with a default ServerGroup and then implementing processing stages that use the Attach Trees and Add Entries plugins. However, by creating a Virtual Tree around a Mount Point Root you can achieve much of this functionality in a single point within your configuration and without using a collection of plugins to achieve the blueprint against which you want to add more complex processing functionalities.

5.3.3 Mount Points and Virtual Entries inside of existing Mount Points

It is possible to create a Virtual Entry or to add a Mount Point as a child node within a Mount Point that you have already created. This is a very powerful feature but is not without its own drawbacks. Depending on the data stored below the parent Mount Point, you may need to add a Manual Processing stage to intercept redundant searches that could cause one of the Backend systems to return an untruthful error message, since the Backend system used by the parent Mount Point will be unaware of the virtual contents contained within the virtual branch.

5.3.4 How searches below the root base are treated

An interesting behavior that results from the use of a Virtual Tree is the manner in which searches below the root base are treated. Consider a Virtual Tree with its virtual root set to "dc=symlabs,dc=com". In the case of a level one search on the base DN "dc=com", Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will return a result populated with "dc=symlabs,dc=com". In the case of a subtree search on the base DN "dc=com", the search will be propagated to the root and all of the results from "dc=symlabs,dc=com" will be returned.

This behavior is different from most LDAP servers in that usually a search below the root base or namingContexts will result in an error code 32, with a message like "No such object".

5.3.5 How to handle searches on the Root DSE

It is possible that an LDAP application might perform a search on the Root DSE. This is certainly true of many LDAP clients. Unfortunately, in the case of a virtual tree, the contents of the tree are virtually constructed based on various LDAP mount points. This makes it difficult to automatically determine what information should be returned for these search requests, as the attributes for the Root DSE entry may vary depending on the servers

within your different ServerGroups. As a result, a search on the Root DSE, for a virtual tree, will return an error response: "No such object".

There are a variety of ways to overcome this problem. The first option, is relatively simple as long as the tree structure (and naming contexts) of an LDAP server within one of your configured ServerGroups matches the base of your Virtual Tree. In this situation, you can simply re-route Root DSE requests directly to the ServerGroup. To do this, you can go to the "Virtual Tree" tab within the listener, and configure a Search Request Exception. The 'Base (DN)' for the entry should remain blank, and the ServerGroup that the request should be forwarded to should be selected.

An alternative approach, which is possibly more suited to more complex scenarios, would be to make use of the RootDSE plugin, included with the product. This plugin allows you to specifically define the result that will be returned for a search request on the Root DSE. To use the plugin, you will need to define an automatic processing stage and attach the plugin to this stage. The stage can then be attached to the listener on the "Attached Stages" tab of the listener configuration. Of course, as this processing activity will take place on the client side of the Virtual Tree, you should attach the processing stage in the "Pre Virtual Tree Stages" table.

Of course, it is also possible to design your own solution to handle Root DSE searches, using a manual processing stage and a custom developed script. However, this is a fairly advanced topic and we would recommend that you make use of the already available functionality.

5.3.6 Dealing with BIND requests

There are frequently instances where a particular BIND DN is stored outside of the regular tree presented by an LDAP server. Furthermore, in particular situations you may wish for certain BIND requests to be handled by a particular ServerGroup. In these situations, it is simple to add an exception under the "Virtual Tree" tab for the listener. In the "Entry Exceptions" or "Branch Exceptions" tables, simply list the BIND DN or the BIND DN suffix and the ServerGroup to which the request should be forwarded.

Naturally the Virtual Tree plugin is not aware of how you might intend to treat anonymous requests. As a result, anonymous requests will be presented with an "Invalid Credentials" error message. A quick method of circumventing this and using the settings available on a particular server is to add a Bind Request Exception for an empty Bind DN, forwarding these requests to a particular ServerGroup. Alternatively, the Add Credentials plugin included with the product, can be used to force anonymous requests to authenticate as a designated user.

Once again, it is always possible to define a custom script in a manual processing stage that will assign a DATASOURCE destination to the incoming request PDU if it has not been allocated a Bind DN. The 'Skip PDU with destination' checkbox can then be checked in the Virtual Tree tab of the listener configuration to re-route PDUs that are using an anonymous BIND. This is an advanced approach to the problem that may require you to refer to the *Developer's Reference Manual* for further scripting support.

5.3.7 Virtual Tree Sample

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server includes a sample configuration that is used to demonstrate how Virtual Trees can be used within an actual configuration. In order to make use of the sample configuration, you will need to set up a demonstration environment capable of working with the sample configuration. Please see the Samples8 section in the Plugins and Samples chapter of the User Manual for more information.

Plugins

The sample configuration makes use of the Virtual Tree component along with the Naming Context plugin. Details for the Naming Context plugin can be viewed by clicking on the Help button in the configuration panel for

this plugin.

Location

The sample configuration will be accessible within DSGUI in the Open Config dialog, by clicking on the dropdown selector at the top of the dialog window, and changing the value from 'confs' to 'samples'. The sample configuration is named:

samples.virtualtree

If you wish to view the actual LDIF file that makes up this configuration it is located in the samples folder at the root of your installation.

samples/samples.virtualtree

Objective

The scenario presented in this sample shows the definition of a virtual tree and its potential. It also includes a sample of the Naming Context plugin which is very convenient to use with a virtual tree to define its virtual naming contexts.

Virtual Trees are often used as a means to unify data stored across several different repositories in a manner that appears seamless and that provides a presentation layer where all component repositories are treated equally. Another advantage to making use of a virtual tree is that you are able to present data in a tree that potentially uses a different structure to those used by any particular component repository.

Configuration

To configure a Virtual Tree the different nodes, virtual roots and virtual entries are attached to the listener that will be responsible for serving the Virtual Tree. In the sample we have created a very simple virtual tree with a virtual root entry as 'dc=symlabs,dc=com'. Attached to the root is the virtual entry 'ou=ComercialDepartment,dc=symlabs,dc=com'. Within this virtual entry, two virtual mount points have been created. The first mount point, 'ou=clients,ou=ComercialDepartment,dc=symlabs,dc=com', will be used to attach the data stored in the DN 'ou=clients,dc=twocorp,dc=com', available from the ServerGroup 'sgTwoCorp'. The second virtual mount point or node, 'ou=sales,ou=ComercialDepartment,dc=symlabs,dc=com', will be used to attach the data stored in the DN 'ou=sales,dc=onecorp,dc=com', available from the ServerGroup 'sgOneCorp'.

In the Virtual Tree tab you can configure bind and search exceptions for cases that are not contemplated in the virtual nodes. In this sample we have defined a bind exception that will allow you to bind to the virtual tree with the credentials cn=dirmanager routing the bind request directly to sgOneCorp. You need to change this field to match the credential you will be authenticating with unless your server allows anonymous binds in which case you can leave it blank and just select the appropriate server on the right column. There is also a search exception that takes care of the rootDSE entry routing it to the server sgOneCorp.

In the Processing section you can find an Automatic Stage which holds the Naming Context plugin, the configuration of this plugin requires that you list the Naming Context and select whether you want them to be appended or overwritten.

Note that in the Attach Stages tab you can specify if the Naming Context Stage is attached to the listener before the virtual tree is implemented, or after it. In this case, it doesn't really matter on which side of the virtual tree



the Naming Context Stage appears, as it will intercept RootDSE responses and overwrite them regardless of which side of the virtual tree the plugin appears. If, on the other hand, you decided not to make exceptions for RootDSE queries and implemented the RootDSE plugin instead, this would need to be attached before the virtual tree was implemented in order to work properly.

Test

To test this sample you can perform any LDAP request to any of the virtual nodes. To test the naming context functionality you just need to query the root DSE entry by doing a base-level search with a null BaseDN, with filter (if present) objectClass=* and attribute namingcontexts. You will received dc=symlabs,dc=com as the virtual tree naming context.
Chapter 6

OUTPUT

The Output part of the configuration is used to define the connections to backend systems within your solution. Within the Output configuration, you are able to define different ServerGroups that are used to group together repositories that contain the same data (i.e. replica LDAP repositories). ServerGroups that provide built-in health-checking, load-balancing and connection pooling functionality are referred to as Automatic ServerGroups (and should be used by default in most cases). Manual ServerGroups offer a little more flexibility, but do not provide commonly used functionality out-of-the-box and you will need to develop custom supervisor scripts to manage any of this functionality if you require it. We do not recommend using Manual ServerGroups without the express support of Symlabs.

Servergroups allow you to group multiple identical repositories, to take advantage of load-balancing and failover services. The underlying proxy engine will take care of the routing of all of your backend traffic depending on the algorithms that you choose to make use of.

Usually, you will define a default ServerGroup within the Input Listener configuration, to define where traffic should be routed by default. Alternatively, if you choose to make use of a Virtual Tree, you may attach particular branches from any of your backend ServerGroups as virtual mountpoints within your Virtual Tree.

Finally, particular Processing directives may control the routing of requests to a particular ServerGroup that you have defined. For instance, the Route On Filter, Join Entries and Merge Trees plugins will all impact on the routing of requests, so that you may require multiple ServerGroups to be configured to achieve a particular solution.

6.1 What is a servergroup

The Output section of a configuration defines how Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will interact with backend data repositories. Symlabs Virtual Directory Server essentially sits between client applications and one or more back-end servers. The connections between Symlabs Virtual Directory Server and individual servers, are referred to as Output connections. As Symlabs Virtual Directory Server may be configured to perform a variety of processing stages on data requests, and also on responses, it is useful to provide a level of abstraction to the processing stages. This abstraction is provided by defining a servergroup.

Output channels in Symlabs Virtual Directory Server are defined by **servergroups**, and all data repositories (RDB servers, LDAP Directories, Web servers, etc) that a configuration will use must belong to one of these servergroups.

A **servergroup** is essentially a group of servers that share the same data and communicate using the same protocol, such as all of the replicas in an LDAP environment, or all of the Masters in a Multi-Master LDAP environment. Equally, if you have replicated servers that make use of one of the other supported service protocols (such as HTTP, Radius, etc.), these should belong to their own servergroups.





Figure 6.1: Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Output

6.2 Why use servergroups

Servergroups provide an abstraction layer between the scripts and plugins used in the processing section of the configuration and the data repositories themselves. The servergroup provides a single trivial reference point that will take care of the protocol type and the various servers for which processing should take place.

The main advantage to this approach, is that when choosing a destination for a request or functionality, all that a script needs to do is send packets to the appropriate servergroup, and Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will take care of all the functionality attached to how the information is physically deployed. This means that Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will deal with data replication, retrying a request in the case of a failure, etc.

Additionally, by logically grouping servers together, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server can manage loadbalancing and failover facilities for any particular servergroup. Furthermore, connection pooling can be enabled for any servergroup to efficiently manage the number of connections that are opened to back-end servers.

In the INPUT 5 chapter, we explained that every listener can have a default servergroup configured in the listener configuration panel (see Listener Properties 5.2.1). If this is configured for a listener, all traffic received by this listener is sent to this server group, unless a script or plugin, in the stage processing configuration, sets a different server group for specific requests.

If you choose to make use of a Virtual Tree within a listener, you will not have configured a default servergroup, as the Virtual Tree will attempt to resolve the routing of incoming PDUs to the appropriate servergroups that are mapped onto different mountpoints within the tree. In this way, the Virtual Tree can be seen as a connector between the Input and Output layer of the configuration. Nonetheless, the configuration of a Virtual Tree is able to use servergroups to easily reference particular repositories and to route traffic to them with ease.

6.3 Types of servergroups

There are two types of server group: *automatic* and *manual*. In almost all cases, automatic server groups should be used, as these include a full set of built-in functions that are easily configured, including load-balancing, fail-over, optional connection pooling and health checking facilities. Automatic servergroups can also be used

to access a table or view in a relational database and present the data as virtual branches within an LDAP environment.

Manual server groups come without any of these features built-in, and should therefore only be used if you plan on implementing your own specialized load-balancing, fail-over or connection pooling mechanism. Manual server groups will provide a lot more flexibility in terms of specialized implementations of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server and support a much wider range of protocols, but are more complicated to configure and their use is therefore discouraged.

We will provide further detail on how to configure both of these servergroup types presently, but first, to create a new server group, click on the New Server Group button or, alternatively, select the "Output" node, rightclick on it, and in the navigator select New Server Group. It is also possible to create a new servergroup by selecting the "Output" node, and then choosing New Server Group from the Entry menu.

A pop-up dialog will request the name to be used to represent the new server group. In this window, you can also select whether your servergroup should be automatic or manual. Remember that unless you **really** know what you are doing, you should refrain from using manual servergroups. Servergroups require unique names, and you will not be able to enter a name that is already in use. Servergroup names can be changed once the group has been created. Once you have created your server group, it will be listed as a node beneath the Output node in the navigation tree. Select it to load the configuration panel on the right-hand side of the GUI.

6.4 Automatic Servergroups

Automatic server groups are used to configure back-ends for Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. You can configure multiple server groups, and then configure Symlabs Virtual Directory Server to send traffic to, and fetch information from these server groups.

Automatic server groups come with a variety of built-in features, namely:

- Load-Balancing (Support available for LDAP/S and HTTP/S ServerGroups)
- Fail-Over (Support available for LDAP/S and HTTP/S ServerGroups)
- Connection Pooling (Offered only for LDAP/S. HTTP/S is not a connection based protocol and therefore does not require this facility)
- Session server affinity (Offered only for HTTP/S, where the concept of cookie-based session make sense)
- Health Checking (Support available for LDAP/S and HTTP/S ServerGroups)
- SASL/GSSAPI Support (Offered only for LDAP/S, enables GSSAPI to access LDAP/S servers protected using Kerberos)
- Database Access (Offered only for relational database types)

When configuring automatic server groups, you must first define a name and a protocol. The name field should already be populated with the name that you specified when the servergroup was created, however, if required, you are able to change it here in the future. The protocol specifies what *type* of backend service the server group actually contains: LDAP, LDAPS, HTTP, HTTPS or Relational Database. The parameters that are available for configuration within this configuration panel will change depending on which protocol you select here.

6.4.1 LDAP and LDAPS Server Groups

If you have chosen the LDAP or LDAPS protocol, you will need to specify additional information in the following tabs.

- Servers You must configure at least one server in a server group. When you configure more than one server, you will be able to make use of the built-in load-balancing or fail-over facilities, and should enable and configure Health Monitoring. Remember that all servers in the server group must be equivalent, i.e. must contain the same data and communicate using the same protocol. This means that in typical scenarios, you must enable replication between your LDAP servers. Configuring LDAP replication is beyond the scope of this document and you will need to refer to the documentation provided with your LDAP server software for instruction on how to do this.
- **SSL Certificates** If you are using SSL for LDAPS, you will need to configure SSL settings and attach the SSL certificates that you will be using in your communications.
- SASL This tab allows you to configure SASL authentication via GSSAPI for backend servers protected using Kerberos. These settings are particularly useful to interface with Active Directory, which uses Kerberos as its default authentication protocol. Note, that you should have MIT's Kerberos installed for non-Windows operating systems.
- **Reliability** / **Performance** This tab provides the options to select fail-over load-balancing or multisite services for your server group. These settings are only relevant if you have more than one server configured in your server group.
- **Connection Pooling** Using this tab you can enable or disable connection pooling. Connection pooling is described in more detail later in this section.

Health Check This tab allows you to define specific health check parameters for each server group.

6.4.2 HTTP and HTTPS Server Groups

HTTP and HTTPS automatic servergroups are configured in a similar manner to LDAP/S servergroups, with a few minor differences. You will need to specify information in the following tabs:

- **Servers** You must configure at least one server in a server group. When you configure more than one server, you will be able to make use of the built-in load-balancing or fail-over facilities. Remember that all servers in the server group must be equivalent, i.e. must contain the same data and communicate using the same protocol.
- **SSL Certificates** If you are using SSL for LDAPS, you will need to configure SSL settings and attach the SSL certificates that you will be using in your communications.
- **Reliability** / **Performance** This tab provides the options to select fail-over load-balancing or multisite services for your server group. These settings are only relevant if you have more than one server configured in your server group.
- **Session Server Affinity** Due to the way in which sessions are handled for HTTP servers, load balancing and failover handling can become complicated. If your servers do not share a single common session infrastructure, you will need to decide what should be done should a server become unavailable to a client that has a session established. This tab provides some options to deal with this type of scenario.
- **Health Check** This tab allows you to define specific health check parameters for each server group. This option differs from an LDAP health check in that it will check whether a particular URL is accessible via either an HTTP GET or HEAD request.

6.4.3 List of Servers

List of Servers in this Server Group	
Hostname/IP Address	Port
192.168.0.12	389
192.168.0.13	389

Figure 6.2: List of servers configuration tab

By selecting the tab entitled *Servers* you can define a list of servers that should be used in the servergroup. At least one server must be listed for the server group to work. If you specify more than one server, you may wish to also configure *load-balancing* or *fail-over* options on the Reliability / Performance tab, which is discussed in more detail later in this section. If you have multiple servers you should also enable and configure Health Monitoring.

To edit the list of servers within your servergroup, you can simply click into the *Host name / IP Address* table column and enter the host name or IP address of a server within the group. Click into the *port* table column and specify the TCP port that the server is listening on. A new row will automatically appear beneath the one that you are editing, to allow you to list another server, as required.

If you make use of the weighted load-balancing algorithm or make use of multisite, discussed later in this section, an additional column will be added to the server-list table called *Priority*. You will need to specify the "weight" of each server in the list to control the fraction of the traffic that the server will receive.

If you make use of SASL authentication for LDAP/S servers, discussed later in this section, an extra column will be added to the server-list table called *SPN*. You may leave these fields blank to use the default setting, or you may specify a particular SPN if you have one for a particular server in the servergroup.

6.4.4 SSL Parameters

Please also refer to the *Symlabs Virtual Directory Server and LDAP Proxy SSL Guide* for more information on configuring TLS/SSL. This guide will help to provide you with a better understanding of TLS/SSL and the options that are available to you.

ervers SSL Reliability	y/Performance	Connection	Pooling 🛛 Hea	ith Check	
Certificate Properties					
Client Certificate					1 Select
CA Certificate					Select
Optional SSL Parameters —					
Supported Ciphers					
SSL version supported	SSLv2/v3/TLS		SSLv3 only	SSLv2 only	
Server Validation	🔾 none	🔘 log	🔾 fail	match	

Figure 6.3: SSL Certificates configuration tab

If your servergroup is going to consist of servers running LDAPS (LDAP using SSL), or HTTPS (HTTP with SSL enabled), the options on the SSL Certificates tab will become available to you. You will have the option to configure the path to a client certificate that will be used to connect to the backend servers. This setting is optional.

There is a small information icon, to the right of the text area that will display a new window with a partial text description of the certificate information (Subject, Issuer, Validity Times and Usage). This information might

be useful for troubleshooting SSL related issues. For the CA certificate, the area contains information for the certificates of all of the certificate authorities that are contained in the CA file.

You will also be able to optionally specify the path to the certificate of a CA (Certification Authority). If you choose to do this, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will attempt to verify whether the certificate presented by the backend server has been signed by the CA using the public certificate, specified in the "CA Certificate Path" field. If the verification fails, the connection to the backend server will fail. However, if you leave this field blank, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will blindly trust any certificate presented by any server in the group and communications will be encrypted against this certificate.

The exact behavior of the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server for server certificate validation can be controlled with the "Server certificate validation" option, whose possible values are:

none The certificate presented by the server is blindly trusted and communications will be encrypted using the certificate presented, regardless of whether it can be validated against a CA or not. This is useful if you are using self-signed certificates.

log Like none, but the engine will write an error log if the verification process fails.

fail If the certificate verification process fails, then the connection is closed.

match Line fail, but the subject of the certificate is also checked, closing the connection if it does not match.

IMPORTANT!

SSL Certificates issued by a Windows Certificate Authority (the common way to create an SSL certificate for a Domain Controller) are made with the hostname in uppercase inside the Subject of the certificate. For example, the hostname will appear as follows:

CN=W2K3DCQA.symlabsqa.net

When working with Windows certificates, it is very important that you check how the hostname is stored within the certificate, as the certificate validation process within the core engine treats this data in a case-sensitive manner.

Therefore, when using SSL for backend connections, if you decide to use the match validation option, you should enter the server hostname into the "Hostname/IP Address" field on the Servers tab of a ServerGroup, EXACTLY as it appears within the certificate. So, in this example case, you would enter the hostname as:

W2K3DCQA.symlabsqa.net

This is very important, or the certificate will not validate due to the hostname match failure. In general, it is better to ensure that the hostname matches identically anyway, in case you decide to change your validation options in the future.

It is also important to understand that while Windows does not generally treat hostnames in a case-sensitive manner, Linux and Unix systems do. This means that if you are running your LDAP Proxy or Virtual Directory Server instance on a Linux or Unix system, you should ensure that the hostname specified in this way can actually be resolved. If not, you may need to edit your hosts file in /etc/hosts.

6.4.5 SASL

The SASL tab is used to enable and configure the GSSAPI parameters used when a connection is opened to backend servers within a servergroup.

It is important that you are aware that in order for the SASL interface to work in Linux systems, you should have the appropriate Kerberos libraries installed and properly configured. You must install MIT's Kerberos Libraries and tools, to ensure that your system is capable of using Kerberos. In Windows systems VDS is distributed with a library developed by Symlabs, so there is no need to install additional software. For more information on SASL, GSSAPI and Kerberos and how it should be configured on the different systems that make up your infrastructure, please refer to the *Virtual Directory Server Guide to SASL, GSSAPI and Kerberos* document included in the docs folder of your installation.

The SASL tab includes a checkbox that allows you to enable SASL authentication for a servergroup. It also includes a set of SASL configuration options:

- **SASL Mechanism** This will be used in future to choose a different SASL Mechanism such as DIGEST-MD5. Currently only GSSAPI is supported
- **Confidentiality Mode** Similar to the confidentiality mode option for a SASL Enabled listener, this option specifies the mode in which the confidentiality of the communication will be handled towards the servergroup. There are three possible values to choose from:
 - Negotiate: Both Integrity and Privacy are acceptable, but Privacy is preferred. This is the default option.
 - Integrity: Only Integrity will be used and the communication will not be established if not possible.
 - Privacy: Only Privacy will be used and the communication will not be established if not possible.
- **Enable client delegation** In configurations without connection pooling, if the client sent credentials for delegation it is possible to use them to open connections to the backend. In order to do this, this option must be checked, as well as Acquire client delegated credentials in the corresponding listener
- **Enable constrained delegation** This setting activates an alternative delegation method that makes use of the S4U protocol extensions to achieve delegation. The main difference is that in this case, the client does not need to forward its credentials for delegation to happen. When both delegation methods are active, the former one (client delegation) takes precedence

Servers SSL SASL Reliabili	ty/Performance Connection Pooling Health Check						
SASL Enabled 🔽	SASL Enabled 🔽						
SASL Configuration							
SASL Mechanis m	GSSAPI						
Confidentiality Mode	Privacy 💌						
Enable client delegation	v						
Enable constrained delegation	Z						

Figure 6.4: SASL configuration tab

Note that enabling SASL will add an extra column to the table of servers listed on the Server tab, the SPN column. This will allow you to specify the Service Principal Name for which tickets will be requested when initiating a security context with the backend. If this field is left empty, the default "Idap@HOST" SPN will be used. An example SPN entry might look like this: ldap@master.mydomain.com



OK Cancel Help							
Name Idap_output Protocol Idap							
Servers SSL SASL Reliability/Performance Connection Pooling Health Check							
👌 List of Servers in this Server Group							
Hostname/IP Address	Port	SPN					
master.symlabs.com	389	ldap@master.symlabs.com					

Figure 6.5: The Servers configuration tab when SASL has been enabled

Servers SSL SASL Reliability/Performance Connection Pooling Health Check						
Action when response is unavailable						
Timeout in seconds 30						
Retry forever Die if all server down Number of tries						
PDU Retries before error 30						
Reauth failure behaviour						
Keep on anonymous Close connection						
Load Balancing / Fail Over Properties						
● Fail-over 🔾 Load-Balancing 🔾 Multisite						
- Fail-over Algorithm						
First available Server, no fail-back						
🔾 First available Server, with Fail-back						
🔾 Next available Server						

Figure 6.6: Reliability / Performance configuration tab

6.4.6 Reliability / Performance

The Reliability and Performance tab is used to specify the behavior of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server when accessing the servers within a servergroup. In particular, these settings will define how Symlabs Virtual Directory Server behaves with regard to handling errors or timeouts sending requests to servers, as well as the distribution of requests and connections among them.

Action when response is unavailable

- **Timeout in seconds** Number of seconds that the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server instance will wait for a response from a backend server before generating an error.
- **Retry Forever** If a request fails due to a server unavailability or any other connectivity problem, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will retry the PDU for all of the other servers in the servergroup, continually until an available server is found. Naturally, this option only makes sense if you are using a load-balancing algorithm.
- **Die if all servers are down** If a request fails due to a server unavailability or any other connectivity problem, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will retry the PDU until it has exhausted all of the other servers in the servergroup. At this point, an error will be returned. This option really only makes sense if you are making use of a load-balancing algorithm. If you are making use of a failover option, you should set a PDU Retries value (mentioned below) instead.
- **Number of tries** When a request fails due to server unavailability or any other connectivity problem, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will retry the PDU endlessly until it gets a response for it. This setting will tell the engine that the request should be retried for a specified number of times before generating an error response for it.

PDU Retries before error If the 'Number of tries' option is set, this parameter will function to allow you to specify the number of retries that should be attempted before returning an error.

Reauth Failure Behaviour

When a connection to a backend LDAP server is closed and the proxy recieves traffic that should make use of that connection, the proxy will attempt to reopen the connection and will reauthenticate with the BIND credentials that were last used to successfully authenticate with that backend. This behaviour may occur where you are making use of Connection Pooling and a timeout has been configured within your environment to close connections that have been idle for a particular period of time. Where Connection Pooling is not used, you may equally find that this behaviour occurs where you have a client application that is designed to keep a single connection open for all requests.

Although unlikely, it is possible that when the proxy attempts to reauthenticate to reopen a connection, the BIND is unsuccessful. This would typically happen if the password has been changed for the user that the connection is authenticated as, since the connection dropped. The settings in this panel allow you to define the appropriate behaviour of the proxy if this reauthentication should fail. There are two options:

- **Keep on anonymous** The proxy will reopen the connection and continue handling requests for this connection, but the connection will effectively be anonymous and the permissions available for all subsequent requests through that connection will be limited to those available for an anonymous BIND. This may cause unpredictable behaviour for processing scripts, plugins or for client applications that are not aware that the credentials for the connection have changed.
- **Close connection** The proxy will close the connection. This will force a client application to attempt to open a new connection and to attempt to reauthenticate. In this case, the client will become aware of the authentication failure. For Connection Pooling, the proxy will continue to make use of the connections that are still open, but as these are eventually all closed the Connection Pool will ultimately fail due to its inability to reauthenticate.

Load Balancing / Fail Over properties

Automatic server groups allow you to choose among load balancing, fail-over or multisite configurations. This functionality is only relevant when you have more than one server specified within your server list for the servergroup. Note that depending on whether you have selected Load Balancing, Failover or Multisite in this section, the algorithms available to you will change.

Load Balancing

Load balancing is a feature that allows you to increase throughput and overall performance by distributing requests over multiple servers. Therefore, overall throughput is no longer limited to what one backend server is capable of handling. Instead, the maximum load that you can achieve using load-balancing depends on the combined throughput capability of all backend servers, and on Symlabs Virtual Directory Server itself.

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server is very efficient, and in most cases faster than any LDAP Directory server alone. Keep in mind, however, that Symlabs Virtual Directory Server has to handle double the traffic: from the client applications to Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, and then from Symlabs Virtual Directory Server to the backend servers. Therefore, if you choose to make use of the load-balancing facilities, to handle extremely heavy traffic, ensure that the machine that Symlabs Virtual Directory Server is running on has sufficient resources in terms of CPU and network. As an example, it is possible that Symlabs Virtual Directory Server's performance can be inhibited because it has saturated a 100 Mbit / sec Ethernet connection with traffic. Upgrading the connectivity to a 1 Gbit / sec Ethernet switched infrastructure will improve performance significantly.

Load-Balancing Algorithms

-Load Balancing / Fail Over Properties						
🔾 Fail-over 🖲 Load-Balancing 🔾 Multisite						
Load-Balancing Algorithm						
Round-Robin						
🔘 Weighted						
🔘 Weighted						

Figure 6.7: Load Balancing algorithms

There are two load-balancing algorithms to choose from:

- **Round-Robin** This algorithm will alternate between all servers, sending each request to the next server in the list, and restarting at the first server once the end of the server list has been reached. Using this algorithm, you should expect to get an even distribution of requests between all servers configured in this server group.
- Weighted This algorithm works like the previous one except that the traffic is not distributed evenly among the servers within the servergroup. Instead, each server is assigned a "server priority" value (defined in the server list for the servergroup). The fraction of the amount of traffic that the server receives will be calculated using this value over the sum of priority values for all servers in the servergroup. So for example, if we have 3 servers in a servergroup, and we give them priorities of 100, 60 and 40, roughly 50% of the traffic will go to the first server, 30% will go to the second and 20% will go to the third. There is a certain amount of randomness in how connections are opened, which is important to bear in mind when using connection pooling, since the connections are opened less often. If you choose to use connection pooling, you should either ensure that your connections are refreshed often, or you should consider whether or not you really want to make use of the weighted algorithm at all. In general, using larger numbers to represent server priority weights, will improve the effectiveness of this algorithm.

Fail-Over

-Load Balancing / Fail Over Properties
court duranting / null over respected
Fail-over O Load-Balancing O Multisite
rail-over Algorithm
First available Server, no fail-back
○ First available Server, with Fail-back
Next available Server

Figure 6.8: Failover algorithms

Fail-over is a fundamentally important feature of all mission critical Directory deployments. This feature can ensure that your applications keep running if you have multiple equivalent LDAP servers and there is a failure on one of these servers (i.e. one of the servers goes down, or becomes unavailable).

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server offers several fail-over algorithms. These are:

- First available server, no fail-back
- First available server, with fail-back
- Next available server

Every algorithm uses the following concepts:

- **Current server** The server that is currently marked as *active* by Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. This is the server that will receive traffic by default.
- Server list The list of all servers configured in the server group.

First server The First server in the Server List.

Marked as UP A server that has been found to be up and running last time it was health-checked.

Marked as DOWN A server that has been found to be unavailable last time it was health-checked.

First available server, no fail-back

This algorithm is selected by default and is probably the most commonly used failover algorithm in most production environments. It works as follows: When the current server becomes unavailable, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will check the status of the first server in the server list, then the second server, and so on, until a server is found that is marked as UP. That server is then designated as the new current server.

First available server, with fail-back

This algorithm works like the previous algorithm, but it also includes *fail-back* functionality. This means that should the current server **NOT** be the first server, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will automatically switch back to the server closest to the first server as soon as it is marked as UP, until it is using the first server again.

For example, if there are two servers in the server group, and Server1 is the first, and current server. If Server1 becomes unavailable, traffic is automatically redirected to Server2, which is second in the server list. As soon as Symlabs Virtual Directory Server notices that Server1 has become available (through its health check mechanism), traffic will be redirected back to Server1.

Next Available server

This algorithm simply selects the next active server in the server list and makes it active when the current active server goes down. If there are no more servers left in the current server group, the algorithm will start looking at the beginning of the server list again. So that failover works in a rotational manner.

Multisite

- Load Balancing / Fail Over Properties
○ Fail-over ○ Load-Balancing ⑧ Multisite
C rai-over C Load-Balancing C Multisite
- Multisite Algorithm
-
Round-Robin

Figure 6.9: Multisite algorithm

Multisite takes into account the case where your servers are distributed geographically. This implies that some sites are easier to reach than others or are more important (primary or master sites, replicas, low or high-traffic sites ...) than others. Each server has a site priority value ranging from 0 to 9 (0 being the highest priority and 9 the lowest) defined in the server list for the servergroup. All servers with the same site priority are considered to form a "logical site", and, as such, are considered equivalent. Multisite then implements both a fail-over algorithm among the different defined logical sites (using fail-back when one server in a site with higher precedence is detected as up) and a load-balancing algorithm among the different servers in the same logical

site. Implementation of fail-over algorithms among the servers in the same site is not necessary, as it can be achieved using the existing fail-over algorithms.

Round-Robin

Each PDU is sent to one of the highest priority servers available, in round-robin fashion (as they are all considered equivalent). If all of the highest priority servers become unavailable, then, the next priority servers become the target of the PDU also in round-robin fashion. As soon as one of the higher priority servers becomes available all subsequent PDUs will target it again. So, in practice, you have round-robin over the most powerful group of servers available, with failover to less powerful servers in the case of a whole priority level failure.

6.4.7 Connection Pooling

Servers SSL SASL	Reliability/Performance Connection Pooling Health Check	۲				
Connection Pool Preferences						
✓ Use Connection Pooling	9					
Proxy Auth	Fixed Credentials O SASL O SASL SASL	Test Connection				
🥘 Bind DN	cn=dirmanager					
🥘 Pass word	•••••	Show Password				
Pool Connections	Pool Connections 10					
Bind Pool Connections	2					
DNs to bypass the con	DNs to bypass the connection pool					
	DNs to skip connection pool					
·						

Figure 6.10: Connection Pool options

Connection pooling is a very useful feature that optimizes the efficiency of requests to backend LDAP servers by effectively decoupling frontend client connections from backend server connections. Without connection pooling, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server opens a connection to the backend whenever an LDAP client connects to Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. However, when connection pooling is used, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will open a predefined set of connections to the LDAP backend servers, so that when clients connect and send requests to Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, the pre-established connections can be used to send requests on to the backend servers.

Connection Pooling requires special care when dealing with credentials. The LDAP protocol mandates that each and every connection is bound using the LDAP BIND request. Until a BIND request has been issued on a connection, the connection is authenticated *anonymously*. Once a BIND request has successfully completed, the connection is *authenticated* with the credentials of that BIND request. Each subsequent request on that connection will then be carried out using those credentials.

In addition to the number of connections specified in the *Pool Connections* field, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will additionally open the number of connections specified in the *Bind Pool Connections* field to the back-end servers for the exclusive purpose of sending LDAP BIND operations. The reason for this is that BIND requests change the credentials of a backend connections, and therefore reset the connection pool's default credentials. This is done automatically and is completely transparent to the LDAP clients. You may need to change this value if you are having problems with asynchronous BIND requests, or if you are getting LDAP_BUSY error results.

In order to test that you have correctly set up your connection pool, always use the 'Test Connection' button to establish a connection using the credentials and configuration options that you have provided. If you are unable to establish a connection using these options and you have connection pooling enabled, you will have trouble using Symlabs Virtual Directory Server once it is running.

Since a connection pool is pre-established, credentials must be treated in a special way, so that connections remain authenticated. Symlabs Virtual Directory Server supports four mechanisms to do this:



- 1. Fixed Credentials
- 2. Proxy-Auth
- 3. SASL
- 4. SASL impersonation

Fixed Credentials

This mechanism works by establishing the connection pool with a fixed, static credential. Once this is done, all subsequent requests, regardless of how the LDAP client has bound, are sent to the connection pool using the pool's predefined credentials. Effectively this means that, for example, if your connection pool has been established with the fixed credentials cn=ldapuser, dc=symlabs, dc=com, every request from the LDAP client to Symlabs Virtual Directory Server that is sent on to the backend servers will run under the credentials cn=ldapuser, dc=symlabs, dc=com, every request from the LDAP client to Symlabs, dc=com.

This mechanism will defeat the standard authorization model for Directory Servers. If you choose to use it, you must be aware of the implications: you effectively by-pass an important security model of your backend servers. If you need to enforce access control based on client credentials, you should use the Access Control plugin included with the product to enforce your access rules or use the Proxy Auth method explained below.

Proxy-Auth

Proxy-auth is an extension of the LDAP protocol defined in RFC4370 and is implemented in most directory servers out on the market today. It works by binding to a directory server as a special user that has the *proxy-auth* privilege. Once this is done, a special LDAP *Control* is attached to every LDAP request advising the directory server to carry out the request under the credentials of another user. In order for this proxy-auth mechanism to work, you will need to create a special user on your LDAP backend servers and provision the user with the proxy-auth privilege. Many LDAP servers will use their internal access control facilities to give the proxy-auth privilege to a specific user.

The following scenario describes how proxy-auth actually works with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. Consider that you have created the user cn=proxyauth, dc=symlabs, dc=com and assigned this user the proxy-auth privilege on all of your LDAP backend servers. In DSGUI, you have defined a server group that uses a connection pooling with proxy-auth credentials. When Symlabs Virtual Directory Server starts, it creates the connection pool by opening the defined number of connections to the back-end server and authenticates these connections using the BIND DN that you have specified in you connection pooling configuration (i.e. cn=proxyauth, dc=symlabs, dc=com).

When an LDAP client connects to Symlabs Virtual Directory Server and binds as uid=user1, dc=symlabs, dc=com, the BIND is successful and the LDAP client can send a request, such as a MODIFY request, to Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. Symlabs Virtual Directory Server determines that this request is to be sent out using the connection pool that was previously established using the proxy-auth mechanism. The original request (e.g. the MODIFY request) is then changed by adding a special control to it that advises the LDAP directory server to execute the request under the credentials of uid=user1, dc=symlabs, dc=com.

IMPORTANT: The proxy-auth mechanism usually does **NOT** support running requests on behalf of the directory server "super-user" (cn=Directory Manager or cn=root, depending on your LDAP back-end servers). You must therefore define the DN of your directory server super-user in the table entitled "DNs to skip the connection pool". Also, while commonly used by many LDAP servers, the proxy-auth mechanism is not supported by Active Directory.

SASL

If your backend servers support GSSAPI, then the connection pool can be established using the SASL/GSSAPI mechanism that you have enabled for your ServerGroup. Note that currently, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server only supports the GSSAPI mechanism in order to handle Kerberos authentication and security, although other mechanisms may be added in the future.

This option will be greyed out unless you have enabled SASL on the SASL tab for the ServerGroup. Since GSSAPI authentication will be handled by the SASL library, and is key based, you will not need to specify a BIND DN or password when using this option.

In order for the connection pool to be properly established, a Kerberos session will need to have already been established (i.e. the user that Symlabs Virtual Directory Server is running as, will need to have been authenticated and should have obtained a Ticket Granting Ticket to establish authenticated connections to the servers within the Connection Pool).

For more information about SASL, GSSAPI and Kerberos, please refer to the *Virtual Directory Server Guide to SASL, GSSAPI and Kerberos* included in the 'docs' folder at the root of your installation. Also see the SASL Tab for Automatic Servergroups6.4.5.

SASL Impersonation

SASL Impersonation relies on using Kerberos with S4U Extensions. In order for this to work, you will need to have configured your Kerberos so that the service has been trusted for delegation. Once this has been done, you will need to specify the username that you wish to authenticate the connection pool with. You specify the username within the Bind DN field. Virtual Directory Server will then use the impersonation capabilities provided by the S4U support to authenticate the connection pool, using Kerberos, as the user specified in the configuration.

This option will be greyed out unless you have enabled SASL on the SASL tab for the ServerGroup. Since GSSAPI authentication will be handled by the SASL library, you will not need to specify the password of the user when using this option, although for impersonation to take place you will still need to provide a username within the Bind DN field.

In order for the connection pool to be properly established, a Kerberos session will need to have already been established (i.e. the user that Symlabs Virtual Directory Server is running as, will need to have been authenticated and should have obtained a Ticket Granting Ticket to establish authenticated connections to the servers within the Connection Pool).

For more information about SASL, GSSAPI and Kerberos, please refer to the *Virtual Directory Server Guide to SASL, GSSAPI and Kerberos* included in the 'docs' folder at the root of your installation. Also see the SASL Tab for Automatic Servergroups6.4.5.

Excluding Credentials from the Connection Pool

You can define a list of credentials that should skip the connection pool and be assigned their own exclusive connections. This can be done by entering the *credential(s)* that should skip the pool in the table entitled "DNs to skip the connection pool".

6.4.8 Session Server Affinity

For HTTP/S Servergroups, the Connection Pooling tab is replaced with the Session Server Affinity tab. This tab is used to define how load balancing should be handled by the proxy with regard to HTTP session information. A common problem encountered within HTTP servergroups that contain multiple servers is that it is



Servers SSL Parameters Reliability/Performance Se	ssion Server Affinity Health Check						
🖌 Activate Session Server Affinity							
Cookie Timeout							
Cookie Timeout 14400							
Behaviour if server fails in the middle of the session							
Fail Back to another server O Drop Connection							
· ·	· ·						

Figure 6.11: Servergroup specific Session Server Affinity options

possible that these servers do not share a common session infrastructure. In these situations, the proxy server should make sure that different requests within a session are always sent to the same server, regardless of the load-balancing/fail-over selection. This is achieved using the session-server affinity options presented on this tab.

If your HTTP servers share session information, possibly via a backend database, there should be little problem in handling load-balancing or failover as any server should be capable of matching a client to the correct session data. In this case, you can leave this option unchecked.

If the servers that comprise the group do not have access to shared session data, you will need to define what actions should be taken should a server become unavailable once a client has established a session. These options will become available once you check the Activate Session Server Affinity checkbox.

Cookie Timeout

If you choose to make use of the Session Server Affinity option, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will submit a cookie to the client application, containing a unique session identifier which will be used by the proxy engine to continue to route requests to that same backend server that the client application originally accessed.

In this section, you are able to specify a timeout or expiry value for this cookie. The value is specified in seconds, and is set by default to '14400' or 4 hours. Setting this value to zero will ensure that the cookie never expires and the client will always be redirected to the same server on each subsequent connection. It is not recommended that this value is set to zero.

It is important to note that session server affinity relies on cookies being enabled on the client application. If the client does not accept cookies, session server affinity will not work and each subsequent request by the client will be treated as a new client request and could be routed to any backend server. If you are unable to guarantee that client applications will have cookie support enabled, we highly recommend that you explore the option of sharing session data between your backend HTTP servers.

Behavior if server fails in the middle of a session

When a request is intercepted by the proxy engine, the session cookie will be evaluated to determine where the request should be routed. If the server that the request should be routed to is no longer available, you have two options to handle the failure. The first is to attempt failback to another server in the ServerGroup.

Failback will allow the client to continue to access the site, but the server that the client switches to will not have access to the session data stored for the client application. This means that a new session will need to be established, and the client will be treated as if it was accessing the site for the first time.

The second option is to simply Drop Connection. This option will do exactly this, so that the client application will simply receive no response from the proxy engine. This would be equivalent to the situation that the client would experience if it were accessing the individual web server directly.

6.4.9 Health Check

LDAP/S

lealth Check—	
Use Generi	t Health Check
Operation for	Health Check
BIND O	SFARCH
Health_Check	ing Parameters
neath-check	אין איז
🕘 Bind DN	n=dirmanager

Figure 6.12: LDAP/S Servergroup specific Health Check options

In this tab you can define specific health check parameters for each servergroup, if you do not wish to use the generic health check parameters defined under the LDAP tab in the Health Monitoring 4.3 section of the configuration.

The final section in the configuration panel will change depending on whether you have selected BIND or SEARCH as the health check operation that will be used for the servers in this servergroup. If you have chosen to use BIND as the type of operation to be used, you will be required to provide authorization information for the BIND request to take place. If you have chosen to use SEARCH as the type of operation to be used, you will be required to provide the Search DN and Filter to use to perform the search request.

For BIND requests Specify the Bind DN and the password.

For SEARCH requests Specify the Search DN and the Filter. By default, each SEARCH request is anonymous and of scope 0 (Base).

HTTP/S

Servers SS	L Parameters	Reliability/Performance	Session Server Affinity	Health Check	
-Health Check-					
🔲 Use Gener	ic Health Check				
- Operation fo	r Health Check-				
: :::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::					
Userbit. Chara	1				
	king Parameter	S			
URL /ir	idex.html				

Figure 6.13: HTTP/S Servergroup specific Health Check options

In this tab you can define specific health check parameters for each servergroup, if you do not wish to use the generic health check parameters defined under the HTTP tab in the Health Monitoring 4.3 section of the configuration.

6.4.10 Relational Database Access

A server group can be configured to use a relational database (RDBMS) for data access as opposed to making use of LDAP or LDAPS. You can use this feature to connect to and treat tables or views within a relational

database as if they were regular entries in an LDAP directory server. RDBMS servergroups work bi-directionally, i.e. for searching, modifying and deleting entries.

You can set up a ServerGroup for Relational Database Access manually for any new Automatic ServerGroup that you create. Alternatively you may use the configuration wizard that can be initialized by clicking on the "New Database connection" button in the Configuration Panel when you click on the Output node in the configuration Navigator. If you make use of the wizard, please continue to read the following sections which explain the various configuration components in more detail and will help you to further configure your ServerGroup.

Configuration using the wizard

To create a new automatic ServerGroup with a relational database server as a backend, you can click on the "New Database connection" button in the Configuration Panel when you click on the Output node in the configuration Navigator. This will open the Database ServerGroup Wizard.

Tip: You may need to install the JDBC driver appropriate for your database platform before you are able to use the wizard. You will need to copy the JDBC driver to the jre/lib/ext/ folder at the root of your install in order for the driver to work. Please note that you will have to restart the DSGUI application after you have installed the driver, in order for the wizard to load it.



Figure 6.14: Database Access Configuration Wizard

You will first need to specify a name for your ServerGroup and to specify the database type that you wish to connect to. Click on the Next button.

Depending on the database connection type that you have specified, the next screen will present the various connectivity options required in order to construct a connection string that will be used to connect to the database type. These connection strings are discussed in more detail in the forthcoming sections. In the example screenshot, we are required to enter the hostname, port, database name, username and password.

Once you have entered these details and clicked on the Next button, you will be presented with the destination mountpoint configuration options. These options define where data retrieved from the database will be mounted onto an LDAP tree. If you have already defined a ServerGroup, comprised of LDAP servers, you may wish to map this data onto a DN within the LDAP tree presented by this ServerGroup. Alternatively, if you have created a VirtualTree, you might specify a mountpoint that maps onto this tree. In the Destination Tree field, you should specify the full DN that will be used to access this data using an LDAP client. It is important that the DN that you choose to use as a mountpoint for this data is unique and not already used within your DIT structure.

On this screen, you also have options to control how particular requests are handled. You can determine how to handle unknown attributes in Search requests. You can optionally return an error message notifying the client that the attribute does not exist, or you can simply ignore any unknown attributes within a request, or you can return an empty result for any request that includes an unknown attribute.



1. Select ServerGroup Connect	on details	
2. Connection details Host	192.168.0.2	
3. Destination mount point 4. Select Table Port	3306	
5. Relative DN Databa	e name symlabs	
6. Verify data Usernam	ne rowan	
Symlabs Virtual Directory Server	d *****	
SymLabs		
		Prev Next Cancel

Figure 6.15: Database connection information

You are also able to control how BIND requests should be handled if you have not specified a password attribute¹ against which the request can be authenticated. In this case, you can simply ignore the request and return a successful response or you can return an error notifying the client that the BIND request failed.

1. Select ServerGroup 2. Connection details 3. Destination mount point 4. Select Table	Destination mount point Mount points for all tables in this database connection Destination Tree ou=webdb,dc=tamu2,dc=symlabs,dc=c	om			
5. Relative DN 6. Verify data	Additional options Unknown attributes in SEARCH filters Bignore unknown attributes Return ervo Return empty result	Authentication request on tables without Pass wo Return successful response Return error		ss word Attr	
SymLabs					
			Prev	Next	Cancel

Figure 6.16: Defining a destination mountpoint

Once you have made your changes on this screen, click Next to continue with the configuration. The next screen allows you to select a table to attach to the LDAP tree. Select one of the tables in your database and you will be able to see the fields that are available for that table. You can select one field to use as the naming attribute for entries as they will appear in your LDAP tree. You may also optionally select an attribute to use as a 'password attribute'. The 'password attribute' is used to authenticate BIND requests for entries in this part of the LDAP tree. So, if your table contains a field called 'username' and a field called 'password', you may set 'username' to be your naming attribute and 'password' to be the password attribute. If your table is mapped to the DN 'ou=users,ou=webdb,dc=symlabs,dc=com', BIND requests for:

username=bob,ou=users,ou=webdb,dc=symlabs,dc=com

will be authenticated using the 'password' field in the database.

Naturally, the password attribute is optional as many tables may not contain authentication type information. If you leave this option empty, BIND requests will not be serviced.

Although you can currently only map one table in the wizard, you will be able to attach more database tables to your LDAP tree later, by editing your configuration manually. See the Table Mapping section6.4.10 later in this chapter.

Once you have finished defining a table map, click on the Next button to configure the RDN where the table will map to. The RDN will define the mapping for each table that you attach. These RDNs will all be nodes within the mountpoint that you defined earlier.

¹We discuss password attributes in more detail later.

Select ServerGroup Connection details Destination mount point Select Table Relative DN Verify data	Select Table Tables found Tables devi Select naming	ces					-
Symlabs Virtual Directory Server	Naming attr	id type label last mountpoint uuid		label			
SymLabs							
					Prev	Next	Cancel

Figure 6.17: Mapping a table

1. Select ServerGroup	Relative DN	Relative DN			
2. Connection details	label= XXXXX,	ou=devices	,ou=	webdb,dc=tamuz,dc=s ymla	bs,dc=com
 Destination mount point Select Table Relative DN Verify data 	Object classes	top,extensibleobject			
Symbol Websel States Symbol Sy					
				Prev Next	Cancel

Figure 6.18: Setting an RDN for the table

On this screen, you are also able to define an 'objectclass' for the table. Often it is rare that a database table will conform to your LDAP schema, and it is common to use the 'extensibleObject' objectclass for any database table.

The final step in the wizard will verify all of the configuration data that you have entered and will ensure that a syntactically correct configuration entry can be created with the data. If there are any errors, you will be notified here. You can use the 'Previous' button to navigate back through the wizard to correct any errors. If the configuration is usable, you will be able to click on the 'Last' button to complete the wizard. Your new ServerGroup will be created and you will be able to navigate to it in the configuration Navigator to edit it further.

estination mount point elect Table elative DN erify data	Connection string: 192.168.0.2:3306:users Destination tree: ou=webdb,dc=tamuz,dc=symlabs,dc=com Bind request: ignore	-
Ibs Directory Server	omorequest:gnore Unknown attribute:ignore Table name: devices Naming attribute: label Relative DN: ou=devices Object(lass: top,extensibleobject	- I
Bride Vited	Errors	1

Figure 6.19: Configuration verification

Configuration Panel

Any newly created Automatic ServerGroup can be set up for relational database access by setting the protocol option to *Relational Database*.

When the protocol has been set to 'Relational Database' you will be presented with two tabs, within the configuration panel, that present the various parameters that you will need to configure in order to facilitate RDBMS connectivity. The first tab is titled 'Database Info' and is concerned with providing the options that should be used to connect to a backend database. The second tab is titled 'LDAP Info' and is concerned with providing options that control how data stored in a backend database will be presented within an LDAP environment.

Database Info

Name	MYSQL ServerGroup			
Protocol	Protocol Relational Database 💌			
Database Info	1P Info			
Database Type	MySQL			
Connection String				
Username	root			
Pass word	Show Pass word			

Figure 6.20: Database Access Configuration

On the 'Database Info' tab, you will need to configure the various options that facilitate RDBMS connectivity. These options are as follows:

Database Type will present a drop-down list from which you will be able to select a supported database type that you may wish to connect to. In Windows Operating Systems, only ODBC database type will be offered. If you choose to make use of an ODBC driver, you will need to make sure that it is correctly installed on your system and that the connection is already configured. If you are unsure as to how to go about this, please refer to the README.txt file at the root of your installation, or contact Symlabs for support on this.

Connection String takes a value that is dependent on your relational database client interface. Typically it is a string that is used by the database driver to identify a database resource, and then connect to it. This could either be a service handle (in the case of Oracle, etc.), or a host name and port combination (used by MySQL). Typical examples of connection strings are:

Table 6.1: Database connection Strings
--

Database	Connection String	Description
Oracle	ORACLE_SID	The service name must be de- fined in the tnsnames.ora file. To check if you can use this ser- vice, try the following commands: tnsping service and sqlplus user/password@service. If you cannot get them to work, it is very unlikely that your server group will work either.
Oracle	//hostname[:port]/DB_NAME	Oracle databases can also be con- nected to directly. In most cases you will not need to specify the 'port' in the connection string as the default will be used.

MySQL	hostname:port:DB_NAME	The MySQL connection string is a colon (:) separated string.
Solid	tcp hostname port	Specify the protocol, hostname and port. In general the protocol will nearly always be 'tcp'.
DB2	DB2_SID	The service name must be defined in the tnsnames.ora file.
ODBC	ODBC_Source	The ODBC_Source will be whatever you have defined it as. In Windows, this will be the Name of your User DSN that you define in your User Data Sources for ODBC. Note that in order to use "User DSN" data sources, the Virtual Directory Server service must be run as the correct user. By de- fault, the Virtual Directory Server in- stances run as the LocalSystem Ac- count, which usually does not have the permissions to work with User DSN's created by other users. An alternative approach is to define a System Data Source accessible to all users. ²

Table 6.1: (continuation)

Username takes the user name that should be used to connect to the database server.

Password is used to specify the password for the Username that you set in the previous field.

LDAP Info

Destination Tree Ou=	webuser,dc=tamuz,dc=symlabs,d	(=(0M		
Unknown Attributes in Sl Ignore unknown attril Return error Return empty result Map the following table	butes		Authentication request on table: Return successful response Return error	s without Pass word Attr
DB Table/View	Relative DN	Naming Attr	Objectclasses for entry	Password Attr
users	ou=users	username	extensibleObject	password

Figure 6.21: LDAP Info for a Relational Database

The 'LDAP Info' tab is used to control how data that is stored within tables inside a relational database should be presented in an LDAP framework.

 $^{^2}$ Since dsproxy is a 32-bit application, in a Windows 64-bit operating system the ODBC data sources must be created by using the 32-bit ODBC Administrator tool located in %windir%\SysWOW64\odbcad32.exe. See http://support.microsoft.com/kb/942976

The Destination Tree field defines the node in the LDAP tree where all of your RDBMS data is made visible. Each table / view will be mapped into its own contained entry using its own RDN. This should be the name of an entry that does not yet exist in your directory servers, but whose parent entry exists. For example, if your directory server contains the tree dc=symlabs, dc=com you could enter ou=db, dc=symlabs, dc=com here. It is very important that the actual DN that you specify here is not already used in the tree, or access to data stored within this branch may not be accessible.

The Unknown Attributes in SEARCH filter setting will simply define how Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will behave when a SEARCH filter of a request contains attributes that are not defined in the mapping table below. Symlabs Virtual Directory Server can be configured to ignore search filters containing unknown attributes, or it can return an error, or alternatively it can return an empty result.

The Authentication request on tables without Password Attr settings are responsible for handling how BIND requests should be handled in case the Password Attr is not provided in the table configuration. The options are to return a successful response or to return an error.

The Symlabs Virtual Directory Server is not able to route anonymous request to a table. As a result, anonymous requests will be presented with a "Server is unwilling to perform" error message. To avoid this, the Add Credentials plugin, bundled with the product, can be used to force anonymous requests to authenticate as a designated user. Also, it is always possible to define a custom script in a manual processing stage that will take care of these anonymous requests.

Table / View Mapping

Last, but not least you will need to enter the tables that should be mapped from the RDBMS into the virtual server group. Every table and view will be exposed as a virtual entry in the previously defined *destination tree*. Every row in the table will then be visible as a sub-entry to that virtual entry.

Notably, the Password Attr field provides you with the option to define a password attribute that can be used to map BIND requests. Thus, if a field in the database is used to store passwords, this field can be entered here so that attempts to BIND can be authenticated against this field.

We will illustrate RDBMS connectivity with the following example. Assume that you have a table or view called "users" in your relational database. This table contains a column called *LAST_NAME* that is unique and not NULL (it could even be the primary key for that table, but the latter is not really a requirement for Symlabs Virtual Directory Server). You can map this table into your RDBMS server group by having the servergroup expose this table / view within the virtual entry ou=people in the previously defined *Destination Tree*. Therefore, every row in the table would be visible as DNs such as:

```
LAST_NAME=lastname, ou=people, ou=db, dc=symlabs, dc=com
```

To make this happen, you would configure your *destination tree* field to have the value ou=db, dc=symlabs, dc=com and configure the following mapping information:

In the above table, we also assume that the 'users' table contains a *PASSWORD* field that we can use to authenticate BIND requests against. Thus, if a user attempts to BIND with the DN

LAST_NAME=bloggs,ou=people,ou=db,dc=symlabs,dc=com

the password used in the BIND request will be tested against the password stored in the PASSWORD field for the entry in the database table where the LAST_NAME is 'bloggs'. If the password matches, the BIND request will be authenticated.

Mapping field	Mapping Value
DB Table / View	users
Relative DN	ou=users
Naming Attr	LAST_NAME
Objectclasses for entry	person
Password Attr	PASSWORD

Table 6.2: 5	Simple Database	mapping example
--------------	-----------------	-----------------

6.4.11 ODBC Datasource Sample

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server includes a sample configuration that can be used to demonstrate how the product can be configured to make use of an ODBC driver to access a relational database as a backend repository. In order to make use of the sample configuration, you will need to set up a demonstration environment capable of working with the sample configuration. Please see the Samples8.4 section in the Plugins and Samples chapter of the User Manual.

It is obviously fairly important that you have a database that you intend to connect through via the ODBC connection in this sample. In our configuration, we expect the following conditions to be met:

- * An ODBC connection with the DSN: MySQL-test
- * The username for the ODBC connection should be: odbcuser
- * The password for the ODBC connection should be: odbcpass
- * The database should contain a table named: offices
- * The ~offices~ table in the database should contain a field: name

As long as these conditions are met, the sample configuration should start without any trouble, and you will be able to browse data from the offices table within the LDAP branch: ou=db,dc=onecorp,dc=com

Location

The sample configuration will be accessible within DSGUI in the Open Config dialog, by clicking on the dropdown selector at the top of the dialog window, and changing the value from 'confs' to 'samples'. The sample configuration is named:

samples.odbc

If you wish to view the actual LDIF file that makes up this configuration it is located in the samples folder at the root of your installation.

samples/samples.odbc

Objective

This sample shows how to aggregate data in a relational database with data from a directory. The access to the datasource is through an ODBC driver.

Configuration

You will need to create a database and add a node to your directory. The sample uses a MySQL database but other databases can equally be used as long as there is a recent ODBC driver for it. In unix you can use unixODBC (note: iODBC has not been tested yet but it should also work). Use the provided sql file in the samples/data directory to create and populate a table 'offices' in your MySQL test database. Then you need to create a DSN (Datasource Name) in your ODBC directory (/etc/odbc.ini in linux; use the ODBC Datasources administrative tool interface in windows) that points to the created database. The DSN (connection string) as well as the username and password should match the values in the odbc server group configuration. The sample uses MySQL-test, odbcuser and odbcpwd respectively. To be able to see the data in the relational database as a node under your directory tree, add the node (Organizational Unit, ou) db under the onecorp root object (so that it matches the destination tree used in the sample: ou=db,dc=onecorp,dc=com).

Test

Expand the ou=db,dc=onecorp,dc=com node. You should see a list of records corresponding to the rows in table of your database. You can make changes to the records and check that they are propagated to the rows of the table.

6.5 Manual Servergroups

Warning: Before you use manual servergroups you should be aware of their limitations and differences with automatic servergroups. Automatic server groups contain built-in functions to deal with all of the features required in modern data-centers such as fail-over and load-balancing support. Unless you need to implement your own specific load-balancing or fail-over algorithm, or you need to make use of an alternative protocol, you should always use automatic servergroups for accessing servers that are supported by them.

The main reason you may consider using a Manual servergroup is to configure backend servers **that are not supported by the automatic servergroups.**

Manual servergroups, just like automatic server groups, are used to define and configure the backend servers that will be used by Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. The difference between both types of server groups is that manual servergroups do not provide built-in health-checking, load-balancing or fail-over features. Instead, they make use of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server's core server group algorithms in combination with your own custom written DirectoryScript code that will ultimately get your mechanism working. Further detail on customizing servergroups is provided in the Administration and Developer manuals.

When configuring manual servergroups, you must first define a name and a protocol. The name field should already be filled since you will have already been asked for a name when the servergroup was created, however, if required, you are able to change it here in the future. The protocol setting can be used to specify what *type* of backend servers the servergroup contains. You will need to configure more parameters depending on which protocol you have chosen for your server group.

6.5.1 Servers tab

Regardless of your protocol setting, you will need to list each of the backend servers that you wish to connect to within your servergroup. You can do this under the Servers tab.

Servers You must configure at least one server in your servergroup. When you configure more than one server, you will be able to make use of your own customized load-balancing or fail-over facilities. Remember that



OK Cancel Help						
Connection Properties						
Name Manual						
Protocol Idap						
Servers SSL Parameter	s Fail over/Load Balancing]	,			
List of Servers in this Se	erver Group					
Name	Hostname/IP Address	Port	Dead Penalty			
ADServer	192.168.0.10	389				
SunDS	192.168.0.45	389				
·						

Figure 6.22: List of servers configuration

all servers within the servergroup must be equivalent, i.e. must contain the same data and communicate using the same protocol. To configure a server you must provide an internal server name, and the hostname (or IP address) as well as the port on which it is listening. The server table also includes a column titled, 'Dead Penalty'. This parameter is used to control how long after a connection fails, a server should not be used if using a load balancing or failover algorithm. However, its behaviour is very dependent on a variety of other factors, and generally should not be edited without a thorough understanding of the consequences. For radius servergroups, an additional parameter, labelled "secret", must also be provided to specify the shared secret key used to encrypt all communications with the server.

6.5.2 Failover and Load Balancing for LDAP and HTTP Server Groups

Servers SSL Paran	neters Fail over /	/Load Balancing
.oad Balancing / Fail	Over Option	
Failure Detection Par	ameters	
Timeout in seco	nds 30	
🔘 Retry forever	🔵 Die if all server o	down 🛞 Number of tries
PDU Retries befo	ore error 15	
Reauth Failure Beha	viour	
Keep on anonyn	ious 🛛 🔘 Close con	nnection
New Connection Dist	ribution (bfoalgo)-	
	ribution (bfoalgo)-	
New Connection Dist	ribution (bfoalgo)- ;y 🔾 roundrobin	n 🔘 random
New Connection Dist first affinit	ribution (bfoalgo)- ;y 🔾 roundrobin	n 🔘 random
New Connection Dist first affinit Request Distribution	ribution (bfoalgo) - ry 🔾 roundrobin Algorithm (belbalg	go)
New Connection Dist first affinit Request Distribution fefirstcreate	ribution (Ibfoalgo) - y Oroundrobin Algorithm (belbalg Ofefirst	go)
New Connection Dist firstaffinit Request Distributior fefirstcreate feaffinitycreate	ribution (Ibfoalgo)- ry Oroundrobin Algorithm (belbalg Ofefirst Oferoundrobin	go) Geaffinity Gerandom

Figure 6.23: Fail-over / Load Balancing options

When you select LDAP or HTTP protocols (with or without SSL), your manual servergroup configuration panel will show a new tab that will let you configure some additional parameters for load balancing or for failover.

The new tab is divided into two sections in which the following items can be configured:

Timeout in seconds Number of seconds that the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server instance will wait for a backend response before generating an error for a request.

- **PDU Retries before error** When a request fails due to server unavailability or any other connectivity problem, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will retry the PDU endlessly until it gets a response for it. This default behavior can be modified by setting this parameter. This setting will tell the engine the number of times that the request should be retried before generating an error response for it.
- **Ibfoalgo** / **belbalgo** Using these tabs you can choose the internal load-balancing or fail-over algorithm to use within the servergroup. These values change the behavior of the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server core in how it accesses the servers in the servergroup, and they frequently require additional DirectoryScript code to implement a fully-fledged fail-over or load-balancing service. Explanations for the the different values presented here can be found in the *Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Administrator's Reference Manual.*

6.5.3 Parameters for SSL-based Server Groups

Please also refer to the *Symlabs Virtual Directory Server and LDAP Proxy SSL Guide* for more information on configuring TLS/SSL. This guide will help to provide you with a better understanding of TLS/SSL and the options that are available to you.

Servers SSL Parameters	Fail over/Load I	Balancing				
Certificate Properties						
Client Certificate					1	Select
CA Certificate						Select
Optional SSL Parameters						
Supported Ciphers						
SSL version supported	SSLv2/v3/TLS	⊖ TLSv1	SSLv3 only	SSLv2 only		
Server validation	🔘 none	🖲 log	🔵 fail	🔾 match		



Should you select a protocol that makes use of SSL, such as LDAPS or HTTPS, the "SSL parameters" tab will appear to configure the SSL related parameters.

- **Client certificate** This optional parameter is used to specify the full path to the client certificate file that will be used to connect to the backend servers. There is a small information icon to the right of the text area that displays a new window with a partial text description of the certificate information (Subject, Issuer, Validity Times and Usage). This information may be useful for troubleshooting SSL related issues. For the CA certificate it contains the information on the certificates of each of the certificate authorities that are contained in the CA file.
- **CA certificate** This field stores the full path to the certificate of a CA (Certification Authority). If you choose to enter this path, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will attempt to verify whether the certificate presented by the backend server has been signed by the CA using the public certificate, specified in the "CA Certificate Path" field. If the verification fails, the connection to the backend server will fail. However, if you leave this field blank, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will blindly trust any certificate presented by any server in the group and communications will be encrypted against this certificate.

There is a small information icon, to the right of the Client certificate and CA certificate parameters. Clicking on this icon will display a new window with a partial text description of the certificate information (Subject, Issuer, Validity Times and Usage). This information might be useful for troubleshooting SSL related issues. For the CA certificate, the area contains information for the certificates of all of the certificate authorities that are contained in the CA file.

- Server certificate validation Controls the way in which the certificate presented by the server will be validated. The four available options are:
 - none: The certificate presented by the server is blindly trusted.
 - *log*: The certificate is blindly trusted, but the engine will write an error log if the verification process fails.
 - fail: If the certificate verification process fails, then the connection is closed
 - *match*: Like *fail*, but the subject of the certificate is also checked, closing the connection if it does not match.

Chapter 7

PROCESSING

The Processing section of the configuration contains all of the processing directives that should be implemented as network traffic traverses the proxy engine. This means that you are able to define particular processing functionality that should be applied to different operations as they move through the system, implementing transformations to the data contained within a PDU, routing a PDU to a particular location, or simply logging the transaction.

The Processing Configuration makes use of a 'stage model' whereby different processing functions can be grouped together to create discrete processing modules that can be re-used and ordered in a particular way within a processing pipeline. Stages may either be 'Automatic' or 'Manual'. Automatic processing stages allow you to make use of bundled plugins and extensions that are included with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. Manual stages require you to define custom configuration rules and to script your own custom solution.

All processing stages include particular conditional rules that allow you to define exactly when a particular piece of functionality should be triggered.

Although all processing configuration is grouped together in the Processing part of the configuration, actual implementation is handled by the Input Listenerand requires that you attach Processing Stages to a Listener configuration. This allows you to re-use stages within your processing pipelines and to order the stages in different ways depending on the Listener that is being used to handle a connection. In this way, you may have different listeners that have different processing functionality defined for them.

7.1 Stage Model

The Stage Model has been created to help implement solutions using Symlabs Virtual Directory Server to produce modular designs. This allows you to reuse particular functional modules throughout a solution, and also to choose the order in which those functions are applied.

Stages, effectively, contain "function holders", in that they provide an area for different scripts and plugins to be attached. Requests sent by a client application, and accepted by a listener, are automatically routed through all of the stages defined in the "attached stages" list for that listener. As the request moves through each stage, it will trigger the functions attached to each stage holder. So the list of stages attached to a listener provides a "processing stack" that will make use of each modular function that you want to apply to requests that are accepted by that listener.

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server permits you to configure any number of stages per listener in a design. Processing Stages are handled sequentially, so that the results of the functionality implemented in one stage are passed on to the next stage for further processing. This allows you to take a complex directory customization task and reduce it into a set of simpler subtasks that can be implemented independently. Stages have other implications as well. If a subrequest is launched somewhere within the middle of the processing stack, it will pass through all stages that follow the one it was launched from. And the subresponse will traverse the stages in inverse order until the stage where the subrequest was launched is reached. This does not mean that all of the processing instructions within each stage will apply to the request and response, as Symlabs Virtual Directory Server provides a conditional model to determine whether processing should be applied. However, requests will still move through each successive stage, and responses will return through each stage until they arrive at the stage from which the request was generated from. As a result, the organization of processing stages is the most important architectural design that will need to be implemented in any deployment.

sym**labs**

7.1.1 Stages

A stage is used to process protocol packets and act on them. Stages are typically used to separate processing steps. You can think of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server as a pipeline: clients make requests to the listener, these requests are then handled by going through a set of stages, and finally the requests arrive at the server group and are sent to a back-end server. Of course, during the processing in a stage, a packet can be responded to straight away without going any further down the pipeline, or sub-requests can be emitted that are by themselves processed by other stages. Think of a stage as a module of functionality that acts on requests on the way from the client to the back-end, and vice versa.



Figure 7.1: Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Processing

Creating a Stage

Click on the "New" button to create a new stage. Alternatively, you can also right-click the "Stages" node in the Navigator and select "New". You can also click the "New" button on the toolbar, or select "New" from the "Entry" menu.

A window will pop up asking you for a name for your new Stage. Make sure the name is different from other stages that you create - every Stage must have a unique name. You will also need to select whether you want to create a automatic, or a manual stage. Once you have created your Stage, it will appear in the navigator. Select it in order to configure it, and then start attaching *plugins* (for automatic stages) or *hooks* (for manual stages).

Symlabs has provided a set of pre-written scripts that can be used as plugins within any stage. To easily facilitate the use of these plugins, DSGUI provides the option of setting up either Automatic or Manual stages. These different stage types are fairly artificial in that all stage definitions appear identical to Symlabs Virtual Directory Server and the actual configuration will not make any differentiation between them. Automatic stages simply provide an easy method to implement any of the built-in plugins, while Manual stages are more complex to configure, but will allow you to define your own scripts and processing to be performed on PDUs. We will discuss the differences between these stage types and how to configure them later.

7.1.2 Condition Model

In order to add more control to the different attached functionalities within a stage, Symlabs Virtual Directory Server offers a condition model that can be used to control the execution of each function. This provides finegrained control over whether a particular function applies to the data passing through the stage, and helps to avoid unnecessary processing.

The condition model consists of a set of conditions that are evaluated each time a PDU reaches the function holder within a stage. In manual stages, the function holder is described as a 'Hook', while in automatic stages the function holder is described as a Plugin. All function holders will include a condition line which will be used to evaluate whether or not the functionality provided should be invoked. So, for example, if a configuration requires a mapping functionality for entries stored in a certain branch, the condition model can be used to specify that the mapping functionality should only be invoked if the PDU is accessing that particular branch.

The are three different conditions that can be defined for both automatic and manual stages and another optional one that can be used only in manual stages:

- Suffix / Base DN / Prefix For LDAP operations this string specifies the DN suffix that must match the DN of the PDU for the functionality to be triggered. If the string is empty the suffix match is not made at all. If the string begins with an exclamation mark, the functionality is triggered if the DN of the PDU does NOT match the suffix. For LDAP operations that do not have a natural DN (unbind, queries responses, extended...) the evaluation of any suffix will always return false. For HTTP operations a prefix match on the URL is performed unless the first character of the string is an asterisk in which case, a suffix match is performed instead.
- **Bind DN** Specifies the credential DN that must been in use in the client connection for the attached plugin or script to be executed. An empty value means that the credential is not checked, and an exclamation mark at the beginning of the string indicates that the credential DN must NOT match the specified one. Also, a special value "anon" indicates that only non-authenticated connections will trigger the functionality (with "lanon" meaning ANY authenticated connection). For HTTP requests the "Host:" header of the PDU is matched.
- IP / Mask Specifies the range of client IPs that must match. An exact IP match can be obtained by specifying a 255.255.255.255 mask. The match can be omitted by leaving both fields empty or by specifying a mask of 0.0.0.0. Adding an exclamation mark will invert the checking as it does for the other conditions
- **Condition** Can only be used in conditions of HOOKs in manual stages. This field holds an expression that uses a syntax similar to that used to filter LDAP search requests, and is able to check values of PDU hash keys, checks on existence, using exact value or wild card matches. Only attributes present within the PDU can be checked.

Table 7.1: Condition Model Samples

Prot. Suffix / Base DN Bind DN	IP / Mask	Description
--------------------------------	-----------	-------------

LDAP	ou=market,dc=com			Only LDAP operations
				sent to "ou=market,
				dc=com" subtree.
LDAP		uid=Smith,dc=com		Only LDAP operations
				on connections authen-
				ticated with "uid=Smith,
				dc=com" user
LDAP			192.168.1.1 /	Only LDAP opera-
			255.255.255.0	tions from IPs between
				192.168.1.0 and
				192.168.1.254
LDAP	!ou=groups,dc=com		127.0.0.1 /	Only LDAP operation
			255.255.255.255	sent from localhost that
				are NOT trying to work
				on "ou=groups, dc=com"
LDAP		lanon	10.2.8.157 /	Only LDAP opera-
			255.255.0.0	tions sent from a client
				between 10.2.0.0
				and 10.2.254.254 IP
				address using an au-
				thenticated connection

Table 7.1: (continuation)

Configuring condition model

Conditions can be applied to both types of stages (automatic and manual), but are applied to each function holder within a stage. The configuration panel for the function holders in an automatic stage looks different to the configuration panel for the function holders in a manual stage.

To configure the conditions for automatic stages see Plugin configuration 7.2.1

For manual stages, please see Adding Conditions to a Hook 7.2.2

7.2 Types of stages

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server supports two types of stages: Automatic stages and Manual stages. This differentiation is provided only by Symlabs Virtual Directory Server's configuration tool, DSGUI. Symlabs Virtual Directory Server itself only treats both stage types as identical in terms of how they function. However, DSGUI allows you to easily configure many predefined functions by using *plugins*. To do this, DSGUI, presents the concept of an *Automatic Stage*.

7.2.1 Automatic Stages

An automatic stage can be used to attach the predefined modules. written by Symlabs, and bundled with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. These predefined modules provide a wide range of commonly used functions, including mapping database interfaces and merging multiple directory trees. Configuring Automatic Stages is, as the name implies, a relatively easy task. Automatic stages simply require you to select the modules that you'd like to install within the stage.



Once you have created a Automatic Stage, you can directly attach functional modules, called *plugins*, into the stage. These *plugins* implement specific functionality and come with their own configuration panels to provide an interface that will allow you to configure their specific parameters.

Selecting a plugin

The Plugin Selector dialog allows you to select the Plugin that you wish to attach to an Automatic Stage. Plugins are generally grouped by protocol, allowing you to select the protocol for which the plugin is relevant, so that it is easier to find the plugin that you are looking for. The Plugin Selector lists the available plugins and allows you to select one from the list. A description of each plugin is provided on the right-hand side of the selector, when you click on any of the plugins listed.

Logging	
Access Log	
Change Log	
Operation Dumper	
Packet Dumper	
Authentication	
Add Credentials	
Mapping and Transformation	
Attribute Mapping	
Map DN values	
Cuffix Manning	•
Name	

Figure 7.2: The Plugin Selector

The Plugin Selector will automatically create a name for the Plugin within the text field on the top. You can change this name if required. You will certainly need to choose a new name if you decide to attach the same plugin more than once in a particular stage, as each attached plugin requires a unique name.

Once you have selected and named the plugin, you can attach it by clicking the OK button. Alternatively, you can cancel the operation by clicking the Cancel button.

Each plugin provides its own Help file which fully documents the plugin's purpose and its configuration options. You can access this information either by clicking on the Help button in the configuration panel for each plugin, or by looking at the PDF documents that are included with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server.

Configuring a Plugin

Once a plugin has been inserted into an automatic stage, you will be able to use DSGUI to configure it. As the settings for each plugin are different, each plugin has its own unique configuration panel, however there are a couple of sub-panels that are common to all plugins and that we will explain here:

The condition selector

This sub-panel is available for every plugin and allows you to specify values for the different conditions used to determine whether the processing functionality provided by the plugin is applied to a PDU. The settings that are specified here will configure exactly what traffic should be processed by the plugin. The methodology behind this is explained in more detail in the section titled Condition model 7.1.2.

Base DN	Bind DN	Host	Mask
dc=growingcorp,dc=org			
	cn=user1,dc=symlabs,dc=com		
dc=justbought,dc=com			
		175.15.163.45	

Figure 7.3: The condition selector

The condition selector consists of a table with the following fields:

Table 7.2: Fields used to define a condition
--

Field	Description
Suffix	A suffix of the request that should be matched. This has meaning only for protocols that support the notion of a suf- fix, such as LDAP and HTTP. For LDAP, this is typically the DN (distinguished name) of the request. For HTTP, this is typically the URL. For other protocols, the meaning of "suf- fix" can be found on the <i>Symlabs Virtual Directory Server</i> <i>Developer's Reference Manual</i> .
Bind DN	The credentials of the current client session that this protocol packet belongs to. For LDAP, this is the DN that was used by the client to BIND (authenticate).
IP / Mask	An IP range together with a subnet mask. You can use this mechanism to match a specific client range.

The Debug Level

Most of the plugins support a *debug level* that, when set, makes the plugin return messages that may assist in diagnosing problems or tracing and debugging the plugin itself. As with most components in the configuration, log levels for debugging can be controlled using a slider control to determine the verbosity of logging output. The debugging options are as follows:

Critical System critical messages which cannot be disabled.

Warning Returns messages when something unforeseen that is not yet an error, happens.

Info Returns informational messages, describing normal actions within the plugin.

Trace Returns messages whenever key parts of the plugin are entered and exited.

Processing Returns messages during significant processing steps of the plugin.

PDU Dumps the entire PDU when the plugin is called.

Debug Returns detailed debugging messages (verbose!).

Dump Dumps contents of internal structures as they are used (very verbose!).

Debug Le								
						L		Apply New
Critical	Warning	Info	Trace	Processing	PDU	Debug	Dump	

Figure 7.4: Debug Level Configuration

As the slider moves from left to right, the verbosity will increase. Selecting a particular log level will output this detail to the log, along with all of the log data for the preceding log levels (i.e. those to the left of the selected level). Please also see the section on Debug Logs 4.4.3 for live instances.

7.2.2 Manual Stages

Manual stages intercept each packet based on a condition. This condition is evaluated for each packet arriving at the stage, and when it matches, a scriptlet written in DirectoryScript is called and will take custom action. DirectoryScript is a simple, but very powerful scripting language that permits you to do virtually anything that you need to do in order to process your packet. With DirectoryScript, you can completely rewrite a packet, adding, deleting or changing attributes as you require. You may also make sub-requests in any of the protocols supported by Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, including the ability to call external libraries.

All of the plugins that are bundled with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server and which are available for automatic stages, are also written in DirectoryScript. As such, the only difference between an automatic stage and a manual stage, is that the DirectoryScript scriptlets in an automatic stage have been written by Symlabs and include some configuration tools to make the scriptlets easier to use.

Once you have created a manual stage, you can attach *hooks* to it. Each hook supports a different protocol operation. For instance, when using the LDAP protocol, there is one hook for each LDAP operation type. Requests and responses are considered to be different operation types. So there would be a hook available for BIND requests, and a separate hook available for BIND responses. Hooks are used to trigger your custom written functions, based on the operations defined by the requests and responses that move through Symlabs Virtual Directory Server.

Selecting HOOKs to add to your manual stage

The hook selector allows you to add hooks to your manual stage. Hooks are grouped by protocol. Every protocol operation will have its appropriate hook. For many protocols that implement a request-response mechanism, you will see a different hook for each request type, as well as its reciprocal response type. For a detailed description of what types of hooks are available, consult the chapter "Stages, Hooks and Condition" in the *Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Developer's Reference Manual*.

2	Protocol	
-	LDAP	•
	REQ_BIND	
	RES_BIND	
	REQ_UNBIND	
	REQ_ABANDON	
	REQ_SEARCH	
	RES_SEARCH_ENTRY	
	RES_SEARCH_REF	
	RES_SEARCH_DONE	
	REQ_ADD	=
	RES_ADD	
	REQ_MODIFY	
	RES_MODIFY	
	REQ_COMPARE	
	RES_COMPARE	
	REQ_DELETE	
	RES_DELETE	
	REQ_MODRDN	
	RES_MODRDN	_
	BEA EVTENDED	•
	OK Cancel	

Figure 7.5: The Hook Selector

The following commonly used hooks are available¹:

LDAP and LDAPS protocols

Table 7.3: LDAP Hooks

Request	Response	Explanation
REQ_BIND	RES_BIND	
REQ_SEARCH	RES_SEARCH_ENTRY	There are multiple
	RES_SEARCH_DONE	possible responses to
	RES_SEARCH_REF	REQ_SEARCH
REQ_MODIFY	RES_MODIFY	
REQ_ADD	RES_ADD	
REQ_DELETE	RES_DELETE	
REQ_MODDN	RES_MODDN	
REQ_COMPARE	RES_COMPARE	
REQ_UNBIND	n/a	Connection closes
REQ_ABANDON	n/a	No response for this req

¹For a complete list of available hooks and how they work, you should refer to the chapter titled Stages, Hooks and Conditions in the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Administrator's Reference Manual.

Table 7.3: (continuation)

REQ_EXTENDED	RES_EXTENDED	

HTTP and HTTPS protocols

Table 7.4: HTTP Hooks

Request	Response	Explanation
REQ_HTTP_GET	RES_HTTP	The RES_HTTP response
REQ_HTTP_POST	ditto	hook works for all HTTP
REQ_HTTP_HEAD	ditto	requests.

Changing the Protocol

Before selecting a hook, you first need to select the protocol. When the hook selector comes up, the LDAP protocol is chosen by default. You may change the protocol by selecting it from the combo box at the top of the hook selector dialog.

Selecting one or more Hooks from the List

The list of hooks will always display the available hooks that you can add to your stage, based on the protocol that is selected. You can only add a specific hook once to each manual stage. If a certain hook is already added to the stage that you are adding hooks to, it will not appear in the list. You can select multiple hooks from the list before adding them to the stage. Once you have selected the hooks that you require, clicking the "OK" button will add the selected hooks to your stage. Alternately, you can cancel out of the hook selector by clicking on the "Cancel" button.

Adding Conditions to a Hook

A hook can contain zero or more *conditions* that determine what should happen when a packet matches certain characteristics. For example, if you are using LDAP, you may create a condition based on a SEARCH request that matches a specific search base, or that comes from a certain IP address. Whenever this condition matches a protocol packet, a *Scriptlet* (function written in DirectoryScript) is called. You specify this by providing the path to the file containing the DirectoryScript code, and the function name within the condition. The conditions available to Manual Stages are a superset of the condition model of Automatic Stages.

To define a condition for any hook, you will need to click on the hook in the configuration navigator. You will be able to see a list of currently attached conditions, as they are stored in the configuration file, and an "Add Condition" button that can be clicked to add a new condition.

ook Panel	
Help	
Add Condition	
	Condition
s: 0\$local/test.ds\$Substitu	teBindDN\$\$\$\$\$\$\$ou=SubBindDNOpts,ou=CustomEntries,ou=conf,o=dsproxy\$



Each condition consists of several fields which are used to construct a dollar separated string which is stored in the configuration file as a 'cs' entry. The Hook Configuration Panel displays each 'cs' entry as it appears in the configuration file. The fields that make up the dollar separated strings that are presented are as follows:
Table 7.5: Fields used in a condition	Table 7.5:	Fields	used in	ıa	condition
---------------------------------------	------------	--------	---------	----	-----------

Field	Description
Seq	Running Sequence. This is managed by dsgui. You can- not change the sequence number, however you can move conditions up and down to order them sequentially to your preference.
Source	The name of the file containing the DirectoryScript function that you want to call when the condition matches.
Function	The name of the DirectoryScript function that is to be called when the condition matches.
Prio	An optional priority that should be assigned to the current packet that is being matched. For a list of all priorities, refer to the chapter titled "Configuration file format for dsproxy" in the <i>Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Administrator's Reference Manual</i> . Priority values are listed in the table entitled "Priority values" in the section "Hooks and Condition".
Suffix	A suffix of the request that should be matched. This has meaning only for protocols that support the notion of a suffix, such as LDAP and HTTP. For LDAP, this is the destination DN (distinguished name) or base of the request. For HTTP, this is typically the URL. For other protocols, the meaning of "suffix" can be found on the <i>Symlabs Virtual Directory Server</i> <i>Developer's Reference Manual</i> .
Bind DN	The credentials of the current client session that this protocol packet belongs to. For LDAP, this is the DN that was used by the client to BIND (authenticate).
IP / Mask	An IP range together with a subnet mask. You can use this mechanism to match a specific client range.
Condition	A special condition written in the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server's versatile <i>condition language</i> . You can use this field to specify a highly flexible and customized condition that can- not be expressed by using the other fields. Information about Symlabs Virtual Directory Server's condition language can be found in the <i>Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Developer's</i> <i>Reference Manual</i> .
Parameter	An optional parameter that will be made available to the func- tion that is called whenever the condition matches. Your function will have access to this parameter typically by a spe- cial field (aka <i>magic attribute</i>) in the PDU structure.
Comment	An optional comment that you can use for informational purposes. Comments can be one line only.

Note that nearly all of these fields are optional, and can be used in any combination that you like, to achieve the functionality that you require. This provides an exceedingly flexible way of controlling access to data. For instance, a condition entry that looks like this:

cs: 1\$\$\$13\$ou=protected,dc=mycompany,dc=com\$\$192.168.0.1\$255.255.255.255\$\$

will drop all connnections from the IP address 192.168.0.1 if the request is trying to access the ou=protected,dc=mycompany,dc=com branch.

When adding a new condition or editing an existing condition, you will be presented with the Condition Editor, which will appear in the configuration panel. This editor simplifies the task of constructing a 'cs' string by presenting the fields in an easy to edit form.

Cancel	Help
File	Edit local/test.ds
Function	SubstituteBindDN
Priority	
Base DN	
Bind DN	
IP Network	
Netmask	
Condition	
Param	Go ou=SubBindDNOpts,ou=CustomEntries,ou=conf,o=dsproxy
Comment	

Figure 7.7: The Condition Editor

As conditions are added to the configuration, they will appear as entries in the configuration navigator. You can edit a condition by simply clicking on it within the navigator, and accessing the form that appears in the configuration panel. You can change the order of conditions (i.e. edit the 'seq' number) by right clicking on these entries and selecting the option to either move an entry up or down in the configuration.



Figure 7.8: Conditions in the configuration navigator

Specifying the Source

The input Source field has some extra functionality. It consists of a text field where you can enter a file name into the field. There are also two buttons to the left and right of the text field. The button to the right is labelled with three dots (...). When you click it, a file selector will pop up allowing you to select an existing file or to write the name of a new file to be used in this field. To the left of the text field is a small button labelled Edit. Clicking on this button will open up the specified file with the default DirectoryScript editor that you have defined in your DSGUI preferences3.3.4.

When you click the Edit button, the editor will pop up in a new window with the contents of your file. If the file could not be found, a dialog will pop up asking you to confirm whether you would like to create the file, and the file will be created without any content.

DirectoryScript Editor

The built-in DirectoryScript editor is a simple editor that supports the basic editing of text files. The editor window has a menu bar, an editor field in which you can edit the text, and a status line below that indicates the current line number and column that you are editing.

The editor supports a number of features:

<u>File Edit H</u>elp



Figure 7.9: DirectoryScript Editor Window

- **Preferences for Font and Tab Size** This is described in more detail in Editing preferences 3.3.4. Note that if you change the font, you need will need to reopen the file for the change to take effect. All tabs are automatically converted to spaces, so tab size is only significant for new lines (and autoindent).
- Syntax coloring Supports numbers, strings, comments, reserved words, punctuation.

Autoindent Blocks of code are automatically indented.

- **Brace matching** Positioning the cursor after a brace highlights both the opening and closing brace.
- **Incremental Search** Press Control+I, enter text, use the up and down keys to navigate. Press Esc to continue editing.
- Unlimited undo / redo available from the Edit menu.

Current line highlighting The line where the cursor is positioned is highlighted.

Automatic insertion of function declarations When opening a scriptlet, if the function declaration is present, the editor will position the cursor in its body. If the function declaration cannot be found, a default declaration will be inserted automatically.

The following menu options are available:

- File The save command will save the changes to your file.
- Edit The standard cut, copy, paste, undo and redo commands are available from this menu.

Chapter 8

PLUGINS AND SAMPLES

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server comes with a rich library of *plugins* that implement a wide range of useful functionality. As already described previously in this document, plugins are essentially pre-written DirectoryScript scriptlets that can be bundled with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. These scriptlets have their own configuration panels and are available within the DSGUI application to be used within Automatic Stages. Thanks to the staged processing model within Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, plugins can be chained together to create very complex solutions. As of the version 6 Release of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, all plugins are independent 'modules' or 'extensions' that can be installed within DSGUI as required. By default, all bundled plugins provided with the release will be installed and enabled, so that they are ready to use out of the box. However, since the plugins are separate components that can be installed into the GUI, you no longer have to wait until a new release of the core software to obtain an updated or modified version of a plugin that better suits your environment. Furthermore, new extensions can be made available to you as they become available. The extension model that is used to handle plugins also allows Symlabs to quickly develop a GUI configuration panel for Manual processing stages, to convert them into 'easy to use' configuration components that can be used within Automatic stages in the future. This means that customers, who require bespoke processing scripts and configuration options, can be catered for in a way that simplifies configuration of the product in the future. While Manual Stages will still prove useful to more advanced users, who wish to develop their own custom solutions, the extension model offers a way for Symlabs to develop custom scripts that can be used within Automatic Stages and which will include an intuitive configuration panel for your solution, so that they can be more easily configured and controlled.

For more detail on how to actually use plugins within an Automatic Processing Stage, please see the section on Automatic Stages 7.2.1.

8.1 Plugin Protocols and Groupings

Note that plugins will appear in the DSGUI application according to the protocol selected in the protocol selector and grouped by category. Currently the protocol selector provides options for LDAP, HTTP and Radius protocols. Plugins that apply to more than one protocol will appear in each protocol list. The list of protocols for which plugins are listed will change dynamically as extensions that support other protocols are added. Categories attempt to group plugins into logical usage scenarios. There are many situations where a plugin may not fall into a particular category very well, and there are a few categories that attempt to act as 'catch-all' categories to cover these plugins. The plugin categories are as follows:

• Logging: All plugins that are designed to log protocol events are grouped into this category.

- Authentication: Plugins that assist with Authentication issues, such as adding credentials to an anonymous BIND request, are grouped here.
- **Mapping and Transformation**: Plugins that map attributes or suffixes and transform the contents of PDUs accordingly, are usually found here.
- Security: Security related plugins that control data access or views can be found grouped into this category.
- **Data Validation**: Plugins that control data input and presentation, such as the Enumeration and Limits plugins, appear here.
- Caching and Virtual Content: This category is used for plugins that are used to store content in memory and serve it directly in response to requests.
- **Tools**: This category acts as a 'catch-all' and is used for plugins that extend the functionality or behavior of a backend directory.
- **Directory Integration**: Plugins that are commonly used to integrate data from multiple directories, or that solve problems for particular directory types will generally appear in this category.
- Pagination: Plugins that resolve pagination issues for various LDAP servers and clients, are found here.
- **Routing**: Plugins that control the routing of requests and responses based on particular variables are stored in this category.

Note that the categories that are listed will depend on which plugins are installed and enabled within your DSGUI configuration tool. The list may extend as new plugins are released and added to the product, and may diminish if you have removed or disabled some of the default plugins that are installed with the product.

8.2 Plugin Documentation and Help

For default plugins bundled with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, documentation is available formatted as individual PDF files, stored within doc/plugins off the root of your installation. For your convenience, the files are named in the following way:

```
<grouping>-<plugin_name>.pdf
```

For example:

Directory_Integration-JoinEntries.pdf

For all extensions, documentation is also provided in HTML format, and can usually be accessed directly by clicking on the Help button within the configuration panel for the plugin. If, for some reason, you are unable to access the file in your browser by clicking on the Help button, you will find the file located within:

extensions/plugins.symlabs.com/<extension_name>/files/help_<extension_name>.html

For example:

```
extensions/plugins.symlabs.com/accesslog/files/help_access_log_plugin.html
```

8.3 Managing Extensions

<u>File</u> Exten	sion			
Enabled	Name 🔺	Version		Access Log
~	Access Control	6.0	-	Enabled
V	Access Log	6.0		Version: 6.0
v .	Add Credentials	6.0	1=	ID: plugins.symlabs.com/accesslog
~	Add Entries	6.0	Н	Type: Plugin
~	Attach Trees	6.0	1	Protocols: LDAP
~	Attribute Mapping	6.0		Installed on: /opt/ds/vds/R5.9.9/extensions/plugins.svmlabs.com/acce
¥	BackLinks	6.0	1	Description
~	Cache Searches	6.0	1	Logs accesses in access log format. Useful for auditing.
~	Cache Single Entries	6.0	1	accesses in access log format. Oserar for additing.
¥	Change Log	6.0	1	
¥	Data View	6.0		
- F	Dvnamic Group Update	6.0	•	

Figure 8.1: The DSGUI Extension Manager

DSGUI includes a plugin or extension management interface, which can be accessed from the Menu Toolbar under the Extras menu as Manage DSGUI Extensions. Clicking on this menu item will open a dialog that lists the currently available dynamic plugins within a table. Within this dialog you are able to enable or disable different versions of each of the dynamic plugins that DSGUI has loaded. You are also able to Add New plugins, or Uninstall existing plugins.

The DSGUI Extension Manager dialog window contains two panels. In the first panel, plugins are listed within a table. The second panel provides detailed information about the plugin. The plugin table shows three columns: 'Enabled', 'Name' and 'Version'. The Enabled column shows whether or not a plugin will be available within the plugin list when you choose to Add a Plugin within an Automatic Processing Stage. The Name column provides the name of the plugin. Finally, the Version column is used to display the version number of the plugin.

When any row in the table is selected, detailed information including a full description for the plugin is displayed in the panel on the right.

It is possible to enable and disable plugins by simply checking or unchecking the 'Enabled' checkbox within the plugin table. Disabling a plugin will remove it from the plugin list when you choose to Add a Plugin within an Automatic Processing Stage. It is important to note that if a configuration already makes use of a plugin within a processing stage, the plugin will remain active and can be configured for that particular configuration, even if the plugin has been disabled within the extension manager. However, removing a plugin from the extension manager, will remove that plugin for an existing configuration as well.

The Menu toolbar, at the top of the dialog, provides a File menu and an Extension Menu:

- File
 - Add Extension: Allows you to import a new extension/plugin in the form of a 'jar' file, which will usually be provided to you by Symlabs
 - Select All: Selects all of the plugins within the plugin table (this is useful to mass-enable or massdisable plugins).
 - Select None: Unselects all items in the plugin table.
 - **Refresh Extensions**: Updates the plugin table with a newly acquired list of available plugins by querying the plugins stored within the extensions folder.
 - Close Window: Closes the Etension Manager window.
- Extension
 - Enable Extensions: Marks all selected plugins as 'Enabled'.

- Disable Extensions: Marks all selected plugins as 'Disabled'
- Remove Extensions: Removes the selected plugins from the extensions folder so that they are permanently unavailable to DSGUI.

DSGUI also provides some command-line options that may be useful when you need to perform batch operations to add and remove many extensions at once. The following command line options are available:

- **listExt**: Returns a list of all installed extensions, including their version number, whether or not they are enabled and which protocols they apply to. Note that this option will briefly open and close the GUI, so that it is not left running after it has returned this information.
- addExt: Provides the option to install an extension within the GUI from the command line. You will need
 to provide the path to the JAR file for the extension. The extension will not be enabled by default, although
 this can be easily achieved within the extension manager inside the GUI once the extension is installed.
 This option can be invoked for as many extension files that you need to add in a single operation. Once
 the extensions have been added, DSGUI will open and remain running.
- **remExt**: Provides the option to remove an extension from the GUI from the command line. You will need to provide the extension ID (e.g. plugins.symlabs.com/deltree) for the extension that you wish to remove. You can obtain the extension ID for any plugin using the listExt option. This option can be invoked for as many extensions that you need to remove in a single operation. Once the extensions have been removed, DSGUI will open and remain running.

The following examples show the command line options in operation:

```
bin/dsgui -listExt
```

```
plugins.symlabs.com/victimattribute:1.1:true:Victim Attribute:VictimAttribute:LDAP
plugins.symlabs.com/routeonip:1.1:true:Route On Client IP Address:IPRoute:LDAP:HTTP:Radius
plugins.symlabs.com/routeonbind:1.1:true:Route On Bind:RouteOnBind:LDAP
plugins.symlabs.com/loghttp:1.2:true:Http Log:HttpLog:HTTP
plugins.symlabs.com/routeonfilter:1.1:true:Route On Filter:RouteOnFilter:LDAP
plugins.symlabs.com/routeonfilter:1.1:true:Route On Filter:RouteOnFilter:LDAP
plugins.symlabs.com/routeonfilter:1.1:true:Route On Filter:RouteOnFilter:LDAP
plugins.symlabs.com/routeonfilter:1.1:true:Route DN values:LDAP
plugins.symlabs.com/routeonfilter:1.1:true:Map DN values:MapDNValues:LDAP
plugins.symlabs.com/changelog:1.1:true:Change Log:ChangeLog:LDAP
plugins.symlabs.com/hidepage:1.0:true:Hide Page:Hide Page:LDAP
plugins.symlabs.com/inmemoryattr:1.2:true:In Memory Attribute:InMemoryAttr:LDAP
plugins.symlabs.com/enforceschema:1.0:true:Enforce Schema Plugin:EnforceSchema:LDAP
```

```
bin/dsgui -addExt JoinEntries.jar -addExt MapSuffixes.jar -addExt DataView.jar
```

bin/dsgui -remExt plugins.symlabs.com/loghttp -remExt plugins.symlabs.com/routeonip

8.3.1 Extensions and RAS

It is important to understand that when you install, enable or disable a dynamic plugin in the Extension Manager, you are only affecting your local copy of DSGUI. If you are working on a remote configuration and wish to make use of a dynamic plugin, you need to ensure that this plugin is also available on the remote system. Since extensions are largely designed to provide a GUI interface to a plugin script, it is still possible to use

dynamic plugins for a remote system that does not have DSGUI installed (and therefore is incapable of installing Extensions).

To do this, you will need to identify the script file that the extension is using, and ensure that you copy this file to the same location on the remote system. As long as this file is in place, any configuration generated using a dynamic extension will work perfectly well on a remote system. In general, this can usually be achieved by simply copying the /extensions folder at the root of your local installation, to the root of your remote installation. The extensions are stored as separate folders within this directory, so it is possible to only copy a particular extension across to a remote system, if this is all you require. Finally, it is also possible to determine the path to the script that a particular extension is using by looking at the details for a plugin within the extension manager. By simply copying this script to the identical location on a remote system, any configuration generated using the extension will be able to run on the remote system.

If DSGUI is available on the remote system and you have shell or command line access to this system, it should be relatively simple to use the command line options within DSGUI to ensure that you have the correct extensions installed on the remote system.

8.4 Samples

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server includes a number of samples that can be loaded into an environment in order to help you understand how the different plugins work and how they can be used. These samples include example configurations, as well as sample data that can be loaded into LDAP servers. The samples that are provided with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server are largely for demonstration purposes and should help you to understand the different functionalities that Symlabs Virtual Directory Server offers.

It is very important to note that while trying out the sample configurations, you should only run *one* sample configuration on a system at a time. When you have finished testing a sample configuration, you should stop it or shut it down before running the next sample. If you do not do this, the next sample that you run will be unable to bind to the various ports required in the configuration and will fail to run as expected.

In order to make use of the samples included with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, you will need to install and set up one or more LDAP servers into which you will need to load the sample data. Once this has been done, you will be able to load the example configuration files using the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server GUI (DSGUI) in order to gain an understanding of how the different standard functionalities (or plugins) are configured and how they work.

Please note that setting up and configuring an LDAP server is not necessarily a simple task. The sample data, although provided in LDIF format (which will help facilitate loading the data into an LDAP server) may require some work to import into an existing LDAP setup. The sample data was exported from a SUN LDAP server and may require some work to import into other Unix-based LDAP servers and will almost certainly require a lot of work to import into an Active Directory setup. The data has been successfully imported into the SUN LDAP, OpenDS and IBM LDAP servers without too much trouble in the past, but the operation is not always simple. If you are importing the sample data, we highly recommend that you consult an LDAP specialist for help with this before continuing.

This section is NOT designed to provide detailed help for each functionality. Documentation for the sample that is provided for each plugin is provided, where a sample is available, within the plugin's independent help file or manual, along with a detailed description of the plugin and how it is configured. If you load a sample configuration and you want to see associated documentation and find help for the configuration of the plugin/s used within the sample, expand the Automatic processing stage where the plugin is contained, click on the plugin and then click on the Help button in the configuration panel for the plugin.

While most plugins are provided with a corresponding sample configuration, there are some plugins where a configuration will very much depend on your environment and no sample configuration will exist for these plugins.

8.4.1 Sample Data

In order to use the samples, two sets of data must be loaded into your Directory Servers. This data is stored inside the samples/data directory of your Symlabs Virtual Directory Server installation. The data is provided in LDIF format, in order to facilitate an easy load into any standard LDAP server. The LDIF files provided for demonstration purposes are named OneCorp.ldif and TwoCorp.ldif.

A few plugins are specific to handling problems in Active Directory environments. As a result, we have included some sample data that can be imported into any Active Directory instance. This data is available in the LDIF file AD-sample-users.ldif. If you choose to make use of this data to try out the samples that require it, you will need to edit the LDIF file to alter the DN suffixes to match your domain requirements.

Each file contains a set of data representing the internal information of a fictional corporation, and was created following standard schema attributes and objectclasses, in order to make it easy to load on virtually every directory server platform available without any changes to the schema definitions.

In order to maximize the benefit of using the sample data, and to gain a complete understanding of how Symlabs Virtual Directory Server works, we recommend that the data is loaded into two separate directory server instances. However, the samples will also work perfectly well if they are stored in the same instance, although you may not be able to see the full capability of the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server plugins. Before importing the LDIF file, make sure that the following root DNs are available in the directories where each set of data will be stored:

- **OneCorp.Idif**: Data representing "One" corporation. This should be loaded into the dc=onecorp, dc=com branch.
- **TwoCorp.Idif**: Data representing "Two" corporation. This should be loaded into the dc=twocorp, dc=com branch.
- AD-sample-users.lidf: Data for Active Directory specific samples. This should be edited so that the DN suffixes match your domain, and should then be loaded into an Active Directory instance, where it will create a branch 'OU=Tests2,DC=MYCOMPANY,DC=LOCAL'. Note that you may need to change 'DC=MYCOMPANY,DC=LOCAL' to match your environment.

If you are creating new directory instances for the purpose of testing the sample we suggest that you choose "cn=dirmanager" as the DN of the directory manager and "dirmanager" as the password.

Server hostnames in all configurations are as follows:

- Idapsymlabs1: The hostname used in configurations to represent the server where the OneCorp.ldif data is loaded
- Idapsymlabs2: The hostname used in configurations to represent the server where the TwoCorp.ldif data is loaded
- ADsymlabs: The hostname used in configurations to represent the server where the AD-sample-users.ldif data is loaded
- **SUNsymlabs**: The hostname used in configurations to represent a Sun DSEE server (for samples using the Simple2VLV and Showpage plugins)

It may be useful to add these entries to your hosts file if you are trying out the samples. For all LDAP server configuration entries, the port number is set to '389'. You may need to edit these to match the ports actually used by your server instances.

After loading the data, and if your environment does not match the one described above, you will find it useful to write down the information of the *instance(s)* where the data is stored (host name and port number), as you will need to provide this information when setting up the "Output" section of the example configurations in order to make them work.

Once the data has been loaded, you may wish to check that your LDAP instances are running and accessible and that you are able to access the data. You can do this using any standard LDAP Browser application. You will also be able to do this using the built-in LDAP Browser provided with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server by opening DSGUI and selecting the LDAP Browser button from the toolbar, or selecting Extras from the File menu and then selecting LDAP Browser from the list of options presented.

8.4.2 Working with Samples

All example configurations are stored in the samples directory and can be accessed from DSGUI by opening a local configuration and changing the root of the configurations to the "samples" directory.

Each sample configuration is meant to show how one of the plugins works. All of them consist of a single listener accepting requests on port 3890 (where test LDAP queries should be sent), a processing stage with a single functionality (except the logging samples where the logging functionality is added to one of the already defined samples) and an "Output" definition where the destination directory servers are configured.

In order to make the samples work, the only change required for each configuration is the redefinition of the "Output" section so that requests can be routed to the directory servers that you have used to load the sample data (as explained in the previous section).

By default, the configurations will have defined two "Automatic Servergroups" called sgOneCorp and sgTwoCorp within the Output section of the configuration tree. Each servergroup will need to be configured to point to the place where the OneCorp.ldif and TwoCorp.ldif files were loaded respectively. You should edit the servergroup information within this part of the configuration so that it contains the server information (host name and port) that we suggested that you write down in the previous section.

Each plugin, for which a sample has been configured, will come with its own documentation explaining what the sample does, how it works and how to test it. Since plugins can be chained together within the staged processing model used within the product, some sample configurations will make use of more than one plugin, typically to show common usage scenarios.

8.4.3 Complex Scenario

Symlabs Virtual Directory Server includes a sample configuration designed to show how multiple plugins can be used in conjunction to create a more complex solution handling a variety of functionalities at once.

Plugins

The following plugins are used in this sample configuration:

- Operation Dumper: Used to log operations moving through the virtual directory
- Max / Min Limits: Used to control the maximum and minimum values that can be entered for attributes
- Attach Trees: Used to mount a branch from a backend directory onto the DIT structure of the virtual directory

- Join Entries: Used to merge data from entries that share a common attribute within separate branches of the virtual directory
- Suffix Mapping: Used to transform a suffix or DN used in one directory to appear as if it belongs to another
- Merge Trees: Used to create a virtual branch consisting of entries from one or more different branches within one or more backend directories

Location

The sample configuration will be accessible within DSGUI in the Open Config dialog, by clicking on the dropdown selector at the top of the dialog window, and changing the value from 'confs' to 'samples'. The sample configuration is named:

sample.complex

If you wish to view the actual LDIF file that makes up this configuration it is located in the samples folder at the root of your installation.

samples/sample.complex

Objective

Most of the samples included with the bundled plugins, use a single plugins within their respective example configurations. This sample, however, will attempt to show how multiple plugins can be used in more complex configurations.

This scenario uses six of the bundled plugins, each of which performs the functionality presented in their independent samples. Documentation for each plugin, including how the plugin is configured within the sample, can be found by clicking on the Help button in the configuration panel for the respective plugin. The six plugins are joined in a single configuration to show how they can interact among themselves, and also to show how Symlabs Virtual Directory Server has created a modular processing system that allows you to manipulate and control data as it moves between client applications and server repositories.

Configuration

All of the plugins in this example configuration use the configuration settings that are used in their independent sample configurations. More detail on how they are configured can be found by clicking on the Help button in the configuration panel for the respective plugin The only difference in this configuration is that the plugins are now all grouped together in a single configuration. Each plugin is attached to its own stage, which is labelled in such a way as to indicate the functionality that we are trying to achieve using the plugin.

Test

All of the tests explained in the samples for the different plugins that are used in this configuration can be used to test this sample, and all of them should work in the Virtual Directory created by this configuration.

Chapter 9

RUNNING

9.1 How to Start / Stop an Instance

In this section, our main purpose will be to explain the necessary steps in order to start and stop instances of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server using the configurations that you have created within DSGUI. In particular we will explain how DSGUI can be used to start a configuration either locally, or remotely using the Remote Administration Server.

9.1.1 How configurations are started

DSGUI provides two alternative methods of starting a configuration. The process is the same, regardless of whether you wish to start a configuration locally or remotely. The first method simply requires that you click on the "Run" button situated on the toolbar. Alternately, you can start a configuration by selecting the "Run" option from the "Process" menu at the top of the DSGUI main window.

As soon as a configuration has been started, the dsproxy core process will start reading the configuration file that you are working with. Instantly, the "Message Output Area" will become available and will start to display output generated by the running process. This output section is explained in the section (Logging 9.2).

It is important to note that while multiple configurations can be managed by DSGUI, if you are working on two separate configurations running on the same physical system, it is possible that the two configurations may have port conflicts that you are unaware of. If you try to start two configurations on the same system, you may find that one configuration does not run as expected as it may be unable to bind to some of the ports that it has been configured to use. When running a configuration, it is essential that you ensure that all configured ports for that configuration are available for the system that you intend to run the configuration on.

9.1.2 How configurations are stopped

In order to stop a configuration that has been started by DSGUI, you have two different options, you can either use the "Stop" button on the toolbar or you can select one of the two different methods ("Graceful Shutdown" or "Forceful Stop") under the "Process" menu at the top of DSGUI window or under the drop down menu on the toolbar.

The stopping method that will be used when you choose to stop the running instance with the "Stop" button will be determined by the availability of the Administration port and its "Graceful Shutdown" functionality. If both are enabled (see "Administration" configuration in Administration Port Configuration 4.4.4), "Graceful Shutdown" will be used. If not, a "Forceful Stop" will be triggered when the "Stop" button is selected.

Forceful Stop

Forceful Stop simply kills the running dsproxy process. This will, of course, stop all processing instantly. This means that all requests that are still being processed within the running instance will be killed along with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. As a result, we recommend that where possible, you make use of the Graceful Shutdown option.

Graceful shutdown

Graceful Shutdown provides an alternative method to stop a running instance of dsproxy. When the Graceful Shutdown feature is used, a special signal is sent to the dsproxy process, notifying it of the shutdown request. Symlabs Virtual Directory Server will then cease to accept any new requests on all of its listeners. It will then attempt to complete all of the processing for existing requests within the system. Once Symlabs Virtual Directory Server has finished processing all requests, or after the configured timeout period has been exceeded, the running process will terminate. You can find more detailed information on how the "Graceful Shutdown" process works in Graceful Shutdown 4.4.1

This method is of course safer than Forceful Stop, as it allows for "hot" instances (instances that are still processing requests) to finish processing before they terminate. Moreover, no additional steps are required (like stopping all client applications), to ensure that no data is lost.

On Unix systems, it is possible to configure a Watchdog service ¹, which is a process that will ensure that any dsproxy process that stops is automatically restarted. Therefore, if the Watchdog is enabled and you perform a Graceful Shutdown the instance you are trying to stop will be restarted. You will recieve a Warning dialog, notifying you that you should perform a Forceful Stop to actually terminate the instance. To perform a Forceful Stop when the Graceful Shutdown is enabled, instead of using the "Stop" button of the toolbar, you need to select "Forceful Stop" from the drop down menu right next to the "Stop" button of the toolbar or the "Process" menu at the top of DSGUI window.

9.1.3 Running a Symlabs Virtual Directory Server Instance as a Windows Service

For Windows Operating Systems, it is possible to run individual instances either manually from the shell, or to have them registered as Windows Services that can be invoked at system startup.

An instance created with DSGUI can be started manually using the "init-dsproxy.bat" batch script that you can find in the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server installation directory. This script is used by the Remote Administration Server to start and stop instances, and it works by registering the configuration as a service and then using the OS facilities to manage (start / stop / restart) it.

Before running the batch script, it is important to check that the script is searching the right location for your configuration. In the file located at:

C:/Program Files/Symlabs/VDS/RX.X.X/admrem/admconf

check that the line containing the "configdir" directive contains the correct path containing your configuration. If you are using a pre-R4.5 version of the software, you may need to edit this line to reference a local configuration.

So, to register your configuration as a service simply run the bat file. The syntax for this command is:

init-dsproxy.bat <configuration name> <action>

In the above example, <action> can be:

¹See Section 4.2 on Global Parameters to find out more about Watchdog processes.

🖵 Computer Management						
💻 Eile Action <u>V</u> iew <u>W</u> indow He	lp					_ B ×
← → 🗈 🖬 😭 🗟 😫						
📮 Computer Management (Local) ⊟∰ System Tools	🍇 Services					
🕀 🔝 Event Viewer	Symlabs LDAP Proxy R5.0.0 [confs -	Name 🔺	Description	Status	Startup Type	Log On As 🔺
E Shared Folders	Test]	🍓 Remote Procedure Call (RPC)	Serves as t	Started	Automatic	Network S
E Second Users and Groups		🍓 Remote Procedure Call (RPC) Locator	Enables re		Manual	Network S
Performance Logs and Alert: Device Manager	Stop the service Restart the service	🍓 Remote Registry	Enables re	Started	Automatic	Local Service
E Storage	restart are service	Remote Server Manager	Maintains a	Started	Automatic	Local System
E 🔐 Storage		🎇 Removable Storage	Manages a		Manual	Local System
Disk Defragmenter		🎇 Resultant Set of Policy Provider	Enables a		Manual	Local System
💥 Disk Management		Routing and Remote Access	Offers rout		Disabled	Local System
E Services and Applications		Secondary Logon	Enables st	Started	Automatic	Local System
E - I Telephony		Security Accounts Manager	The startu	Started	Automatic	Local System
Services		Server	Supports fil	Started	Automatic	Local System
- 🆓 WMI Control		🆓 Shell Hardware Detection	Provides n	Started	Automatic	Local System
🗄 쭬 Indexing Service		🆏 Smart Card	Manages a		Manual	Local Service
🗄 🐔 Internet Information Service		Special Administration Console Helper	Allows adm		Manual	Local System
		🎇 Symlabs LDAP Proxy R4.9.7 RAS			Manual	Local System
		Symlabs LDAP Proxy R5.0.0 [confs - Test]		Started	Manual	Local System
		Symlabs VDS R4.9.7 RAS			Manual	Local System
		System Event Notification	Monitors s	Started	Automatic	Local System
		Task Scheduler	Enables a	Started	Automatic	Local System
		TCP/IP NetBIOS Helper	Provides s	Started	Automatic	Local Service
		🖏 Telephony	Provides T		Manual	🛛 Local System 💌
		•				•
	Extended / Standard /					

SVMLABS

Figure 9.1: A configuration instance has been added to Windows Services.

check It will register the service (if it is not already registered) and check if it is running

start It will register the service (if it is not already registered) and start it

stop It will register the service (if it is not already registered) and stop it

restart It will invoke stop and the start functionalities

condrestart It will invoke stop and start functionalities (if the instance is already running).

remove It will remove the service if already registered

Once a configuration has been installed as a service, you can use your Windows Service interface to manage it, configuring it to start automatically if you want. The configuration will be listed in Services as "Symlabs Virtual Directory Server <configuration directory – configuration name>".

9.2 Logging

In the following sections we will try to explain how DSGUI interacts with the logging generated by a running Symlabs Virtual Directory Server instance. We will explore how the logging information is generated and the different options that a DSGUI user has to view and explore its content.

9.2.1 How logging works

A running Symlabs Virtual Directory Server instance generates several different kinds of logging information that can be viewed in the DSGUI that is managing it. The log data is generally stored within the 'logs' directory inside the directory for the instance configuration. Log data may be stored for these 3 different destinations:

- **STDOUT** This destination will receive the information that the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server instance "prints" while it is running. Most information generated by the scripts and plugins (Plugin configuration 7.2.1) is sent to this destination and should be checked here. Changing the debug level (verbosity) of a plugin or calling "print" functions inside your scripts, will affect the output written to this destination.
- **STDERR** This destination is mainly used by the "core" of the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server engine. All internal engine processing information (opening of ports, decodification errors, script compilation problems, etc.) is written here. Plugins do not use this destination at all, but if you want, a custom script can write to this output using the "perr" function.
- File Any custom script can use API functions to write information to any file within the filesystem where the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server engine that is processing the script can write. Also, all the logging plugins can optionally write their output to files instead of using STDOUT or STDERR. It is a good idea to always place files where logging information will be written inside the "logs" directory of your instance, as they will be easier to access.

The STDOUT and STDERR logs are automatically presented as separate tabs within the Message Output area in DSGUI when an instance is started. A folder icon toward the top of the Message Output are can be used to open any other external log file that you wish to watch. By default, the file explorer will open within the logs directory for the configuration that you are working with.

Log files are also accessible via the Web-based Remote Access Server (WRAS) if this service has been configured correctly and is running.

9.2.2 Controlling log levels on-the fly

Log levels can be changed on-the-fly by sending a modification request through the Administration port. As a result, any of the log levels specified within the DSGUI application are capable of being changed while the instance is running without requiring a restart.

To change the log-level on the fly, using the DSGUI application, the appropriate log item should be navigated to within the configuration tree. A button titled "Apply Now" will be visible next to the logging options. This button will only be available if the instance is actually running. If you change the log level while the instance is running, you will be able to click on the "Apply Now" button to change the log level for the live instance.

9.2.3 Managing logging

As already discussed, the logging facility will capture data destined for STDERR and STDOUT and will output this data to log files stored within the 'logs' directory for a configuration. These files are displayed inside the Message Output Area when an instance is started within DSGUI. The Message Output Area allows you to open other custom log files, and to control how you view logging output.

The lower section if the Message Output Area is a tabbed panel with each of the different logging destinations configured for the different plugins, including the STDOUT and STDERR outputs. This panel allows you to select the destination logging that you want to see, and you can change the output that you are viewing just by clicking on a different tab.

The upper section is used to send commands to the currently selected output destination using the different buttons. The commands that you can send are:

Show a new log file Opens a file selector that allows you to add a new file to the tabbed panel.

Jogs / STDOUT Jogs / Operation., dumper Jog Jogs / STDOUT Jogs / STDERR Jogs / operation., dumper Jog JOGER 120101126133614, 713107 120101126133614, 722854 1127, 0. 0. 1 511621389015g00neCorp 1127, 0. 0. 1 111d-d-mongoumarketting, dc-onecorp, dc JOGER 120101126133614, 724039 120101126133642, 153741 1127, 0. 0. 1 511621389015g00neCorp 1127, 0. 0. 1 111d-d-mongoumarketting, dc-onecorp, dc JOGER 120101126133644, 15312101126133642, 153741 1127, 0. 0. 1 511721389015g00neCorp 1127, 0. 0. 1 111d-d-mongoumarketting, dc-onecorp, dc JOGER 120101126133644, 1532120101126133644, 453331 127, 0. 0. 1 511371389015g00neCorp 1127, 0. 0. 1 111d-manager 1961110 JOGER 120101126133644, 452331 120101126133654, 453331 127, 0. 0. 1 511381389015g00neCorp 127, 0. 0. 1 111d-manager 1961110 JOGER 120101126133654, 452331 120101126133656, 633571 1127, 0. 0. 1 51181389015g00neCorp 127, 0. 0. 1 111d-manager 1961110 JOGER 120101126133654, 53351 127, 0. 0. 1 51181389015g00neCorp 127, 0. 0. 1 111d-manager 1961110 JOGER 12010126133704, 14124 120101126133702, 115571 127, 0. 0. 1 511871389015g00neCorp 127, 0. 0. 1 111d-manager 1961110 JOGER 12010126133704, 14024 120101126133702, 115571 127, 0. 0. 1 511871389015g00neCorp 127, 0. 0. 1 111d-manager 1961110 JOGER 12010126133704, 14024 120101126133702, 115551 127, 0. 0. 1 511871389015g00neCorp 127, 0. 0. 1 111d-manager 196110 JOGER 12010126133704, 400479 1127, 0. 0. 1 511871389015g00neCorp 127, 0. 0. 1 111d-manager 196110 JOGER 1	Virtual Directory Server Operation Dumper Plugin OK Cancel Help Heatth Monitoring Administration Directory Server On Cancel Help Heatth Monitoring Administration Bind DN Host Main OperationDumper Debug Level Debug Level Output OperationDumper Debug Level Debug Level Operation Dumper Configuration Operation Qumper Configuration Operation Qumper Configuration Operation Dumper Configuration Log to stdout Log to stdout Log to stdout Log to stdout Use read operation_dumper/ Warning Info Trace Processing PDU Debug Dump Operation Dumper Configuration Use stdout Log to stdout Log to stdout Log to stdout RegEx Highlight gs /STDUUT Tegs /STDERR Tegs/operation_dumper/Go Regex Highlight Gereation Go gs /STDUUT Tegs /STDERR Tegs/operation_dumper/Go Intermanager Id-conecorp, dc-Conecorp, dc-Conel/Store Advestalization Intermanager1961	R. ▼ 🗗 ▼ 📑 🖛 ▼ 🍕	<u>Help</u>) C	한 Virtual Director	y Server 6.0	symu	AB
Circlad Directory Server Circlad Directory Server Circlad Directory Server Circlad Directory Server Condition Directory Directory Condition Directory	Ok Cancel Heip Ok Cancel Heip Ok Cancel Heip Ok Condition Endotes OperationDumper Debug Level Debug Level Operation Dumper Configuration Log to stdeer Append log to file Append log to dated file Create new file Filename Ingr/Appending to stdeer Append log to file Append log to dated file Create new file Filename Ingr/Appending to stdeer Append log to file Append log to dated file Create new file Filename Ingr/Appending to stdeer Appending to file Appending to dated file Create new file Filename Ingr/Appending to stdeer Appending to file Appending to dated file Create new file Filename Ingr/Appending to stdeer Appending to file Appending to dated file Create new file Filename Ingr/Appending to stdeer Appending to file Appending to dated file Create n	sample.op_dumper@localhost						
Maministration Maministration Base DN Bind DN Host Mask Processing OperationDumper Objgops OperationDumper OperationDumper Objgops Output Apply Now OperationDumper Configuration OperationDumper Configuration Operation Dumper Configuration Operation Dumper Configuration Log to stdout Create new file Filename Ings/operation_dumper/log Vise Extended Functionality Remove canonicalization from reported DNs Sternich Ings/operation_dumper/log Reegex Highlight Reegex Highlight Reeges H	Base DN Bind DN Host Mask Processing OperationDumper Debug Level Debug Level Debug Level Output Output OperationDumper Debug Level Debug Level Debug Level Output OperationDumper Configuration Debug Level Debug Level Level Debug Level	Global Parameters	OK Cancel Help	-				
Name OperationDumper Object OperationDumper Object OperationDumper Object OperationDumper OperationDumper DeparationDumper OperationDumper	Name OperationDumper Output OperationDumper Output OperationDumper Output OperationDumper OperationDumper OperationDumper OperationDumper OperationDumper OperationDumper OperationDumper OperationDumper OperationDumper OperationDumper OperationDumper OperationDumper Operation_dumper OperationDumper Operation_dumper Use to stdout Log to stdeur Append log to file Append log to file Append log to file Create new file Filename logs/speration_dumper Imperation_dumper Imperation_dumper V Log read operations Log write operations Log SASL Use Extended Functionality Remove canonicalization from reported DNs Imperation201126133614 /2180/speration_dumper/20127 0.0.111/std=200_speration_dumper/127 0.0.111/std=200_speration_dumper/127 0.0.111/std=200_speration_dumper/127 0.0.111/std=200_speration_dumper/127 0.0.111/std=200_speration_dumper/127 0.0.111/std=200_speration_dumper/127 0.0.111/std=200_speration_dumper/127 0.0.111/std=200_speration_dumper/127 0.0.111/std=200_speration_dumper/127 0.0.111/std=200_sper	🕶 🔫 Input	a supervision of the second		Bind DN	Host	Mask	
Log to stdout Log to stdour Append log to file Append log to dated file Create new file Filename Ingr/operation_dumper log Image: Ingr	Log to stdout Log to stdout Append log to file Append log to dated file Create new file Filename Ingr/appration_dumper/log Improve the period operations Log SASL Improve the period operation Improve the period operating operation Improve the perio	🗢 🜒 bringitaly	-Debug Level		Processing PDU	Debug		lo w
Disp: XTD DUT Togs / STD ERR Toge / S	gc/STD0UT Togs /STDERR Togs /operation_dumper/op GER (2010) 126133614.713107/2010) 126133614.722854 [127.0.0.151162] 3890] sg0neCorp [127.0.0.1] [11/d = 10/mularketting, dc=onecorp, dc GER (2010) 126133614.724039] 20101 126133614.722854 [127.0.0.151172] 3890] sg0neCorp [127.0.0.1] [11/d = 10/mularketting, dc=onecorp, dc GER (2010) 126133614.713107/2010) 126133614.722854 [127.0.0.151172] 3890] sg0neCorp [127.0.0.1] [11/d = 10/mularketting, dc=onecorp, dc GER (2010) 126133642.151073120011 26133642.623878 [127.0.0.151172] 3890] sg0neCorp [127.0.0.1] [11/d = 10/mularketting, dc=onecorp, dc GER (2010) 126133644.7545331 [27.0.0.151172] 3890] sg0neCorp [127.0.0.1] [11/d = 10/mularketting, dc=onecorp, dc= GER (2010) 126133644.523531 [27.0.0.151183] 3890] sg0neCorp [127.0.0.1] [11/d = 10/mularager [961] [10/d = 10/mularger [961] [10/d		C Log to stdout C Lo Filename ogg/open	og to stderr Append ration_dumper.log s Log write operat	tions 🔲 Log SASL		🔾 Create new file	
GGER 20101126133614.713107 20101126133614.722854 127.0.0.1 51162 3890 sg0necorp 127.0.0.1 1 1 i d = 1 1 i d = 1 1 i d = 1 1 1 1 d = 1 1 1 d = 1 1 1 d = 1 1 1 d = 1 1 1 d = 1 1 1 d = 1 1 1 d = 1 1 1 d = 1 1 1 d = 1 1 1 1 d = 1 1 1 1 d = 1 1 1 1 d = 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	GER 20101126133614.713107/20101126133614.7228541127.0.0.1 151162 38901sg0necOrp1127.0.0.1 111114 Outmarketting, dc-onecorp, dc GER 20101126133614.724039120101126133614.9661501127.0.0.1 151162 38901sg0necOrp1127.0.0.1 111114 Outmarketting, dc-onecorp, dc GER 20101126133641.51073120101126133642.1537411127.0.0.1 151172 38901sg0necOrp1127.0.0.1 111114 Outmarketting, dc-onecorp, dc GER 20101126133642.15107312011126133642.6258781127.0.0.1 151172 38901sg0necOrp1127.0.0.1 111114 Incendrimanager 196110 GER 20101126133644.525371127.0.0.1 1511813 38901sg0necOrp1127.0.0.1 111114 Incendrimanager 196110 GER 20101126133654.5252351127.0.0.1 1511813 38901sg0necOrp1127.0.0.1 111114 Incendrimanager 196110 GER 20101126133762.23551127.0.0.1 1511813 38901sg0necOrp1127.0.0.1 111114 Incendrimanager 196110 GER 20101126133702.11442120101126133702.115571127.0.0.1 1511871 38901sg0necOrp1127.0.0.1 111114 Incendrimanager 196110 GER 20101126133702.114217 155171270.0.0.1 1511871 38901sg0necOrp1127.0.0.1 111114 Incendrimanager 196110 GE	3 🗊 🛄 🗖 JSmith	21				RegEx Highligh	t <
GGR 20101126133614. 7240391 2010112613364. 968150 127. 0. 0. 1] 51162 138901 sg0necorp 127. 0. 0. 1] 1111. dit line line line line line line line line	GER 2010126133614.72403912010126133614.9661501127.0.0.1151162138901sg0necorp1127.0.0.1111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 2010126133642.151073120101126133642.453781127.0.0.1151172138901sg0necorp1127.0.0.111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 2010126133642.151073120101126133644.453381127.0.0.1151172138901sg0necorp1127.0.0.111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 2010126133654.4526232120101126133654.953381127.0.0.1151183138901sg0necorp1127.0.0.111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 2010126133654.356731120101126133654.953381127.0.0.1151183138901sg0necorp1127.0.0.111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 2010126133654.356731221001126133656.2335711127.0.0.1151183138901sg0necorp1127.0.0.111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 2010126133656.233581120101126133656.2335711127.0.0.1151183138901sg0necorp1127.0.0.111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 2010126133702.11441221001126133702.115571127.0.0.1151187138901sg0necorp1127.0.0.111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 2010126133704.600521120101126133702.129561127.0.0.115187138901sg0necorp1127.0.0.111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 20101126133704.600521120101126133707.21290661127.0.0.115187138901sg0necorp127.0.0.111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 20101126133704.600521120101126133707.2129061127.0.0.115187138901sg0necorp127.0.0.111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 20101126133704.600521120101126133707.2129061127.0.0.115187138901sg0necorp127.0.0.111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 20101126133704.600521120101126133707.2129061127.0.0.115187138901sg0necorp127.0.0.111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 20101126133704.60052112010112613377.955581127.0.0.115189138901sg0necorp127.0.0.1111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 2010112613371.9954512010112613377.955581127.0.0.115189138901sg0necorp127.0.0.1111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 2010112613371.99545122.212610112613377.955581127.0.0.11519138901sg0necorp127.0.0.1111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 2010112613371.99545122.212610112613377.955581127.0.0.11519138901sg0necorp127.0.0.1111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 2010112613377.995452122.2131871127.0.0.11519138901sg0necorp127.0.0.1111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 2010112613372.212761010112613372.2313871127.0.0.11519138901sg0necorp127.0.0.1111ct=dimanager1961[10 GER 201011	ogs/STDOUT logs/STDERR	logs /operation_dumpo	erJog				
Jack[20101126155/22.15454/[20101126155/22.305949]127.0.0.1[51132]5690[5g0necorp]127.0.0.1[01d=autom, dd=marketing, d		GGER 20101126133614.724039 GGER 20101126133642.151073 GGER 20101126133642.154458 GGER 20101126133654.452823 GGER 20101126133654.456741 GGER 20101126133656.2359581 GGER 20101126133762.114142	120101126133614 96815011 (20101126133642 .6528781 (20101126133642 .6528781) (20101126133654 .4553381) (20101126133654 .4553381) (20101126133656 .2533711) (20101126133656 .68876711) (20101126133702 .1155571) (20101126133702 .12506611)	127.0.0.1 51162 3890 127.0.0.1 51172 3890 127.0.0.1 51172 3890 127.0.0.1 51172 3890 127.0.0.1 51183 3890 127.0.0.1 51185 3890 127.0.0.1 51185 3890 127.0.0.1 51187 3890 127.0.0.1 51187 3890	sg0neCorp 127.0.0.1 (sg0neCorp 127.0.0.1	rid= transperied cn=dirmanager d cn=dirmanager d cn=dirmanager d cn=dirmanager cn=dirmanager cn=dirmanager cn=dirmanager cn=dirmanager d u d= transper d	arketing,dc=onecor 961110 Ic=onecorp,dc=com19 961110 Ic=onecorp,dc=com19 961110 Ic=onecorp,dc=com19 961110 Ic=onecorp,dc=com19 marketing,dc=oneco	p,dc=c 9 2#0 9 2#0 9 2#0 9 1#0 rp,dc=

Figure 9.2: Managing logging in the Message Output Area

Close this log file Removes the currently selected destination from the tabbed panel.

Fetch this log from the start Restart reading the selected destination logging file form its beginning.

Fetch this log from now on Start reading the file from now and stop sending past information.

Text field + RegEx + Highlight Tells DSGUI to highlight (in red) each instance of the text selected in the text field as it appears in the log. If the RegEx option is selected, the contents of the text field will be interpreted as a regular expression and matches will be highlighted within the log.

Regular Expression Basics

The syntax used for regular expressions within DSGUI is the same as that supported by Java (which is quite similar to that used in PerI). Some basic examples follow, but you should check the documentation of class java.util.regex.Pattern.

	Matches any char
\d	Matches any digit
\w	Matches an alphanumeric char
\s	Matches any space
[ab]	Matches 'a' or 'b' characters
^a	Matches lines that start with an 'a' char
a\$	Matches lines that end with an $'a'$ char
a+	Matches 1 or more 'a' chars
a*	Matches 0 or more 'a' chars
a?	Matches 0 or 1 'a' chars
a{2,4}	Matches 2, 3 or 4 'a' chars
$(\w^{*}=\w^{*},)+dc=org[^{w},]$	Matches canonical dns hanging from dc=org (approx.)

Symlabs IDENTITY MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS

Chapter 10

REMOTE ADMINISTRATION SERVER (RAS)

10.1 Overview

The Remote Administration Server (also known as RAS) is an agent process that runs, along with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, on a server with the purpose of allowing the instances to be operated and managed remotely.

The RAS is basically composed of two tools or functionality sets:

- **DSGUI Interface** Receives and executes commands sent from a DSGUI instance running on another computer. This process effectively makes an instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server manageable by remote DSGUI instances.
- Web Remote Administration Server (WRAS) Offers a web interface to users accessing the RAS using a web browser. While it offers a more basic set of operations, it has the advantage that nothing other than a web browser is needed as a user agent.

Both the DSGUI Interface and the WRAS are handled by the same Symlabs Virtual Directory Server process and are configured in the same file, but each can be partially or completely deactivated by configuring the Role Settings.

10.1.1 Purpose Of RAS

The Remote Administration Server is a feature that was included within version 4 of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server. Prior to the implementation of this feature, a remote instance could only be managed by manually connecting to the instance to copy configurations, edit files or run programs, or by running DSGUI in each of these instances (which is not allowed in many production environments).

In order to overcome these difficulties RAS was developed to facilitate the administration of configurations across a range of environments and servers:

With the DSGUI Interface functionality of RAS, a single DSGUI instance, installed on a local computer, can be used to manage instances of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server across completely separated development, testing, and production platforms within your organization. DSGUI and RAS will collaborate to make development, testing and monitoring seamless across various environments and servers. An introduction to the different options to support multiple environments can be found in the section titled How DSGUI works 2.3.

- The Web Remote Administration Server (WRAS) functionality offers a simpler alternative to remote administration: The user can access the remote instance and perform a basic set of operations directly using a web browser. This removes any requirement to install or run DSGUI or any kind of software (besides the web browser itself).

The usual approach is that in the development and testing phase of a project the instances are created, debugged and put to work using DSGUI with the RAS interface. Once the functionality is stable and during the production phase, the instances can be remotely accessed with WRAS for monitoring and to perform occasional basic operations as well as the debugging of minor problems.

10.1.2 What You Can Do With RAS

A RAS instance is primarily responsible for taking care of the management and operation of a Symlabs Virtual Directory Server instance. These tasks represent the following actions:

Management Create / Load / Save / Remove Configurations

Operation Start / Stop / Check Status / Show logs

When working with RAS via the DSGUI interface, DSGUI will create a virtual filesystem space that allows you to treat remote and local configurations in a unified way, so that you can manage all of your configurations from a single instance of DSGUI regardless of where they are located.

Although the WRAS interface makes it possible to edit existing configurations and functionality scripts, it currently does not support the option to create new configurations or scripts.

RAS, either through DSGUI or WRAS, also facilitates the option to execute specialized commands related to the management and monitoring of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server instances.

10.1.3 How RAS Works

RAS is built as a specialized local configuration that is included in the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server package and that can be run by the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server core process. As a result, any server on which Symlabs Virtual Directory Server has been installed can run the RAS service. The RAS configuration is used to facilitate communications with a user that is accessing the server remotely. In this way, the monitoring and management of configurations will take place locally on the RAS server, but can be managed remotely by an instance of DSGUI or through a web browser.

The RAS instance listens for HTTP requests on a specified port, targeted for a given set of URLs.

For interactions with DSGUI, the RAS instance receives POST requests sent by DSGUI at the "/main" URL. The content of these requests is an XML message that corresponds to any of the different operations that composes this interface.

The WRAS functions by receiving GET or POST requests sent by the web browser of the user at "/wras.htm", "/wins.htm" or "/wlog.htm". These request have information encoded about the operation to be performed.

Both tools make use of a session-based authentication layer that presents a login screen to an unauthenticated connection, and issues a session identifier in the form of a cookie when the user logs in. The session identifier is used to track the session and to handle an automatic timeout facility. Once a user has been authenticated, the authentication layer ensures that the user has the appropriate permissions to perform the operations that the user attempts via either DSGUI or via the WRAS. If no action has been performed by the user for a configured period, the session on the WRAS will expire and the user will be required to login again in order to perform any further actions.

10.2 Operation (start / stop)

Only one instance of RAS should be running per server. Although it would be possible to start more than one instance listening on different ports for the same server, this option is **NOT** supported. The management (start / stop / restart) of the RAS instance on a server can be done at the command line or by using a small GUI. The following sections will detail how this is accomplished.

10.2.1 Using the command line

*NIX

All managing operations of the RAS instance are accessed using the "init-admrem.sh" script located in /opt/ds/VDS/std/ directory that has the following syntax:

./init-admrem.sh <command>

Windows

All managing operations of the RAS instance can be accessed using the command-line BAT file called "initadmrem.bat". This file is located in the directory where Symlabs Virtual Directory Server was installed (default C:/Program Files/Symlabs/VDS/RX.X.X) and has the following syntax:

init-admrem.bat <command>

Commands

The different available commands are:

start Starts the RAS after checking that no other instance of RAS is already running.

stop Stops the RAS instance.

restart Stops and then starts RAS, typically used when you have changed the configuration of RAS.

condrestart Stops and then starts RAS after checking that the instance is already running.

check Will display whether an instance of RAS is running or not. The return code of the invocation can also be used to determine whether or not the instance is running.

10.2.2 Using the GUI

On Windows systems, an application labeled as the *RAS Monitor* will be listed in the Start menu (under Symlabs > VDS > RX.X.X). This application interacts with the batch script discussed above.

The equivalent application on *NIX systems is the rasmonitor executable which can be run from /opt/ds/VDS/std/. This application interacts with the shell script discussed above. The actual binary triggered when you run rasmonitor is located in /opt/ds/VDS/rasmonitors/. Due to packaging differences across distributions, and a compatibility issue with the wxgtk toolkit library, there are two binary files provided. During installation, the installer will attempt a 'best guess' as to which binary should be linked in /opt/ds/VDS/std/. If you are having trouble running the rasmonitor, it may help to change the symlink to point to the alternate binary.

Note: On *NIX systems the application may not run right away and may require some extra libraries to be installed. Under Linux installing wxGTK should be sufficient. ¹ Under Solaris the situation is more complicated. For Solaris x86 there is the SUNWwxwidgets package from the OpenSolaris project. For Solaris SPARC there is the wxgtk package from the sunfreeware.com site, which also requires installing all the dependent packages. If you run into troubles installing the rasmonitor on any of these platforms, please contact support@symlabs.com.

In the following example, we will demonstrate the use of the rasmonitor GUI on a Windows system. Once running, however, the GUI will behave in the same way on *NIX systems as well.

Opening the RAS Monitor will result in a small applet appearing in the system tray.

🏠 😚 11:32

Figure 10.1: The RAS Monitor in the System Tray

On Windows when the RAS Monitor is started for the first time, the RAS Service will be registered as a regular Windows Service with the name "Symlabs VDS RX.X RAS" and can be controlled either using the RAS Monitor applet, or by using the Windows Services environment.

On Windows the RAS instance is also installed as a "Windows Service" the first time you run the "initadmrem.bat" batch process. Essentially, this is what happens when you first run the RAS Monitor. Thereafter, all of the commands work by reproducing the request to the Windows Service Manager, which is ultimately responsible for starting, stopping and checking the status of the instance. Although you can use the batch script to manage the process, you may prefer to continue managing your local RAS instance either using the RAS Monitor applet, or through the Windows Service Manager, which can be launched in Start-> Administrative Tools-> Services.

Right clicking on the RAS Monitor applet will present you with a menu that will allow you to control the RAS service.

From here, you will be able to start or stop RAS. Note that when you stop RAS, the icon in the system tray will change to indicate the status.

The RAS Monitor can also be used to configure various RAS parameters without the requirement to edit underlying configuration files². To take advantage of this functionality, simply right click on the RAS Monitor icon in the System Tray and select the 'Admin' option from the menu. This action will open the RAS Administration configuration panel.

The RAS Administration configuration panel is comprised of six tabs:

General allows you to configure core functionality such as the TCP port used and the directory used to store instance configurations.

Auth allows you to add, remove and edit users and roles.

Debug allows you to set the various debug levels for each of the RAS components.

¹You may need to add extra software sources if you do not find it as a package for your Linux distribution.

²We will discuss each of these configuration files and the options within them in a lot more detail in the next section of this document. We highly recommend that even if you intend to use the RAS Monitor to manage the configuration, you read through the following section thoroughly first.





Figure 10.2: The RAS Monitor Menu



Figure 10.3: The RAS Monitor icon changes as the status changes to stopped.

Audit allows you to set auditing options to track actions made through the RAS.

Web provides parameters to control the layout of WRAS, allowing for full customization.

Web Logs provides parameters to control the layout and presentation of log files using the WRAS.

Each panel includes a Save and Revert button. The Save button can be used to save changes to the RAS configuration as you make them. Note that you should save changes before switching between tabs, or any changes that you have made may be lost. Clicking on the Revert button will simply reset all values to the original values that are stored in the configuration files.

General Configuration

The General configuration panel allows you to specify the directory that is used to store instance configurations. The value specified here needs to be relative to the root of your installation. As a result, we recommend that you leave this setting at the default value.

You are also able to specify the TCP port that is used by the RAS to listen on. Changing this value will affect the WRAS, as well as the core RAS service. If you change this value, be aware that you will need to reconfigure your DSGUI clients in order for them to be able to access it. As this may affect the ability for you to connect to the RAS, we do not recommend that you change this setting unless you are well aware of the implications.

Auth Configuration

The Auth configuration panel allows you to add, delete and edit users and roles for your RAS service. Note that roles are used to define the permissions that a user has within the RAS. There are three predefined users and

Figure 10.4: The General Configuration panel for RAS Administration.

roles in the RAS configuration by default. The users have varying levels of access to the RAS, defined by the roles that they belong to. The demanager user has full access to the RAS, as defined by the administrator role. The deoperator user is not able to modify a configuration (i.e. has no write access) but is able to perform all other actions. This is defined within the operator role. Finally, the deguest user is only able to view a configuration and its logs, but has no control over the instance. This is defined by the guest role.

Passwords are stored in plain text, and as a result, you can view the password and role for each of these users, by selecting the user and clicking on the Edit button. Equally, if you wish to view or edit the permissions available to any of the existing roles, you can select the role and click on the Edit button.

Generally, if you are going to add a user to the RAS, you will need to assign that user to a particular role. If the permissions that you wish to allocate a user have not been defined within an existing role, you will first need to add a role. This can be done by clicking on the Add button in the 'Roles' section of the panel. This will bring up a window where you will be able to define the role name, and each of the permissions available for that role. The predefined roles should cover most of your requirements by default.

To add a user to the RAS, simply click on the Add button in the 'Users' section of the panel. This will bring up a window that will allow you to provide a username and password, as well as presenting a drop-down list of roles that you can assign to the user.

Debug Configuration

The Debug Configuration panel allows you to specify debug levels for the various RAS components. This effectively controls the amount of output that is logged for the RAS instance.

Log levels increase from left to right, with **Warning** logging only the most critical messages, and **Dump** logging all possible output for the component.

RAS Administration	×
General Auth Debug Audit Web Web Logs	1
Users demanager [administrator] deoperator [operator] deguest [guest]	
Add Edit Remove	
administrator operator guest	
Add Edit Remove	

Figure 10.5: The Auth Configuration panel for RAS Administration.

In general, other than for auditing purposes, you should not need to change the log level for any of these components. If you are concerned about auditing, please view the Audit tab.

Audit Configuration

The Audit Configuration panel can be used to configure an audit log that will track actions performed through the RAS instance. In particular it allows you to choose the log level, whether the log file changes with each start of the RAS, the output of the log file, and where it is stored.

When editing the log level:

None will prevent any audit logging.

Changes will log any configuration changes made through the RAS.

Operations will log configuration changes as well as start, or stop requests.

Debug will log all activity that occurs as a result of the RAS, and should not be used other than for problem resolution, usually with the aide of a Symlabs support technician.

Web Configuration

The Web Configuration panel allows you to specify various settings that are specific to the WRAS component. In most cases, the settings provided here should be sufficient.

Nonetheless, there may be instances where a fully customized version of the WRAS may be required. The entire WRAS system is built using HTML templates that can be modified or customized to fit any branding. These settings will allow you to configure alternate locations for these templates, and to set the page information as required.

S Administral	ion	×
General Auth	Debug Audit Web Web	Logs
- Auth		
	🔽 Warning 🔽 Info 👘 🔲 T	race
Process	🗖 PDU 🗖 Debug 🗖 D	ump
Audit		
	🔽 Warning 🔽 Info 📃 T	race
Process	🗖 PDU 🔲 Debug 🔲 D	ump
Admin		
	🔽 Warning 🔽 Info 📃 T	race
Process	🗖 PDU 🔲 Debug 🔲 D	ump
WRAS		
	🔽 Warning 🔽 Info 🛛 🗖 T	race
Process	PDU Debug D	ump
	Save Cancel	

S V M L A B S

TITY MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS

Figure 10.6: The Debug Configuration panel for RAS Administration.

Web Logs Configuration

The Web Logs Configuration panel is used to define various parameters used to control the layout and presentation of the Log viewer in the WRAS. These settings will allow you to control things like the frequency that a log file will be refreshed within the viewer, the size of the viewer (in rows and columns), and the maximum number of log lines that can be viewed within the viewer.

10.3 Configuration

Each Symlabs Virtual Directory Server installation comes with a properly configured RAS that can be used out of the box. This section will discuss the configuration, as well as any modifiable options that can be used to alter RAS functionality.

10.3.1 Main Configuration File

In order to change the default configuration of the RAS instance, you may either make use of the "Admin" GUI that is included with the RAS Monitor application that can run out of your system tray; or you may edit the RAS configuration file directly by hand.

The RAS configuration file is stored with all of the other files related to RAS, within the *admrem* subdirectory of the root directory of your installation. The RAS configuration file, (*admconf.ldif*), is an LDIF file with the following format:

#define PORT 9443



RAS	5 Administration	X
G	ieneral Auth Debug Audit Web Web Logs	
	Options Log Level: Changes File Changes: On Off	
	Output: File Date	
	Filename: admrem\log\RAS_audit	
	Save Cancel	

Figure 10.7: The Audit Configuration panel for RAS Administration.

```
dn: cn=conf,o=dsproxyremote
installdir: /opt/ds/VDS/RX.X.X
configdir: confs
allowdir: local
checkCredDebug: 3
auditDebug: 3
adminDebug: 3
wrasDebug: 3
auditloglevel: changes
auditfilechanges: 1
auditoutdest: filedate
auditfilename: admrem/log/RAS_audit
#WRAS variables
productname: Web Remote Admin Server: VDS
mainpagetitle: WRAS Adm Top
instpagetitle: WRAS Instance Control
logrefresh_secs: 5
logdisplay_rows: 30
logdisplay_cols: 150
popupwidth: 1125
popupheight: 540
sleepsecs: 1
logmaxsize: 200000
logdbgblocksize: 50000
loglivblocksize: 8000
```

default_url: /
session_timeout: 1200
wras_hdr:<<<admrem/templates-wras/wras_hdr.html
wras_top:<<<admrem/templates-wras/wras_top.html
wras_bot:<<<admrem/templates-wras/wras_bot.html
wras_cpr:<<<admrem/templates-wras/wras_cpr.html</pre>

You can customize the following items by changing the values for the described attributes:

PORT Sets the port number where the RAS instance is listening.

installdir Stores the root installation directory of the product.

- **configdir** Sets the directory where configurations will be stored. All the configurations that an instance of RAS will manage are stored in this directory. If you set this directory to the same one that you are using for local configurations, and launch a local RAS instance, then all of those configurations will also be accessible remotely.
- **allowdir** Controls the roots where DSGUI can additionally modify or link files. This allows you to control where DSGUI can link to or store files that are not local to a configuration. This allows you to create shared script libraries common to multiple configurations, and also to log to a common log directory. Please note that using *allowdir* to store files, will result in your configuration NOT being automatically portable across servers.
- checkCredDebug, auditDebug, adminDebug, wrasDebug Debug level of the different RAS functionality stages. Its value is the integer obtained from the bitmask defined as follows:

#define L_CRITICAL	0	<pre>/* Errors causing running stops */</pre>
#define L_WARNING	1	/* Errors that let the processing go on */
#define L_INFO	2	<pre>/* Informational messages for administrators */</pre>
#define L_TRACE	4	/* Enter o exit functions */
#define L_PROCESSING	8	$^{\prime \star}$ Branch decisions and other info messages $^{\star \prime}$
#define L_PDU	16	<pre>/* PDU entering and exiting a function */</pre>
#define L_DEBUGGING	32	/* Variable contents and other debugging info */
#define L_DUMPING	64	/* High verbosity in debug */

For instance, the checkCredDebug value would be 3 if you wanted Critical, Warning and Info messages in the Credentials Check stage. All possible messages would be enabled with a value of 127.

auditloglevel Set of operations to be audited. Allowed values are "none", "changes", "operations", and "debug"

- auditfilechanges If set, a copy of all files stored with the PutFile command will be stored in the auditing directory.
- auditoutdest Controls the kind of file to which the auditing information is printed. Allowed values are "STD-OUT", "STDERR", "newfile", "append2file" and "filedate".
- auditfilename Sets the file name or pattern to which the auditing information is printed.
- productname Product Name Information displayed in the WRAS web pages.
- mainpagetitle Title displayed in the WRAS Main Page.
- instpagetitle Title displayed in the WRAS Instance Page.

logrefresh_secs Seconds after which the log is reloaded in the "Live Mode" log display mode of WRAS.

logdisplay_rows Amount of rows displayed in the textarea of the WRAS log popup window.

logdisplay_cols Amount of columns displayed in the textarea of the WRAS log popup window.

popupwidth Width of the WRAS log popup window.

popupheight Height of the WRAS log popup window.

- **sleepsecs** Amount of seconds that the WRAS waits between a instance operation (start, stop, restart) and the display of its result.
- **logmaxsize** Maximum size, in bytes, of log information displayed in Full and Debug Modes of WRAS Log Display.

logdbgblocksize Maximum size, in bytes, of log information appended in Debug Mode of WRAS Log Display.

- loglivblocksize Maximum size, in bytes, of log information refreshed in Live Mode of WRAS Log Display.
- **default_url** Used to determine where a user should be forwarded after authentication, if an alternative URL has not been provided.
- **session_timeout** Value, in seconds, is used to determine the maximum period of inactivity before the session is expired and requires authentication renewal.

wras_hdr, wras_top, wras_bot, wras_cpr html fragments common to the WRAS web pages.

After making any changes to this file, RAS will need to be restarted to use the new values.

10.3.2 Listener SSL Certificates

The default certificates that are used to set up the network listener for HTTPS communications can be found in the *admrem/pem* directory of the root directory of your installation.

- symadm.pem The Common Name of the certificate in the demo is "*.symdemo.com", so the browser will display a warning if the tool is not accessed by a matching hostname (typically by IP address). This certificate should be replaced with a valid one in pem format and not protected by password, so that the domain used to access the tool matches. Alternatively, you can edit the hosts file of the client machine or configure the DNS resolution in your environment to access the WRAS at admin.symdemo.com.
- **ca.crt** CA Certificate that issued the former certificate.

Note: The certificate issued for *.symdemo.com is self-signed by Symlabs, with Symlabs acting as the Certificate Authority (CA). This means that for some applications, such as the average webbrowser, you may receive a warning or error message notifying you that the application does not recognise the CA or that the CA is invalid. Most browsers include a set of certificates from well-known commercial CAs. If you choose to continue to use the bundled certificate, you can choose either to add a security exception in your browser to ignore the missing CA. Or you can import the CA certificate into your browser in your browser preferences. However, Symlabs recommends that for production servers you purchase a valid signed certificate from a commercial certificate authority and replace the included certificate.

After making any changes to these files, RAS will need to be restarted to use the new values.

10.3.3 WRAS Web Pages

All of the web pages of the WRAS tool can be fully customized for a local Look And Feel. The html files, css and other templates can be found under the following directory: *admrem/templates-wras*.

Note that the WRAS web pages make use of the 'BangBang' HTML templating language used by DirectoryScript to easily render HTML templates. You can find more detail on this templating system in both the *Developer's Reference Manual* and in the *Virtual Directory Server Scripting Guide*.

After making any changes to these files, RAS will need to be restarted to make use of the new values.

10.4 Users & Roles

All the information on what users can invoke the RAS and what operations they are allowed to perform can be found in the following two files: users.ldif and roles.ldif. To edit user permissions, you may either make use of the "Admin" GUI that is included with the RAS Monitor application that can run out of your system tray; or you may edit the users.ldif and roles.ldif configuration files directly by hand.

10.4.1 users.ldif

The users and passwords for RAS access, together with the roles configured for each, can be found in the following file: *admrem/users.ldif*. This file can be edited with any text editor to add or modify the users that have access to the tool.

Attributes *uid* and *passwd* are the credentials a DSGUI instance will need to pass (via Basic HTTP Authentication) to the RAS to identify itself as a user allowed to send commands. After changing them in your RAS configuration, you obviously need to change them in your DSGUI Preferences (see Admin Server Preferences 3.3.7).

These values are also used to set the authentication of users accessing the WRAS tool, using a web browser. Typically, the browser will automatically cause an Authentication dialog window to pop up when a page is accessed, and will expect matching username/uid and password/passwd values to be provided.

This is the fragment that corresponds to the user "demanager", who has the "administrator" role:

```
dn: uid=demanager,ou=users,cn=conf,o=dsproxyremote
objectclass: RASuser
uid: demanager
passwd: admin123
role: administrator
```

10.4.2 roles.ldif

The file which describes the different roles that can be assigned to each user is: *admrem/roles.ldif*. This file can be edited with any text editor to configure existing roles or to add new ones.

Each role is described as a set of permissible operations. *allowopgui* values refer to commands sent by the DSGUI interface; while *allowopras* are related to WRAS operations. For a complete list with description of the operations please check sections DSGUI, Operation IDs10.7.3 and WRAS, Operation IDs10.8.2.

This is the fragment that corresponds to the "administrator" role, which has all operations enabled by default:



```
dn: role=administrator, ou=roles, cn=conf, o=dsproxyremote
objectclass: RASrole
role: administrator
allowopgui: ListRoots
allowopgui: CreateDir
allowopgui: GetFile
allowopgui: PutFile
allowopgui: ListDirectory
allowopgui: GetFileInfo
allowopgui: PutConf
allowopgui: RmConf
allowopgui: GetConf
allowopgui: GetStatus
allowopqui: Start
allowopqui: Stop
allowopgui: FetchLog
allowopwras: access
allowopwras: start
allowopwras: stop
allowopwras: restart
allowopwras: remove
allowopwras: rfile
allowopwras: wfile
```

10.5 Auditing

allowopwras: rlog

As seen in the section titled Main Configuration10.3.1, RAS can be flexibly configured to output audit information of the operations it performs. The directory where the auditing files are stored is *admrem/log*. This is a sample:

```
20081024192441|deguest|127.0.0.1|GUI|ListRoots|200|OK
20081024192457|deoperator|127.0.0.1|GUI|ListRoots|200|OK
20081024195707|demanager|127.0.0.1|WRAS|access,CacheSearchesDesign|200|OK
20081024195710|demanager|127.0.0.1|WRAS|rlog,live,/opt/ds/vds/R4.9.9/confs\
    /CacheSearchesDesign/logs/STDOUT|200|OK
```

The audit information is formatted in columns separated by the "|" character, each having the following meaning:

- 1- Date and time of the operation, in "YYYYMMDDHHMMSS" format
- 2- Uid of the user performing the operation
- 3- IP of the machine from which the access is performed
- 4- Identifier of the tool that performs the operation (GUI if DSGUI interface, or WRAS)
- 5- Operation identifier and parameters
- 6- HTTP result
- 7- Operation result (OK or Error message)

10.6 Log

The RAS tool emits logs of its own, where the the verbosity can be configured as seen in the section titled Main Configuration10.3.1. The (standard) output can be found by default in the *admrem/log/admrem.out* file. This is a sample of information found in this file:

```
[20081107200850]: L_INFO: PTR(6:0xd094df8): checkBasic (187): Valid/
credentials found on request for user demanager URL(/wras.css).
[20081107200855]: L_INFO: PTR(6:0xd094df8): checkBasic (187): Valid/
credentials found on request for user demanager/
URL(/wlog.htm?conf=CacheSearchesDesign&lfilename=RAS_audit.20081107.log).
[20081107200855]: L_TRACE: PTR(6:0xd094df8): wras_log_get (939): Starting/
wras_log_get...
[20081107200855]: L_PROCESSING: PTR(6:0xd094df8): wras_log_get (959):/
Managing Configuration (CacheSearchesDesign)
[20081107200855]: L_PROCESSING: PTR(6:0xd094df8): wras_log_get (965):/
Reading Log File
[20081107200855]: L_PROCESSING: PTR(6:0xd094df8): wras_log_get (989): Log/
File Read
[20081107200855]: L_TRACE: PTR(6:0xd094df8): wras_log_get (1019): Ready To/
Display Log Page
```

In each line you can find the following information:

- 1- Date and time of the operation, in "YYYYMMDDHHMMSS" format
- 2- Debug level
- 3- PDU pointer
- 4- Function that displays the information and line
- 5- Debug message

The admrem/log/admrem.err file by default stores the standard error output of the process.

It is not usual that the user needs to worry about these files, but it is possible that in order to properly resolve a support issue, the user will be asked to send them to Symlabs as part of a support event.

10.7 DSGUI Interface

The DSGUI Interface of the Remote Administration Server is a part of the agent process that runs, along with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, on a server with the purpose of receiving commands from a DSGUI instance running on another computer. This process effectively makes an instance of Symlabs Virtual Directory Server manageable by remote DSGUI instances.

DSGUI distinguishes between "local", "sample", and "remote" configurations depending on how the configuration is stored and accessed. These different configuration types are described below:

Local configurations These are the configurations that are created locally by DSGUI on the same server that is running the DSGUI instance. They are stored in the "Configurations Dir" defined in the Environment Preferences (see Environment Preferences 3.3.1). By default, this is the "confs" directory inside your Symlabs Virtual Directory Server installation path.

- **Sample configurations** These configurations are a set of predefined configurations that have been created to help you understand how the different plugins work, and are installed as part of the Symlabs Virtual Directory Server product. For DSGUI, they behave like local configurations, but they are stored inside the "samples" directory inside your Symlabs Virtual Directory Server installation path. Documentation for each Sample is usually found in the accompanying plugin's help file.
- **Remote configurations** These are configurations that a DSGUI instance manages using a Remote Administration server running on another server. They are physically stored on the filesystem of the remote server where the RAS instance is running. The configuration files can be found inside the directory configured in the "configdir" value of the RAS configuration entry (see the section entitled: Main Configuration 10.3.1). By default, this directory is also set up as the "confs" directory inside your Symlabs Virtual Directory Server installation path, so unless you change it, the local configurations created on a server, will be available when accessing that server through the RAS and vice-versa

By and large, you can copy configurations among the different roots managed by a DSGUI instance. Using DSGUI you can copy configurations from your Local or Sample root to any Remote root on any server where a RAS instance is running. Equally, it is possible to copy a configuration from one remote server to another, using DSGUI and RAS, without keeping a "local" copy of the configuration.

10.7.1 How it works

DSGUI and RAS mutually authenticate each other to assure correct protocol implementation. The protocol that RAS and DSGUI uses to communicate makes use of XML over HTTPS. Firewall configurations should allow for TCP connections between the DSGUI instance and the server where RAS is running for the port on which it is listening (usually 9443). The communication channel between DSGUI and RAS must be reliable, or DSGUI may perform very slowly. When managing remote configurations, DSGUI will request that the RAS instance sends a heartbeat within a configured number of milliseconds (the setting for this can be found within DSGUI's Preferences, see Running Preferences 3.3.5). It is also important to note that additional load will be incurred when monitoring running configurations, as logging data is sent from RAS to DSGUI over the network.

The standard scenario for RAS usage is:

- Several servers with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server configurations Each server box will have a running RAS instance, properly configured (How to configure the RAS 10.3). Note that a new Symlabs Virtual Directory Server installation includes a properly configured RAS instance ready to be run.
- A client box with DSGUI Each RAS instance will need to be configured in DSGUI (Configuring the GUI to work with a RAS instance 10.7.2).

From version 4 onwards, all Symlabs Virtual Directory Server configurations have been standardized to support unified management within DSGUI, independent of the server type, filesystem or operating system. To DSGUI, a configuration is identified by the name and IP address of each RAS instance. For local and sample configurations, the RAS id "127.0.0.1" is used, so that all configurations are identified in the same way. Configuration names do not contain file path information, so they are effectively independent of their location on the server box filesystem by design. For further details about configurations please see Configuration Storage in the Filesystem 4.1.1

The following sections will cover how to start working on a remote configuration using DSGUI. A summary of the process follows:

Start RAS Configure and start RAS on the remote server.

Start DSGUI Configure DSGUI's Preferences to access the RAS on the remote server.

Open the remote configuration Open / Create the remote configuration through DSGUI.

Work with the configuration From now on, you can work with the remote configuration within this instance of DSGUI.

Limitations and Caveats

- If the current configuration that you are editing in DSGUI is a RAS monitored configuration under heavy load (or with verbose output), and you request to see its logs, remember that they must be sent across the network, which can generate a lot of traffic.
- RAS is the only agent process, within Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, that is allowed to interact with DSGUI. If the RAS of a server is down then DSGUI will not be able to manage configurations for that server. Changes can always be saved locally and, when the RAS is available for a server, the changes can be uploaded to the server in the standard way.
- Bear in mind that individual DSGUI instances do not communicate among themselves, so all security and checking is handled individually by each DSGUI and RAS instance. For example, it is possible to concurrently edit the same configuration from two DSGUI instances. However, there is no support to coordinate concurrent modifications at the DSGUI level. NEVER edit the same configuration with two instances of DSGUI at the same time. Results are unpredictable.

10.7.2 How to configure the GUI to work with a remote administration server

In order for DSGUI to be able to communicate with a RAS, DSGUI will need to be configured to do so. To configure a new RAS in DSGUI:

Open Preferences File -> Preferences

- **Select** *Admin Server Preferences* In the left navigation panel, select the entry named *Admin Server Preferences*. A list with the defined Administration Servers will appear in the panel on the right.
- Add a new Server Click the *Add* button in the panel on the right. A dialog will be presented, prompting you with the details for the RAS instance that you wish to add. The details that you provide here should match the details for the server on which the RAS instance is running, and should use the same username, password and port that you have configured for RAS on the remote server. Note that the default username is "demanager" and the default password is "admin123". Note, also, that you are able to either enter the hostname or the IP address within the Hostname field. Once you have entered all of the required details, you can click on the Test button to check that DSGUI is able to connect to the RAS that you are adding. If your connection was successful, click OK to accept the changes.

You can find a more detailed description on how to work with this panel in Admin Server Preferences 3.3.7

Now that DSGUI has the RAS configured you can open / create / save configurations with this RAS.

It may be useful to know that you do not necessarily need to add the RAS information to this list within your DSGUI Preferences. Instead, when you execute either *New*, *Open* or *Save As* remotely, you are presented with a *Server Selection* dialog with a combo box that contains the list of defined RAS instances. The last entry of the combobox (*New Admin Server*) allows you to go directly to a dialog to fill the properties of a new RAS directly.

10.7.3 Operation IDs

This is a basic list with all the Operation IDs that the DSGUI Interface is composed of. Each one is the name of the main XML element sent in the HTTP request to the RAS server, as well as the identifier that appears in the audit files and the name configured in the roles file (see roles.ldif10.4.2).

ListRoots Returns directory paths for functionality files storage defined in the configuration file.

CreateDir Creates a new directory.

GetFile Reads the content of a file.

PutFile Writes content to a file.

ListDirectory Returns the content of a directory.

GetFileInfo Finds out basic information on a given file.

PutConf Creates a configuration instance.

RmConf Removes a configuration instance and the entire configuration directory.

GetConf Reads the main configuration file in a given instance.

GetStatus Returns the status of a instance (Up or Down)

Start Starts an instance.

Stop Stops an instance.

FetchLog Returns the content of a certain log file.

10.8 Web Remote Administration Server (WRAS)

The WRAS is a part of the agent process that runs, along with Symlabs Virtual Directory Server, on a server with the purpose of offering a web interface for users to remotely manage and operate the instance with a web browser. While it offers a more basic set of operations than the DSGUI Interface, it has the advantage that nothing other than a web browser is needed as a user agent.

10.8.1 How it works

The RAS tool is a stand-alone application capable of handling the serving of web pages without the need for an external web server to work. It uses HTTPS protocol to provide additional confidentiality.

The usual start page is https://admin.symdemo.com:9443. The host name 'admin.symdemo.com' should resolve to 127.0.0.1, so with this URL you will be accessing the administration process that runs on your local system. Naturally you can substitute 'admin.symdemo.com' with the host name or IP address of your remote server, but you should be aware that by doing so you may get an SSL error in your web browser as the certificate will not match. Alternatively, you can override the IP translation of 'admin.symdemo.com' to the actual IP where your server is running within your environment. This is commonly achieved by editing the hosts file used by your operating system.

Note: The certificate issued for *.symdemo.com is self-signed by Symlabs, with Symlabs acting as the Certificate Authority (CA). This means that for some applications, such as the average webbrowser, you may receive a warning or error message notifying you that the application does not recognise the CA or that the CA is invalid. Most browsers include a set of certificates from well-known commercial CAs. If you choose to continue to use the bundled certificate, you can choose either to add a security exception in your browser to ignore the missing CA. Or you can import the CA certificate into your browser in your browser preferences. However, Symlabs recommends that for production servers you purchase a valid signed certificate from a commercial certificate authority and replace the included certificate.

Additionally, since most of the functionality is also accessible via GET requests, you can for example open the "test" instance screen directly by opening the https://admin.symdemo.com:9443/wins.html?conf=test URL.

The user authentication method is a session based authentication layer that uses cookies to track a session identifier, and makes use of the users.ldif10.4.1 file to define legitimate users and roles. The default username/password for administrator roles are the same as those defined for the RAS server in the users.ldif file (namely, "demanager" and "admin123"), but these details should be changed on production servers.

Limitations and Caveats

- The WRAS was not designed as a tool for configuration creation, so even if it is possible to access and modify functionality files, it can not create instances or script files.
- As happens with the DSGUI Interface, if the current configuration that you are monitoring is under heavy load (or with verbose output), and you try to access its log content, this can generate a lot of traffic since they must be sent across the network.

10.8.2 Operation IDs

This is a basic list with all the Operation IDs that WRAS can perform. Each one is the identifier that appears in the audit files and the name configured in the roles file (see roles.ldif10.4).

- access General WRAS access (main page or instance page opening, with no operation in context). In the roles file it acts as a global switch because when it is off, all the following functionality becomes unavailable as well.
- start Instance start

stop Instance stop

restart Instance restart

remove Removes a configuration instance by deleting the configuration directory

rfile Read functionality file (configuration or script)

wfile Write functionality file (configuration or script)

rlog Read log file

10.8.3 Main Page

Access the Main Page, using any web browser, at: https://admin.symdemo.com:9443. It is also accessible with the following URL: https://admin.symdemo.com:9443/wras.html. Please note that as explained in the 'How it works' section, in these examples we are accessing the WRAS interface using the localhost on which it is configured, naturally you can substitute 'admin.symdemo.com' with the IP address of your server to access it remotely.

The amount of information displayed and the actions available depend on the allowed set of operations that are defined for the role of the user. In this chapter it is assumed that the user is logged in with all the permissions set, as in the default roles available for the "demanager" user. If this is not the case, some of the following items may not be available.

The web interface sections can be hidden or revealed by clicking on the corresponding "hide/show" links.

Management Session Section

The first section, called "Management Session", displays the userid that corresponds to the credentials that were input when accessing the tool. To logout from the tool, close your browser.

Instances Section

The second section, "Instances", displays a list of Instances that can be configured and operated (started, stopped, restarted) with this tool. The current status of each instance (Up or Down) is displayed. The Up status is shown when the instance is running, while the Down status is presented when the instance has been stopped.

From the Main Page an administrator with the right permissions can perform the following operations on each instance:

- up: Start the instance
- down: Stop the instance
- restart: Stop then start the instance
- manage: Configure the instance (See the following section)
- remove: Remove the instance by deleting its configuration directory. This option will only be available for non-running instances, and a javascript confirmation dialog will be presented before the operation is completed.

Note: Start, Stop and Restart actions are also available in the Instance Pages.

10.8.4 Instance Page

By clicking on the "Manage" link for any Instance on the Main Page, or by directly accessing the instance URL as in https://admin.symdemo.com:9443/wins.html?conf=test, you will be able to use WRAS to access the Instance Page. From the Instance Page, it is possible to operate and configure an instance, and to access its log files.

Your browser will obviously request your credentials if the Instance Page is the first one you access and you have not authenticated during the session.



IDENTITY MAN	A.		
Web Remote Admin Ser	ver: Vir	www.symlabs.com	
			Logour
anagement Session (sh	ow/hide		
Logged in as: demanage			
stances (show/hide)			
	Status		
sample.cache_searches	down	<start manage="" remove="" restart="" stop="" =""></start>	
sample.complex	down	<start manage="" remove="" restart="" stop="" =""></start>	
sample.backlinks	down	<start manage="" remove="" restart="" stop="" =""></start>	
sample.access_log	down	<start manage="" remove="" restart="" stop="" =""></start>	
sample.add_entries	down	<start manage="" remove="" restart="" stop="" =""></start>	
sample.data_view	down	<start manage="" remove="" restart="" stop="" =""></start>	
sample.change_log	down	<start manage="" remove="" restart="" stop="" =""></start>	
sample.add_cred	down	<start manage="" remove="" restart="" stop="" =""></start>	
sample.attach_tree	down	<start manage="" remove="" restart="" stop="" =""></start>	
sample.attr_map	down	<start manage="" remove="" restart="" stop="" =""></start>	
sample.cache entries	down	<start manage="" remove="" restart="" stop="" =""></start>	

Copyright © 2011 Symlabs, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



As with the Main Page, the amount of information displayed and the actions available depend on the allowed set of operations that are defined for the role of the user. In this chapter it is assumed as well that the user logged in with all the permissions set, as in the default roles available for the "demanager" user. If this is not the case, some of the following items may not be available.

The actions within the Instance Page are separated into different logical sections that can be hidden or revealed by clicking on the corresponding "hide/show" links.

Before the sections there is a "Back To Top" link that will redirect the browser to the Main Page.

Control Section

The first section displays the current status of the instance (Up or Down). The Up status is shown when the instance is running, while the Down status is presented when the instance has been stopped.

The following operations can be performed on the instance:

- up: Start the instance
- down: Stop the instance
- restart: Stop then start the instance

Note: Start, Stop and Restart actions are also available in the Main Page.



	SYMLABS IDENTITY MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS		
www.symlabs.com	Web Remote Admin Server: Virtual Directory Server		
Logout			
	Заск То Тор		
	instance: test		
	Instance Status: down		
	Start Stop Restart		
	Configuration main.ldif <open> Scripts</open>		
	anonbind.ds <open></open>		
	anonbind.ds <open></open>		

Figure 10.9: Each instance has its own WRAS page where logs can be viewed and configuration files can be edited

Functionality Files Section

In the second section you can find the functionality files of the instance for display or edition. The section is arranged into two sub-sections: Configuration (which is only represented by the main.ldif file, and is always present) and Scripts (all *.ds files, if any).

To the right of each file you will find a link called "open", which opens the File Edit interface with the current contents of the chosen file. If the user belongs to a role that has the "wfile" operation enabled (see roles.ldif10.4), the user will be able to modify the contents of the file and save changes using the "Done" button. If the user only has the "rfile" operation enabled, the user will be able to see the contents but not to modify them. The "Cancel" and "Done" buttons, for such a user, will effectively close the file without changes.

It is also possible to jump from one open file to another by clicking on the "open" link of the destination file, but any changes within the already open File Editor will be lost.

Log Files Section

In the last section you can find the log files of the instance for display. In this case the files will open in a different popup window. It's possible to open multiple log files at the same time, in different windows.

Please review the next section for an explanation on the Log Display and its functionality.



File Edit main.ldif (show/hide)

```
# Generated info for /opt/ds/vds/R6.0.0/confs/test/main.ldif: local
# Name: Virtual Directory Server-6.0
# Product: vds
# Type: full
# Platform: linux-rpm
# Version: 6.0.0
# Release: 0
dn: o=dsproxy
objectclass: organization
o: dsprexy
dn: ou=conf.o=dsproxy
objectclass: dsglobalconfig
polltimeout: 10
simultaneousconnections: 5000
supervisortowait: 0
numberofcpus: 1
wrthreads: 1
rdthreads: 1
consthreads: 3
GUIparams: -afr 3 -SI../../include -C ../../etc/conf.ds -I ../.. -ek ../../etc/evaluation.key
GUIstdout: logs/STDOUT
GUIstderr: logs/STDERB
GUIlockservice: no
tcpnodelay: no
maxldappdulen: 1048576
sasl_library: /usr/lib/libgssapi_krb5.so
sasl prefix:
use_default_sasl_values: yes
                                                                                                          Δ
autosgdebug: 0
                                                                                                          V
    Save
                   Cancel
```

Figure 10.10: Editing a configuration file in the WRAS editor

10.8.5 Log Display

As seen in the former section, the Instance Page has links that cause Log Display popup windows to open. It's also possible to access these windows directly in the browser, by opening a URL similar to https://admin.symdemo.com:9443/wlog.htm?conf=test&lfilename=STDOUT.

Your browser will obviously request your credentials if the Log Display Page is the first page you access and you have not authenticated during the session.

The main area of the Log Display Window is where the log content is displayed. Beneath this area you can find, from left to right:

- Three buttons (Full Mode, Live Mode and Debug Mode). This permits the user to switch the Display Mode among the three of them.
- Filesize: Amount in bytes of the log file at the time it was last read
- Error display: Although it is very rare, if there is any processing error related to the log display, it will appear here.
- Mode display: You will see in blue color the current Log Display Mode you have enabled.

The three Log Display modes will be explained below. When the User first opens the Log Display Page, it enters Live Mode.



tb7d816b0 8a91:257 tb7d816b0 8a91:257 tb7d126b0 8a91:257 tb7d126b0 8a91:257	ECONF_LISTEN_OK 2706 ECONF_LISTEN_OK f32 ECONF_LISTEN_OK 2706 ECONF_LISTEN_OK f32	<pre>listen on port=9990 fd=9 ip(0.0.0.0) iface(0.0.0.0) listen on port=3890 fd=11 ip(0.0.0.0) iface(0.0.0.0) listen on port=9990 fd=9 ip(0.0.0.0) iface(0.0.0.0) listen on port=3890 fd=22 ip(0.0.0.0) iface(0.0.0.0)</pre>	
Full Mode Live M	1ode Debug Mode	Filesize: 368	Live Mode

Figure 10.11: Viewing log files in the WRAS

All the settings related to these three Display Modes, as well as the popup window height, can be configured in the admconf.ldif10.3.1 file or using the *RAS Monitor* tool.

Full Mode

In this mode, the full log file will be displayed starting from its beginning. Given that the potential size of the log file can be very large, there is a setting that controls the maximum number of bytes (200000 by default) that will be displayed. If exceeded, the end of the file will be cut out, and a warning will be shown inside the box.

To reload the file, simply click on the "Full Mode" button again.

Live Mode

In this mode, only the last bytes of the log file are read (8000 by default). From these, just the last lines (30 by default) are displayed. The window automatically gets refreshed regularly after a certain number of seconds (5 by default).

If the amount of bytes read are not enough to fill the display columns, you will see "..." at the beginning of the display. In this case, you should increase the block size in the configuration file.

This mode is typically intended for an administrator that is waiting to see an event appear in a log that does not grow too quickly.

Debug Mode

When the Debug Mode is activated, the last (50000 by default) bytes of the log file will be displayed (or fewer if not available). When the user clicks on the "Debug Mode (Update)" button, the following block (of at most the same size) will be read and displayed with an indication where the block break happened. This way the user will be able to follow the log events not missing any information in the process.



This mode will be typically used when the administrator wants to see the effect of a certain event in the log. Debug Mode will be activated, an event triggered, and finally this page will be refreshed to follow the event's consequences as the log file is updated.